# http://researchcommons.waikato.ac.nz/

# Research Commons at the University of Waikato

# **Copyright Statement:**

The digital copy of this thesis is protected by the Copyright Act 1994 (New Zealand).

The thesis may be consulted by you, provided you comply with the provisions of the Act and the following conditions of use:

- Any use you make of these documents or images must be for research or private study purposes only, and you may not make them available to any other person.
- Authors control the copyright of their thesis. You will recognise the author's right
  to be identified as the author of the thesis, and due acknowledgement will be
  made to the author where appropriate.
- You will obtain the author's permission before publishing any material from the thesis.

# Tertiary Education and Lifelong Learning: The Potential for a Lifelong Learning Culture within the PNG Polytechnic

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

**Master of Education** 

at

The University of Waikato

by

Raymond (Yarapan) Toli



# **Abstract**

This study seeks to examine the extent of lifelong learning developments at one of the first polytechnic institutes in Papua New Guinea (PNG), with particular regard to how the existing traditional structure of vocational education and training (VET) can be redefined under the framework of lifelong learning. The notion of lifelong learning with regard to the larger framework of education is largely a foreign concept to PNG and this study examines how lifelong learning ideas are played out in one location.

The research is primarily a qualitative case study and utilised semi-structured interviews as the main method for data collection in addition to acquiring government and institutional documents (e.g. policy and developmental plans). The research methodology was chosen to gain an in-depth understanding of tertiary education and lifelong learning from the perspective of the participants involved in the study.

The findings of the study indicate a profound lack of understanding of the concept of lifelong learning and the potential impact it can have on the provision of education and training within the PNG tertiary education system. However, in an attempt to build knowledge on this educational concept, this study has analysed themes that emerged from the staff interviews with theoretical concepts from the literature review to conclude that lifelong learning is a potentially viable option for tertiary education, in particular at this polytechnic.

As an educational model, lifelong learning has the benefit of serving both the individual, the government and the wider society. The implications for tertiary education would be considerable, because a diverse group of learners can be given more opportunities to engage in purposeful learning activities over a lifetime. The need to redefine the purpose and role of tertiary education in PNG is strongly recommended.

# **Acknowledgements**

I would like to dedicate this thesis to my beautiful wife, Angela for her unwavering faith, support, love and sacrifices so I could have the opportunity to study. Also, to my children, Esther, Merryll, Linton and Duron for your endless love and patience; your sacrifices are the pillars of my strength.

There are many people whose help and support contributed to the successful completion of this thesis whom I would like to acknowledge and thank.

First, the administration of the National Polytechnic Institute of PNG in allowing me to conduct this study at the institution, and the twelve academic staff who were totally supportive in allowing me time for interviews.

Secondly, the academic support I received from the Faculty of Education, Student Learning and the Library support services of the University of Waikato.

Finally, I would like to thank my supervisors, Professor Brian Findsen and Mrs Dorothy Spiller, for their cheerful support and guidance throughout the development and completion of this thesis.

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	i
Acknowledgements	ii
Table of Contents	iii
Chapter One: Introduction	1
Overview of the thesis	1
Rationale for the study	2
Aims/objectives of the study	3
Background to tertiary education and lifelong learning	4
Organisation of the chapters	6
Chapter Two: Literature Review	8
Part A: Tertiary Education and Lifelong Learning	8
Functions of Lifelong Learning	11
Barriers to Lifelong Learning	22
National Qualifications Frameworks for Lifelong Learning	25
Part B: The Role of Tertiary Education	28
Structural differentiation and access to tertiary education	32
Short-cycle tertiary education	35
Part C: Tertiary Education in PNG (A case for a polytechnic)	38
Brief history	38
Post-compulsory education	40
The PNG Qualifications Framework	41
The PNG Polytechnic	42
Conclusion of chapter	43
Chapter Three: The Methodology	44
The choice of methodology	44
The case study approach	46
The Research Method	47
Interview design	48
Analysis of data	51
Ethical considerations	54
Strengths and limitations of the research	56
Summary of the research process	57
Chapter Four: The Findings	58
Introduction	58
Category One: The purpose of vocational education and Training (VET) the PNG tertiary education sector	
Participants' views about the purpose of VET within the tertiary educated sector	
Participants' views about the changing context of the polytechnic	64

Other views	of VET	67
Category Two:	Perceptions on existing barriers and proposals for char	nge at the
polytechnic		70
Existing bar	riers	70
Proposals for improvement		
Category Three	e: Lifelong Learning	79
	s' perceptions about the potential for lifelong learning a	
Other views	that link to specific function of lifelong learning	84
Conclusion of	chapter	88
<b>Chapter Five: D</b>	Discussion	90
Introduction		90
	of the polytechnic education within the tertiary education	
	CATET	
•	rpose of VET	
	ment related perspective	
_	g context of polytechnic education	
C	rs and proposals for change	
· ·	riers	
•	r change	
•	ng	
•	l for lifelong learning	
	1 4	
	chapter	
-	clusions and recommendations	
=	marks	
	ions: Using a lifelong learning framework	
	lations for a new educational model for the PNG polyte	
	a new training model	
	n of academic programmes	
	: Pathways	
	access programmes	
	chapter	
Appendix 1:	Interview Guide	
Appendix 2:	Information Sheet	
Appendix 3:	List of participants	
Appendix 4:	Ethics Approval	
Appendix 5:	Consent Form	146

# **Chapter One: Introduction**

### Overview of the thesis

The focus of this study is to investigate the extent to which a polytechnic education system can be situated within a lifelong learning framework in Papua New Guinea (PNG). The study was conducted at one of the first polytechnic institutions in PNG, formerly known as the National Polytechnic Institute of PNG. It is a government owned institution which consists of six different disciplines of study and is the largest provider of vocational education and training (VET) in the non-university sector. The PNG polytechnic caters for the education and training needs of over a thousand plus students in both certificate and diploma level programmes. The majority of the student body are mainstream school leavers (continuing students from secondary schools), while others include second chance learners (those who have upgraded their qualifications to pursue studies), older adults (those who pursue studies for various reasons) and students sponsored by corporate firms. As a tertiary institution it has an intake of students from the twenty-one provinces in the country.

PNG is the biggest island state in the Pacific (as compared to its smaller Pacific Island neighbours), and has a population of over seven million people. PNG is culturally diverse with 800 plus indigenous languages and the reality of the diverse character of this population, including influences of the Western culture, are "played out in policy developments in economics, social and cultural spheres, including education" (Findsen & Formosa, 2012, p.231). As a former colony of Australia, its structure of politics and governance is largely influenced by its larger Pacific neighbour. The structure of education in PNG was directly imported from Australia and has undergone a number of structural reforms to meet the PNG Government's development agenda (Megarrity, 2005). These structural reforms were largely confined to the primary and secondary education sectors with fewer considerations given to post-compulsory education. These structural changes have resulted in more young adults completing secondary schools, with major strains being placed on tertiary institutions such as the polytechnic.

In trying to understand this changing culture of education and training in PNG, this study analyses how lifelong learning, as developed in the context of tertiary education in other countries' settings, can be adopted as a potential education model for the polytechnic (or the tertiary education sector). Lifelong learning as an explicit policy paradigm is still missing in the case of PNG, but lifelong learning does exists in various forms in distance education, and in VET in the lower tertiary education sector (e.g. vocational schools) for young graduates who miss out on opportunities to continue to secondary level education. This investigation is a valuable opportunity to analyse what opportunities are available in the rapidly changing tertiary education sector in PNG, even if they are taking place in an implicit or indirect situation in terms of expansion within the tertiary education system. This study proposes a framework for understanding the role of lifelong learning wherein the polytechnic is characterised as a multi-purpose institution geared towards providing educational opportunities for the citizens of PNG.

### Rationale for the study

As mentioned above, this study investigates the extent to which a polytechnic education system can be situated within a lifelong learning framework in PNG. It is a subject that is of great interest to me, as a lifelong learner. In my role as a teacher at the PNG polytechnic, I have come to realise the deep disparities that exist for students at the institutional level and within the tertiary education system on issues of access to tertiary level learning and successful completion of studies. I became more aware of the need to address essential educational issues that were endemic to the traditional "front-end mode" of vocational education and training (VET) that existed at the institution, and to a wider extent, the tertiary education sector (OECD, 2007, p.10). I realised that the problem was with the traditional model and there may be a greater need to introduce a new tertiary education model (or to a lager extent an educational framework) that could potentially solve, in part, some of the mentioned issues that have continuously impacted on successful transition of learners into and out of the tertiary education system, in particular the PNG polytechnic. In search of this desire to learn, I took up studies at the University of Waikato, Hamilton, New Zealand, in adult/higher education.

I hope that this study makes a substantial contribution to current debate and understanding on the significance of polytechnics education and lifelong learning in a PNG context. Many studies have been carried out by the OECD to redefine tertiary education and lifelong learning and to analyse developments and issues in this context (Wagner, 1999). Other studies conducted by the World Bank (2002) also share similar concerns regarding tertiary education in developing countries, including PNG. Based on this context, this study was conducted to promote knowledge and better understanding of the roles of polytechnics in relation to lifelong learning. While the ability to conduct an extensive study was limited due to time constraints, this study is based on the perspectives of administrative and academic staff members of the PNG polytechnic about the development of polytechnic education and lifelong learning.

International academic literature and studies have focussed on many systems of lifelong learning, theory and practice plus the impacts of changes on participation within the tertiary education system (Brennan & Osborne, 2008; Weelahan & Moodie, 2005; Parry, 2005). However, less emphasis has been placed on how these changes are realised in the experiences of graduates and, more specifically, in the interface between a polytechnic education and lifelong learning (Brooks, 2006). This understanding is critical in the PNG case because very little is known about the idea of lifelong learning and its implications on the structure of the tertiary education system, and most importantly, the potential social benefits to individuals and society. There is no effective model in the PNG context that can adequately define the existing system. This study examines education developments of a polytechnic, accompanied by other extensive studies carried out in this field in-order to enhance knowledge that may promote a coherent way for the PNG polytechnic to achieve a lifelong learning culture.

### Aims/objectives of the study

As mentioned above, the main objective of the study is to interpret the position of polytechnic education within a lifelong learning framework. The desire to understand the potential for a lifelong learning culture within a bounded education system such as the polytechnic led to the research question:

To what extent can the PNG Polytechnic achieve a lifelong learning culture?

The more specific aims of the study were to:

- a) Better understand post-compulsory education in PNG by theoretically locating polytechnics education within the wider PNG educational framework,
- b) Examine the extent to which the PNG Polytechnic is able to achieve a lifelong culture.

# Background to tertiary education and lifelong learning

The place of tertiary education within a framework of lifelong learning has been a dominant theme in international policy discourse, with a focus among other considerations, on the changing nature of the tertiary education landscape. More specifically, I have identified issues that impact on successful transition of learners from school to work, or from work to school, or to higher levels of learning as challenging factors in the development of PNG tertiary education. The changing landscape includes issues of widening participation which particularly concern those groups of learners who are traditionally under-represented in higher levels of learning (Osborne, 2003). Within this context the notion of lifelong learning has the potential to take centre stage.

Learning in all forms is being influenced by societal structures in such a way that the sociology of human learning has become so significant in order to understand possible ways of learning (Jarvis, 2007). This general trend, coupled with the effects of globalisation, has exerted pressure on societies to change and adopt educational systems that are directed towards a learning society (Findsen & Formosa, 2011). As a consequence, the complex situation of competition, innovation and rapid change that is generated by globalisation in a learning society has led to the emergence of lifelong learning (Jarvis, 2007, p.122). Whether the focus of lifelong learning is centred on its ability to improve productivity and quality of life through education, the general trend is to present it as an "identifiable and achievable goal if certain politically expedient policies are adopted, rather than to offer it as a philosophically desirable alternative to an

educational policy currently based on rationalism and utilitarianism" (Candy & Crebert, 1991, p.3). Hence, the focus of lifelong learning in its varied forms is to adhere to functions of a learning society that are both identifiable and achievable in this wider educational context.

In general, attitudes towards tertiary education are changing and it is appropriate to re-examine the philosophical and educational values of lifelong learning and reconsider their importance in the educational domain (ibid, 1991). This is especially relevant at a time when tertiary institutions such as polytechnics are "adapting to changing conditions both within their academic programmes, their administrative structure and within the community at large" (Liuvaie, 2008, p.39). While these are the conditions in tertiary institutions in New Zealand, as well as in many other countries, this study focusses on the potential of polytechnics in a PNG educational context. The study analyses the current education structure of the polytechnic by assessing it under a framework of lifelong learning. In doing so, it also addresses complex issues (e.g. the inadequate responses by government and policy makers) and challenges faced by the tertiary education sector. Some difficulties outlined by the World Bank Report (2002, p.vii) in respect to developing countries include:

- a) Sustainable expansion of tertiary education coverage.
- b) The reduction of inequalities of access and outcomes.
- *c)* The improvement of education quality and relevance.
- d) The introduction of effective governance structures and management practices.

Even though there has been much growth and improvement in the tertiary education sector in PNG, the importance of the fact that the "evolving nature of the knowledge economy highlights the rigidities and weaknesses" (ibid, p.v) that prevents the PNG tertiary education sector from maximising its potential to build local capacity. According to Bagnall (2010, p.450), it is important to draw together the main arguments that support lifelong learning and "provide educational providers and consumers alike the need to formulate policies based on concrete proposals that will ensure that the basic philosophical tenets of lifelong learning are incorporated into educational practice".

Lifelong learning has been a defining goal for education and training policies in the international arena and it emphasises the need for organised learning to take place over a lifetime for all individuals. Lifelong learning is an ideology that covers the broader spectrum of all purposeful learning activities, "from the cradle to the grave", that aims to improve knowledge and skills of all individuals who wish to participate in learning (OECD, 2007, p.10). There are many studies which shed light on the nature of this challenge and the need to question the continued 'front-end' expansion of tertiary education systems if the idea of lifelong learning is to be achieved (OECD, 1996). In this study I argue that the support for lifelong learning in education, and in particular tertiary education, is essential for a society as a whole and has benefits for individuals as well as businesses.

Lifelong learning needs to be visible in tertiary education systems because of the growing importance of knowledge and skills and the extensive economic and social restructuring that is happening at all levels of society across the world. This study examines the interface between polytechnic education and lifelong learning, and looks at the implications for learners and for PNG society. It is also observed that educational achievements in the schooling system are not matched by wider social progress and there are limited spaces in tertiary institutions compared to the number of students leaving compulsory schooling, and issues of access, equity and gender are high (Hind et al., 2011).

# Organisation of the chapters

In Chapter One (Introduction), the study is placed in context by providing an overview of the thesis and the background to tertiary education and lifelong learning. A justification of the study is also provided to locate the study in the context of PNG Polytechnic.

In Chapter Two (Literature review), the main body of literature is discussed which has significant bearing on the thesis. Part A reviews the different international literature and studies on tertiary education and lifelong learning and outlines other pertinent issues, including how the notion of lifelong learning has been interpreted in tertiary education in contemporary societies. Part B reviews current literature

on the concept of tertiary education, since this feature of higher level learning provides the basis for expanding discussions on polytechnic education and lifelong learning. Part C reviews existing literature on tertiary education in PNG which includes information on the local context of the research.

Chapter Three (Methodology), discusses the research methodology used in this study. It includes a justification for the chosen methodology, a description of the research method, ethical considerations and discussions on the strengths and limitations of the research.

In Chapter Four (Findings), I provide an account of key themes and sub-themes that emerged from the individual interviews. The chapter highlights the dominant ideas that emerge in relation to these themes and sub-themes, with particular attention to ideas that are linked to the notion of lifelong learning.

Chapter Five (Discussion) provides an interpretive account of the main themes that emerged from the interview data. These themes are discussed by linking theoretical concepts from the literature review with other themes identified from official government and institutional documents that were collected as part of this study.

Finally in Chapter Six (Conclusions and implications), I present the conclusions and implications from the study.

The references and the appendices for this study are included at the rear of the dissertation. The appendices are linked explicitly with the methodology employed in this study.

# **Chapter Two: Literature Review**

This literature review is presented in three parts. Part A reviews different literature on international perspectives of tertiary education and lifelong learning within this sector. This section seeks to report different perspectives of global progress towards the goal of lifelong learning. As well as an assessment of global progress on tertiary education and lifelong learning, the review will also outline other pertinent issues including how the notion of lifelong learning has been interpreted in tertiary education in contemporary societies. Part B will review current literature on the concept of tertiary education, since this feature of higher level learning will provide the basis for expanding discussions on polytechnic education and lifelong learning. Part C reviews existing literature on tertiary education in PNG which includes information on the local context of the research.

# **Part A: Tertiary Education and Lifelong Learning**

The notion of lifelong learning has risen prominently in recent years to the top of policy debates in many countries. Its philosophical and practical implications on tertiary education and training have been extensively examined by many authors. Schuetze and Casey (2006) provide a useful description of this concept. "Lifelong learning is, 'life-long', 'life-wide' and centred on 'learning' rather than on 'education' and educational institutions" (ibid, p.279).

The *lifelong* aspect raises questions about the "structure and interrelationships between different sectors of the educational system" (ibid). Within this context the *lifelong* aspect seeks to identify crucial prerequisites for lifelong education, a system that provides flexible navigational routes for learners. This would require fundamental reforms, since different transitioning would require support mechanisms for those transiting from school to work or vice versa between schooling, work and training.

The *life-wide* aspect recognises the fact that education does not occur only in formal settings, but in a variety of forms and in different settings. It sets

precedence to a vision of a *learning society*; a society where there are recognised learning opportunities for every individual irrespective of where they are or wherever they come from. In a *life-wide* system the formal recognition of prior knowledge and skills outside formal educational settings becomes a fundamental necessity. Such a proposition poses a difficult challenge against established standards of validating different kinds of knowledge and skills.

At this point an important distinction needs be made between the terms *lifelong learning* and *lifelong education*, two terms which are interchangeably used in similar contexts. Candy and Crebert (1991) identify this difference as one that is based on the degree of application of the terms. They argue that "lifelong learning refers to the truly lifelong process of continuous learning and adaptation; it is distinguished from lifelong education which refers to the structures, systems, methods and practice that attempt to enhance the notion of lifelong learning" (p.5).

Tertiary education and lifelong learning has taken centre stage in global discourse concerning the massification of the tertiary education worldwide. Slowey and Schuetze (2012) trace this transformation and describe how the notion of lifelong learning is interpreted internationally. They argue that this expansion in world views, according to OECD (1998) and UNESCO (1998) has fundamentally transformed the very nature of tertiary education in terms of its structure, social and economic role. This includes the compositions of student body, structure of governance, stakeholder participation and the increase in graduate education. Further emphasis in the UNESCO (1998) report shows that, as a result of this expansion in education ideals, universities and tertiary education institutions such as the polytechnics have become significant economic, social and cultural indicators for engagement in different levels of society worldwide. This picture is reflected in the findings by the OECD (1998) which reviewed higher education policies in 24 countries.

Some writers suggest that while the concept of lifelong learning is featured prominently in the international policy arena the wider implications for the concept in tertiary education remains unchanged (Tuschling & Engemann, 2006; Psacharopoulos, 2006; Salmi, 2001; Wagner, 1999). As noted in many OECD

articles, wholesale changes in the post-secondary sector have gradually shifted to accommodate lifelong learners. However, Tuschling & Engemann (2006) stressed that much remains to be seen on how tertiary education adapts its learning culture to the demands of a more open, flexible and democratic learning system. The slow pace of this change is alarming amid calls from employers globally to make the workforce more educated, flexible and adaptable to aspirations of governments to develop knowledge based economies and learning societies (Kessels, 2001; Castells, 1998, Giddens, 1994; Drucker, 1993). Kessels relates this dilemma to individuals' ability to adapt to the idea of "learning to learn" (p.498) to remain abreast of constantly changing work conditions. This is a key idea when knowledge production becomes the main economic drive.

A good portion of the literature on tertiary education and lifelong learning relates to the challenge posed to universities and other tertiary education institutions to meet the educational needs of an even more diverse group of learners (Slowey & Schuetze, 2012; Findsen, 2012; Brennan & Osborne, 2008; Schuetze & Slowey, 2002;; Jarvis, 1999). Reports from OECD (1998) revealed that the tertiary education systems worldwide had grown exponentially. Consequently, the shift in perception of participation by students from privilege to right has however led to massive changes, for which the structures and functions of tertiary education in many countries have had to, and continue to change (Schuetze & Slowey, 2002). Another report by UNESCO (2007) has shown that much of the expansion in the tertiary education sector in the last decade has taken place in non-university institutions such as polytechnics, community colleges and others. As my research relates to polytechnic education and the notion of lifelong learning, I have drawn widely from these literatures.

Of the vast amount of remaining literature on the subject of tertiary education and lifelong learning, it is apparent that the present state of the debate poses a challenging conceptual problem for both scholars and analysts alike (Schuetze & Slowey, 2002). Scott (2005) argues that most of these findings appear to be centred on strong links between the notion of lifelong learning and its institutional context. It perhaps requires everyone concerned with the subject of tertiary education and lifelong learning to take a large, holistic perspective (ibid). As Tuijnman and Bostrom (2002) assert, the determining factor may lie in the

"information gap that concerns lack of data on multiple learning outcomes" (p.105). They further argue that not only governments or employers need up to date information about the nature and distribution of the *lifelong* and life-wide aspects of learning, but also the institutional suppliers of learning, which includes polytechnics and wider actors in society. A similar concern as noted by Candy and Crebert (1991) points to the fact that it is important to present the idea of lifelong learning as an "identifiable and achievable goal if certain politically expedient policies are adopted, rather than to offer it as a philosophically desirable alternative to an educational policy currently based on rationalism and utilitarianism" (p.3). This gap in information and knowledge sets the foundation for reviewing the significance of different functions of lifelong learning.

A review of the different functions of lifelong learning will provide the basis for understanding the implications of the concept on tertiary education, particularly the relevance of these aspects on the concept of polytechnic education. A broad understanding of the different aspects of lifelong learning is necessary because it identifies the complex structures and interrelationships within society that impact on the life-world of a learner.

### **Functions of Lifelong Learning**

Four conceptual areas are relevant to understanding the concept of a learning society. These concepts are the learning economy, personal fulfilment, active citizenship and social inclusion (Findsen & Formosa, 2011). These themes will be reviewed with respect to the notion of lifelong learning and how they play out in tertiary education, particularly in relation polytechnics. Understanding the specific features of these functions in a learning society provides a theoretical perspective on which polytechnic can intervene at the institutional level.

### The knowledge economy

Much of the literature on the idea of knowledge economy is in agreement that the "knowledge-based society has arrived" (Rowley, 2000, p.325). Many writers argue that knowledge has become the main driver of productivity and economic growth (ibid). Drucker (1993) has described knowledge, rather than capital or labour as the only meaningful economic resource in the knowledge society, and

Senge (1990) has warned that many organizations are unable to function as knowledge based organizations, because they suffer from learning disabilities. In this context, the OECD Education Ministers adopted a programme for lifelong learning for all as a strategic framework for guiding education and training policy (OECD, 1996). This report outlined a framework that sought to foster learning societies, where every individual has a right to receive the necessary knowledge and skills, and where all are encouraged to engage in lifelong learning.

As economies become increasingly knowledge-based and globalised, scientific and technological efforts become essential determinants of industrial performance and international competitiveness (OECD, 1999). This report emphasised the fact that for policy design and evaluation purposes, governments need to monitor as accurately as possible development trends and structural shifts pertaining to industry and technology, not only in their own countries but also in comparison to other nation states. In support, Mansell and Tremblay (2013) acknowledged that "knowledge implies meaning, appropriation and participation" (p.ii); it is a means to achieve social and economic goals, and is also the pathway to individual and collective emancipation, and should be valued for itself. This view is evident in the findings by the OECD (2001a), which reported on case studies from five regions and cities. The report outlined the fact that social capital affects both individual and organisational learning.

Economic considerations have been the main driver of much of the developments in lifelong learning policies internationally (Findsen and Formosa, 2011). This perspective is the subject of the OECD (2001b) report. Furthermore, most governments' support for adult education is directed towards meeting economic ends; hence, the emphasis on the employment related aspects of skills training rather than a broader view of adult education for social as well as individual development (Coffield, 1999). Connor et al. (2001) observed that individuals consistently report private economic benefit as the principal motivation for mature students seeking access to higher education (HE). Further, Osborne (2003b) argued that "institutions put economic imperatives to the fore in a period of intense national and global competition" (p.49). He asserts that considerable economic pressures direct higher learning institutions to promote institutional autonomy and practice instead of broadening participation. The widening

participation agenda simply becomes a market strategy for the institution (ibid). For example, findings from the report by Davies et al. (2002) indicate that in England different levels of commitment to the widening participation agenda are demonstrated by different institutions and the key driver in that approach is the desire to secure institutional survival.

In a global society, knowledge has become a key strategic resource for individual wealth and prosperity (Bloom, 2006). In exploring this concept in their work, Findsen and Formosa (2011) emphasised the view that the learning economy thrives on the enterprising culture of an economy that typically functions, to provide employment opportunities for its citizens. They further identify in their analysis that traditional approaches to education, training and employment are being fast transformed away from repetitive manual tasks towards a more flexible, adaptable workforce who are multi-skilled. As with similar views generated in findings by extensive OECD studies, their views are consistent with the emergence of the learning economy, which in turn is in agreement with developments that are happening in the socio-economic world of education, training and employment.

In general, the benefits of education and training can provide significant social and economic returns to countries which invest in their human resources (Fasih et al., 2012). A major finding in their study points to the fact that the more education one has, the higher the earnings individuals may accumulate. While this may be the case, Murray (2009) concluded from her study that there is "a lack of quantitative evidence to link time spent in education and wider social benefits" (p.234). To substantiate her claim she made reference to studies conducted by Preston and Hammond (2003) and observed that although research findings by other writers point to wider returns of tertiary education, fewer considerations are given to vocational subjects that may lead to wider benefits. This point was further supported by Feinstein and Hammond (2004). They state:

...[although] early moves in the direction of the lifelong learning scenario were driven by concerns with upgrading skills and meeting qualification targets, the wider agenda of enhancing quality of life both personally and in the community suggests the need for a broader set of learning options. These need to build on the best traditions of

non-vocational adult education emphasising accessibility and learner-centeredness. (p. 218)

Authors, Murray, Preston, Hammond and Feinstein suggest that time spent in education may not be a good predictor of wider social benefits, but time spent in particular types of education is crucial for societal benefits. Hence, the need for identifying 'best practices' for the knowledge-based economy has become a focal point for intervention in learning institutions.

To conclude, this analysis indicates that learning institutions such as the polytechnics have a greater responsibility to develop policy frameworks that encourage democratic participation by learners; where every individual has a right to receive the necessary knowledge and skills, and where all are encouraged to engage in lifelong learning. Such an approach places the concept of lifelong learning in a humanistic framework which is the focus of discussion in the next section.

### **Personal Fulfilment**

Findsen and Formosa (2011) noted in their work that as an emerging paradigm, the learning society should place lifelong learning in a humanistic framework that emphasises personal fulfilment. By citing Knowles' (1980) theories on adult learning they maintain that a learning society is often focused on "an ideology of individualism (as opposed to a collectivist approach) and is humanistically oriented" (p.44). Schuetze and Casey (2006) further describe it as a cultural model, where lifelong learning entails an individual process, aiming at the fulfilment of life and self-realisation. In analysing the transition of young adults from universities into the labour market, Brooks (2006) identified from her study that most graduates tend to develop an acute understanding of the relative status of the institutions, such that they become more aware of their own place within the tertiary education hierarchy and the value of their qualifications within the labour market relative to those awarded by other institutions.

As a policy focus, Zepke and Leach (2007, p.665) discuss the need to view continued learning in terms of personal fulfilment with the aim to improving students' achievement levels and outcomes, such as "retention, persistence, and completion". Improved learner outcomes and money spent on education are major

concerns for governments world-wide. For example, in New Zealand, data on early student exit suggest a loss on expenditure in public funds and human potential (Scott, 2005). This is similar in developed countries such as Australia, the UK and the US (Yorke & Thomas, 2004; Braxton, 2000; McInnis et al., 2000). In New Zealand, research activities have increased to justify stimulated interest in accountability requirements that threaten financial penalties for institutions near the bottom of retention league tables (New Zealand Ministry of Education, 2010). The policy focus in this report acknowledged that improved learner outcomes should signal increased accountability for ensuring that students who enrol in programmes within tertiary institutions are retained until successful completion.

Strategically, such a policy focus is dependent on what Thomas (2002) described as the interaction of personal, social attributes and institutional practices which impact on the learner and his/her strategies for success. Additionally, how tertiary education providers perceive integration and adaptation by students as lifelong learners, gives insight into how institutional practices directly affect this strategy (ibid). On this topic, Zepke and Leach (2007) argue that institutions (e.g. the polytechnics) must be willing to examine their internal structures of power and representation, including the spheres of governance, curricular and pedagogy. They contend that such fundamental changes are necessary to address broader aims of lifelong learning such as the 'widening participation' agenda. For instance, a learning environment that encourages learner diversity will be less inclined to overlook barriers that explicitly affect participation by non-traditional learners.

Tuschling and Engemann (2006) also advocate that lifelong learning must be viewed as an essential policy strategy for the development of individual fulfilment and self-realisation of learners. They state that the aim is to strategically review national approaches to tertiary education and identify ways to compare and evaluate the existing structures and interrelationships within established institutions. If this is the case, then the intention of tertiary education is to deal with the emerging issues, problems and possibilities that extend beyond disciplined-based curriculum and standardised forms of assessment (Freedman & Stuhr, 2004). In support, Schostak (2000) maintained that the challenge is to

create a curriculum-policy for change, for development of people and not for engineering of employees. They further state that official policy discourse has always focused on the economic aspect of continous education and training as an adaptation to change and a requiremnt for employment opportunities. On this, Edwards et al. (2002) stress that much debate has been on the nature, extent and significance of lifelong learning as a curriculum policy goal and there has been less focus, specifically on the nature of learning that is required to engage with change process for which it is meant to be a response.

In the case of professional development (or academic development) Prebble et al. (2004, p.xi) propose that there is a need for tertiary institutions to provide more robust evidence for the "efficacy of the various forms of academic development in place" both in terms of their effect on pedagogy and students' learning outcomes. In addressing this challenge, reviews conducted by the OECD (2001c) report notes that as knowledge becomes more central to personal development, the "ability to acquire, develop and use knowledge effectively becomes essential for individuals and societies" (p.8). The bulk of empirical research as suggested by Pascarella (2006) reveals that learners from varying backgrounds can all benefit from engaging in effective educational practices, even though some learners may benefit more than others from certain activities. The extent to which tertiary institutions such as the polytechnics can engage in developing a culture of professional development will be reflected by the quality of the academic programmes and support services they offer.

Contrary to learning practices which are confined to individual institutions, the OECD's (1996) approach to lifelong learning points to a learning strategy that serves both the individual and collective needs of the wider community. It is a strategy that requires a shift of attention from a supply side focus; for example, on formal institutional arrangements for learning, to the demand side of meeting learners' needs. The report stress that this strategy of lifelong learning can be understood as a combination of activities that includes service learning, problem-based teaching and training that targets specific needs and wants of learners, and the pursuit of alternative forms of knowledge and challenges. A similar concern was echoed in the UNESCO (1996) report. It highlighted the need for a coherent and structured approach to community engagement activities by learners. It noted

that lifelong learning through continuing education should enable people to realise their life's potential through development of self-awareness, within their learning environments, in their work and within their community by being encouraged to take active social roles.

In this context, the institutional approaches to personal fulfilment and lifelong learning should place more emphasis on the demand side of meeting learners' needs. Such strategies will promote a coherent approach to learning that has the potential of transforming individuals and societies. The aim is to challenge existing structures of education practice that place less emphasis on the notion of 'active democratic citizenship', the focus of discussion in the next section.

### **Active Citizenship**

According to Walters and Watters (2001), active citizenship through lifelong learning is a concept that must continually be given contextual meaning. These authors advocate for the transformation of post-secondary institutions into lifelong learning institutions. They explain how a lifelong learning tertiary education institution is concerned with active citizenship. Whilst the focus of most policy analysis on lifelong learning targets the increasing efficiency of the market place, they stress that there is value in challenging this way of thinking, and support the notion that its goal is to enhance active democratic citizenship. As observed in the article by Walters (1999), tertiary institutions are intimately involved in the business of transforming societies through learning, and have to make hard political and economic choices to realise this change. Walters reasons that tertiary institutions do not exist in a vacuum and are also characterised by similar social struggles that exist in the wider society.

As a consequence, tertiary institutions such as the polytechnics should develop a learning culture that embraces the actual characteristics of an active citizenship-education. This strategy should focus on the interconnectedness of the tertiary education environment, the organisational and structural context of the institution, plus the teaching and learning practices within the institution. As Volbrecht and Walters (2000) argue, such, a framework for lifelong learning forces us to look inwards towards the individual and organisational learning and outwards towards relationships in the wider society. They further argue that tertiary institutions need

to recognise the extent to which these characteristics come into play, since their ability to function internally as a learning organisation will have "major implications for their competence to function as flexible, collaborative networks, externally" (Walters & Watters, 2001, p.474).

Within a policy context Zepke (2013) writes that active citizenship has three major orientations: democratic participation, human capital and social capital, and exists in specific ideological, political and educational contexts. This means that the nature of moral imperatives for active citizenship and belonging connects with moral imperatives for "democracy, social inequality, universal literacy, and social immersion in contemporary lifelong policy initiatives" (Bagnall, 2010, p.19). To emphasise this point, Crick (1999) points out that tertiary education that "creates a disposition to active citizenship is a necessary condition of free societies" (p.337). This may suggest that "Active Citizenship is seen as more desirable than Passive Citizenship" (Ross, 2012, p.7), but what do these terms mean in terms of either educational policy or educational practice? To what extent can citizenship education deal with the relationship between the political and the educational context?

Moreover, Ross (2012) argues that curriculum-policies need to reflect this relationship; they must be developed to create understanding in individuals about their identity, the nature of the society they live in, and how they can actively engage with rights and issues that exist between active citizenship and passive citizenship. On this issue, Wood (2012) notes that given the existing neoliberal frame in which the tertiary education curriculum is embedded, priority is usually given to pedagogy that promotes employment-related aspects of knowledge production and participation. In support of this claim, Walker (2009) agrees that it is reasonable to "speculate that social, cultural and economic capital that favours global orientations of active citizenship is likely to hold greater symbolic capital within an educational field than local orientations" (p.345). An issue at stake is "how the formal, curricular content of education may add *surplus value* to the informal and non-formal learning experiences for active citizenship taking place in various social practices" (Jansen et al., 2006, p.202). They argue that such approach is not easily attainable, but depends on the "social and political forces

willing to create favorable conditions for such reconfigurations" (p.202) within tertiary instituions.

Findsen and Formosa (2011) maintain that the notion of active citizenship focuses on individual engagement in communities; it can promote lifelong learning in personal development, while embracing the importance of networks to which the individual connects within society. They state that this view of active citizenry identifies with an individual who is ideally "critical of the self and is committed to democratic practices within society" (p.45). Such a view has many implications on educational practices that do identify with citizenship education. What is needed in higher levels of learning (e.g. in tertiary institutions such as the polytechnics) is the "provision for a lifelong learning for active citizenship that involves participatory experiential learning and an innovative form of 'political' learning" (Annette, 2009, p.156). Findsen and Formosa (2011) argue that it is important to instil in individuals the civic skills necessary for deliberate democratic engagement in society which include both levels of emotional literacy and intercultural understanding. In support, Jansen et al. (2006) see this value of active citizenship as one that involves learners in "both critical engagement with existing political and social institutions as well as (re)production of common wants and needs in interactions of the daily life in their communities" (p.196).

As Thomas (2004) explains, whatever the form, the specific role of tertiary education is systemically challenged by experiences within citizenship educational practices. She argues that this approach to active citizenship in turn questions the value of linking formal educational practices to genuine practices. On this topic, Jansen et al. (2006) maintain, it is now apparent that abstract lessons about citizenship education must be replaced by concrete practices of citizenship education. They argue that as a prerogative of tertiary education, the formal aspects of citizenship education need to reflect its strategic position and its content; it should also "specify the potential contributions of lifelong learning experiences with active citizenship in settings of informal and non-formal learning" (ibid, p.202).

Within this perspective, a citizenship education would ensure that learners are prepared for continuing professional development and community engagement through interactions both inside and outside formal educational settings. In this context the learning society allows for the "development of critical citizenry and the potential for social action" (Findsen & Formosa, 2011, p.46). This view is further discussed in the next section.

### **Social Inclusion**

As a function of a learning society, social inclusion embraces the ideology of including all citizens as learning subjects; it includes all who are excluded from education due to the effects of "gender, race/ethnicity, social class, geographical location, disability or some other factors" (Findsen & Formosa, 2011, p.46). Wyn (2007) emphasised that "measures to improve social inclusion must take account of the changing social and economic realities" (p.46) within which all learners must engage, regardless of where they are. She further states that identity and wellbeing of a learner are significant factors and deserve greater recognition when addressing strategies that promote social inclusion. In addition, Macdonald and Strata (2001) contend that the changing nature of social culture both within learning institutions and the wider community means that diverse groups of learners must now negotiate new routes through education and work. These uncertainties and personal choices can greatly impact on personal fulfilment of adult learners.

Leader (2003) observed that "the social and economic consequence of this trend (i.e. the changing nature of tertiary education) underpins a progressive and extensive change in the development of learning societies and access to lifelong learning opportunities" (p.366). He states that attention should be given to identifying the complex relationship between education and the learning economy while "evaluating the existing socio-political framework in terms of widening participation, social inclusion and accessibility" (p.367). In promoting this view, Gallacher et al. (2002) reported that most government policies on social inclusion and exclusion are themselves based in part on the premise that education and training can contribute to promoting an inclusive society. For instance, in the New Zealand context, Kearney and Kane (2006) assert that social exclusion from polytechnics is a direct consequence of social and political arrangement with schools and society, and a review of literature reveals a number of factors (e.g. recognition of prior learning, low socio-economic backgrounds, ethnicity, est.)

that may be responsible for the continued legitimisation of paradigms that continue to exclude students from divese social backgrounds.

Barton and Slee (1999) identified a good example to illustrate the marketisation of tertiary education by state governments, a process that encourages competition between schools to promote improved academic standards and achievement. They argue that the disguise of promoting "individual freedom, parent power and consumer choice over notions of social justice, the community and indeed of welfare" (p.9) undermines the reality that exists. Griffin (1999) adds that there needs to be a new focus to create learning pathways for individuals to be properly integrated into society and especially to assist them in the expression of their talents, otherwise it may be "wasted in a vicious circle of under-achievement, and self-deprecation" (p.338). As noted by Osborne (2003), the goals of economic development within a country's setting cannot be achieved without "concomitant social developments to combat exclusion" (p.7). He argues, "the economic and social strands of widening participation are often represented as dichotomous" (p.7). On one hand is the increased policy focus of producing more graduates for the labour market and on the other the option of creating equitable learning opportunities. This is not the case because they are representative of closely linked objectives of a socially inclusive society.

Schuetze and Slowey (2002) report that the expansion and the varying composition of tertiary institutions have widened participation of new groups of students who once were traditionally excluded due to a complex range of social, economic and cultural reasons. They maintain that this paradigm shift is related to the agency that is needed to equip learners with knowledge and skills that is necessary for lifelong learning. A new way of thinking is needed to place teachning and learning practices and student development at the heart of curriculum design and devlivery. As asserted by Warren (2002), the "common challenge is to develop models that can cater for a more heterogenous student population and yet are situated to different academic and professional domains" (p.86). He adds, the drive towards equity and social cohesion is certainly a clear indicator for tertiary instituions to strategically develop structures and interrelationships that can promote a more tolerant and just culture of learning. He argues for a learning culture that is based on shared values and a common cultural

heritage; education for all, a lifelong experience that fosters active participation in all spheres of learning, and extensive use of infromation and communication technologies that maximises educational potential for all learners (ibid).

To conclude, this section has reviewed the main arguments that underpin major functions of lifelong learning and their implications on tertiary education policies and practice. Combined, these aspects of lifelong learning offer a theoretical framework that is potentially useful to locate tertiary education within a framework of lifelong learning. However, the existence of barriers to access and participation has implications on the learning success of individuals.

### **Barriers to Lifelong Learning**

In order to expand this literature review on lifelong learning and its implications on tertiary education, it is important to analyse the major barriers that limits successful participation by lifelong learners. A review of the literature (Hardin, 2008; Koper & Tattersall, 2004; Jackson, 2003) reveals four main areas for consideration; there are structural barriers, institutional barriers, dispositional barriers and situational barriers. These barriers are discussed in an ascending order to give an overview of how they impact on lifelong learners in an institutional setting (e.g. the polytechnic).

### Structural barriers

Structural barriers are characterised by an unresponsive institutionalised system (e.g. the tertiary education system) which places less emphasis on education and training provisions that target educationally or socially disadvantaged groups (Parnham, 2001). Building effective learning pathways for learners to transfer from and between education sectors and qualifications has been the focus of extensive research, policy development and practice (Mills et al., 2013; Phillips, 2006). Mills et al. (2013) argue that "improved learning pathways constitute an essential feature in a more flexible and integrated tertiary education system" (p.10). The scope of past research within this domain had included considerations of:

• System and institutional drivers and enablers (Phillips, 2006)

- System barriers, including cultural and pedagogical difference between sectors (Walls & Pardy, 2010; Wheelhan, 2009; Phillips, 2006).
- Different types of pathways and emerging pathway models, including integrated VET and higher education qualifications (Phillips, 2006).
- Patterns of student movement and transfers (Curtis, 2009; Harris et al., 2006).
- The changing landscape of institutional provisions and the blurring of sector boundaries (Weelahan, et al., 2012; Weelahan & Moodie, 2005).

Walls and Pardy (2010) acknowledge that the process of widening participation within different sectors of tertiary education is important but it is only a first step. They argue that real access must enable learners to transfer or build on all types of their prior learning. Learning institutions play an important role in these situations; however, existence of institutional barriers hampers progress by learners.

### **Institutional barriers**

This category of barriers consists of limitations inherent in the methods institutions use to design, deliver and administer learning activities. Jackson (2003) maintained that these barriers can unintentionally be biased against, or ignorant of the needs of learners. The institutional barriers most frequently discussed in the literature (Jackson, 2003; Bowl; 2001; Gorard & Selwyn, 1999) include: resources needed for learning activities; negative attitudes towards learners; a general lack of pastoral care services; failure to recognise prior learning and previously obtained academic credentials and student learning support. These barriers have an effect on successful integration, completion and transition to higher level learning, and employment or re-integration back into society.

Longworth (2003) explains that measures have to be taken to attract learners to appropriate learning programmes by the institution, and about the complete offering available in-order to give sound and suitable advice for learners. His article also highlights that tertiary institutions can typically set up their own information and support services, but, it is also imperative that lifelong learners need an overview of the offerings of all potential institutions that are accessible to

them. For example, a study by McGivney (1992) who examined what motivated unemployed adults to undertake lifelong learning concluded that a targeted outreach approach must be used to engage with potential students. This may include in part, provisions of clear information and guidance on courses available; the demonstration of clear links between education, training and employment; offering widely recognised qualifications, and ensuring that the benefits of participation in education and training outweigh the potential risks (ibid).

### **Dispositional barriers**

O'Mahoney and Sillitoe (2001) observed that dispositional or attitudinal barriers are "individually or collectively held beliefs, values, attitudes or perceptions that inhibit a person's participation in organised learning" (p.23). Attitudes, perceptions and expectations have been found to be major barriers to participation in tertiary education (Ahl, 2006; Lamb & Brady, 2005; Bowl, 2001; Gorard & Selwin, 1999) particularly for adult learners. Rubenson and Desjardins (2009) maintain that surveys that also pose questions on barriers to those who have no interest in participating in continued learning point to "significance of psychological deterrents" (p.192). Lamb and Brady (2005) report that non-participants have a stereotyped view of education, with their own and friends' negative attitudes, perceptions and expectations, rather than experiencing any practical barriers to accessing education and training.

Macdonald and Strata (1998) concluded from their study that an increase in access needs to be accompanied by a change to the culture of tertiary education institutions and that such a change is beneficial to different categories of learners. Evidence in research with non-traditional students revealed that the transition into tertiary education is experienced in different ways by different groups of learners (Macdonald & Strata, 1998; Pascall & Cox, 1993). Bowl (2001) reported these experiences as a struggle for "personal, academic, financial and emotional survival" (p.142). She further emphasised that tertiary education can be traumatic and isolating in ways experienced by non-traditional learners. Rubenson and Desjardins (2009) remark that even if motivated to learn, most adult learners will generally be interested in specific routes of education "if only it offers some concrete specific benefits" to them (as cited in Ahl, 2006, p.395). Schuetze and Casey (2006) also report that the burden of overcoming such personal barriers is

dependent on the individual's motivation and ability to engage in learning beyond compulsory schooling.

### Situational barriers

Hardin (2008) identifies this category of barriers as those that consist of broad circumstantial conditions that block the ability of learners to gain access to and pursue learning opportunities. Barriers include "role conflicts, time management issues, family and work problems, economic, and logistics" (ibid, p.52). O'Mahony and Sillitoe (2001) stress that situational barriers are more common for adult learners from low socio-economic backgrounds, while some situational barriers have also been found to be more of a concern for females. In reporting on a study on participation of females in the Australian TAFE sector, authors O'Mahony and Sillitoe identify that factors such as inflexible formal course structures, inadequate income support and insufficient childcare facilities impacted negatively on females' success as learners. Other situational variables that have been studied include awareness of educational opportunities and accessibility issues such as transportation costs.

To conclude, the mentioned barriers are some examples of specific cases that explicitly identify with both the learning institution and the learner. There are other barriers that are broader and systemic and have wider implications for a culture of lifelong learning. A good example is the existence of a national qualification framework (NQF), which is the subject of review in the next section.

### **National Qualifications Frameworks for Lifelong Learning**

Allais et al. (2009) identified the role of national qualifications frameworks (NQF) as the drivers for VET policy reforms. Several authors (Walls & Pardy, 2010; Coles, 2006) propose that NQFs are increasingly important for VET reforms because they can promote access and progression routes, support recognition of all learning and can be used as drivers to locate VET in a lifelong learning perspective. In expanding this debate Werquin (2007, p.461) stressed that NQFs can make explicit the recognition of non-formal and informal learning; provide options for employers to recognise wider skill supply in the workforce; and encourage education and training providers to widen access to different

programmes. He further commented that these mechanisms can be seen as broad policy responses to the lifelong learning agenda.

Coles (2006) described NQFs as classifiers that show how existing qualifications relate to one another. The OECD (2007) report, however, noted that NQFs go beyond the role of classifiers and are visions that relate to one another and how they are valued in societies. Consequently, Chakroun (2010, p.200) pointed out the fact that most government documents introducing NQFs link their application to:

- *Improving the labour market responsiveness of VET*
- Establishing pathways between VET, general and higher education.
- *Improving the quality and flexibility of VET programmes.*
- *Promoting the shift from input-to outcome-based VET systems.*

Young (2007) explained that the enthusiasm for NQFs by many governments and international organisations builds on two principles. Firstly, they act as a practical solution to complex "political, economic and educational problems such as changes in the labour markets and the expansion and diversification of the post-compulsory education" (p.447). Secondly, they address the need for a single qualification framework that is common to a country or group of countries.

### The Effects of NQFs

Coles (2006) explained that NQFs can have wider effects, for example "they can change the way institutions are organised and operate, they can play a part in quality assurance procedures and facilitate credit transfer arrangements" (p.19). He further states that the main effect of an NQF is to facilitate development of linkages between different parts of the education and training system: general education, VET (including work-based training) and higher education. He identified four cases which are discussed below.

### Institutional change

Young (2003) observed that NQFs can act as instruments of regulation in controlling the growth and expansion of post-compulsory education. Tertiary education institutions (colleges, polytechnics and universities) can define a NQF or be defined by one (ibid). As Werquin (2007) explains, NQFs are technical tools

for "improving consistency and coherence" (p.467). He states that they can be used to identify missing links and create new qualifications or new routes to existing ones, or they can be used to bridge qualifications. On this issue Coles (2006) maintains that it is possible through the NQF to "see opportunities for one kind of institution to make contributions to the traditional territory of others" (p.19). For example, in the case of PNG Polytechnic, the PNGQF can be utilised to define qualification levels as well as creating more dynamic links between parts of the PNG tertiary system and make decision making by learners easier.

### **Quality assurance procedures**

NQFs are important tools for quality assurance procedures as they allow for close monitoring of available qualifications and therefore potentially provide adequate information on how they can be improved or financed (Werquin, 2007). Despite this fact, Coles (2006) asserts that this not true in most cases because a NQF can only have a quality assurance function if it accommodates criteria or processes for referencing qualifications. Young (2003) made comparisons of existing international qualification frameworks and noted that the New Zealand framework represents an exceptional case. It has a quality assurance function that compares qualifications against quality standards that are centrally defined (ibid). It is also important to note that NQFs are usually developed according to country specific requirements and can sometimes be influenced by other contextual factors such as the difficulty in recognising qualifications in a highly stratified system of higher education and training.

### **Credit arrangements**

Some NQFs are specifically defined to "allow credit transfer for learning requirements in other qualifications" (Coles, 2006, p.20). He states that the aim is to promote and maintain procedures for access, transfer and progression in learning. On this issue the OECD (2007) report outlined that this process provides a fundamental step in developing lifelong learning such that the overarching structure of the NQF would provide the basis for learners to access learning more frequently and carry forward some credits for achievement to new jobs and studies. In support, Werquin (2007) observed that a NQF can be a potential policy tool for policy and decision makers as it establishes the foundation for "improving

the quality, accessibility, linkages and social recognition of qualifications within a country and internationally" (p.468). He agrees that the NQF is a potentially important mechanism for promoting lifelong learning.

This discussion shows that the learning behaviours of individuals, employers and providers of learning and qualifications can be directly or indirectly influenced by the qualification system that is present in their country. More specifically the policy implications of NQFs in tertiary education and lifelong learning.

# Part B: The Role of Tertiary Education

The post-compulsory education sector constitutes both the university and the non-university sector in many countries. This binary feature of education and training has its roots in early British government policies for higher education, which resulted in the separation of functions between the universities and other tertiary institutions offering advanced level courses (Ramsden, 1983). Ramsden reported that the primary aim of this policy drive was to avoid the dominance of universities within the sector. The British government then encouraged the development of vocationally-oriented programmes that related to the national and local demands for trained professionals in response to labour market needs (ibid). The diversification agenda has been a common feature for differentiation in and between tertiary institutions and most recently the blurring of boundaries between higher-level learning institutions in many countries.

Many writers on diversity in mass higher education (including Slowey & Schuetze, 2012; Gallacher & Osborne, 2005; Weelahan & Moodie, 2005) described the tertiary education sector as a contested landscape. Osborne (2005) maintained that wider access to tertiary education and the shift from elitist to mass higher learning institutions in the OECD countries indicates greater equity in learning. He further noted that it is "inescapably the case that greater funding and more efficient use of resources are both needed" (p.1). As described in the report by the OECD (2001c):

Because of the wide range of activities encompassed by even the modest lifelong learning scenarios, and the size of the participation and expenditure gaps that would have to closed in order to realise them, it is almost self-evident that full implementation of the lifelong learning concept will require additional resources. It will be vital that maximum efforts are made to ensure that both existing and new public expenditure on lifelong learning are effective. (p.113)

Within this context, the emphasis on short cycle forms of tertiary education would provide a route to expansion that is potentially viable to both individuals and governments (Osborne, 2005). The VET sector, as a provider of short cycle tertiary education, is of particular interest to this study.

Three country cases will be analysed to gain a broader understanding of short-cycle tertiary training in terms of the complex political, historical, cultural and economic conditions that shape the nature of this educational provision. The key themes from this review (e.g. structure of HE, VET systems and NQF) have significant bearing on contextual factors that that will be used to inform this research. Even though this research is located in an underdeveloped country and is less likely to have the systemic advantage as those from developed countries, much insight can be gained from an examination of these country specific cases. This is because the issue of higher education is an international topic and can easily be interpreted across different countries.

### **England**

England features a dual system of post-compulsory education (Parry, 2005). Post-compulsory education constitutes universities and other establishments of higher education (HE), while the learning and skills sector consist of a wide selection of institutions including colleges of further education (FE) which deliver education and training at the upper secondary and tertiary level (ibid). As noted by Osborne and Houston (2012), universities in England are autonomous organisations funded in part by the state, whereas the non-university sector is publicly funded as well as by private providers. Parry (2005) explains that major policy shifts in the 'post-16' learning have coincided with reforms for "vocational pathways offering progression through school, FE and HE, with links into the workplace and other qualifications" (p.77). Osborne (2005) reports that institutions within the non-university sector offer short cycle advanced learning that leads to Higher National

Certificates (HNCs) and Diploma (HNDs), qualifications that allow progression with credit to further levels of HE.

VET in England is provided by FE colleges with the main target of education being young people and adult learners at the 'non-advanced' levels (Parry, 2005). Parry reported that apart from their size and provisions of advanced level programmes, the key feature of higher-level learning in FE colleges "was the short cycle vocational character of its courses" (p.65). Two types are generally offered; the first comprises two year programmes leading to sub-degree qualifications and the second includes an assortment of higher-level courses that meet education and training requirements of specific occupations and trades (ibid). Lester (2011) asserts that qualifications in the VET sector are regulated by the English Qualifications Credit Framework (EQF) outside of the largely autonomous university sector.

### **New Zealand**

The New Zealand tertiary education sector covers all forms of post-secondary school education and training from "foundational learning and training, adult and community education, and industry training as well as the more traditional fulltime academic study and research" (Tertiary Education Commission, 2012, p.4). It is made up of universities, which have their origins in the British system; polytechnics that provide applied studies with a vocational brief and offer varying levels of qualifications up to postgraduate level; private training establishments (PTEs) which offer qualifications at the pre-degree level; adult and community education (ACE); and Wananga institutions designed to provide tertiary education for Mãori (New Zealand's indigenous people) (Anderson, 2005). Unlike most countries in which post-compulsory provisions are based on institutional status, Osborne (2005) reported that there is a "huge fluidity between the types of programmes" (p.10) offered by various types of providers in New Zealand's tertiary education sector. Anderson (2005) points out that the focus in Zealand is on articulation within rather than between institutions. As further noted by Anderson, a unique feature in New Zealand's post-compulsory sector is its bridging educational pathways which provide access for learners who lack traditional credentials or qualifications.

VET in New Zealand is provided by polytechnics, PTEs and *Wãnanga* institutions and is delivered as a bridge to industry training, further study and employment (Abbott, 2006). Strathdee (2012, p.54) reports that the New Zealand Qualifications Framework (NZQF) remains foundational to the VET system by serving two main purposes:

- It promotes greater equality of opportunity by helping to create a high wage/high skill labour market.
- It provides a common educational currency that promotes movement of students through the system in creating markets in training and thereby further commodifies access to skills.

It is also noted here that the NZQF is similar to the Qualifications and Credit Framework in England, Wales and Ireland but it distinctively unifies all qualifications provided by universities and other providers of academic qualifications. The NZQF has helped establish "a 'seamless' tertiary education system" (ibid, p.54) in New Zealand.

#### **Australia**

The Australian post-compulsory sector is defined within a liberal market economy which in other OECD countries is associated with merged vocational and HE sectors (Weelahan & Moodie, 2005). It consists of four sectors: The senior secondary schools which offer National Certificates and Diplomas; adult and community education (ACE) which offers a range of programmes including accredited VET qualifications; vocational education and training (VET), which offers diploma and advanced diploma awards (i.e. dual sector awards but differ only in their accreditation and jurisdiction descriptors), and an autonomous university sector which offers higher level qualifications (ibid). The HE sector is directly funded by the Australian Federal government while the VET and ACE are the responsibility of state and territorial governments (Marginson, 1997).

VET in Australia is provided by institutes of technical and further education (TAFE), private registered training organisations (RTOs) and adult and community education (ACE) (Walls & Pardy, 2010). Walls and Pardy argue that as an enabling policy the Australian Quality Framework (AQF) provides guidelines for negotiating articulation pathways for VET learners who seek credit

transfer in higher level programmes. Unlike national qualifications frameworks in other OECD countries, Keating (2003) reported that the AQF does not have quality assurance functions; it only designates which VET qualifications are offered in each sector with descriptors that accompany it. He further stated that "as a framework the AQF has no legislative base and no authority that has the capacity to accredit or regulate awards" (p.278). However, he observes that the AQF has been most effective in underpinning national recognition of qualifications in the VET sector. Consequently, pathways from VET to HE assumes more importance (Weelahan & Moodie, 2005).

To conclude, this review shows that there are characteristic differences in how VET is defined in these country settings. It is important to note that England and Australia have a significant presence and impact on HE and VET in PNG. This difference in structure has broad implications for access and participation by learners within the tertiary education sector in each of these cases.

#### Structural differentiation and access to tertiary education

Major structural changes within post-compulsory education in OECD member countries represent the changing nature of tertiary education globally. Osborne (2003) observed that institutional differentiation has contributed to creation of "new types of institutions that both parallel and complement" (p.7) existing university structures. Osborne explains that at one end are countries with well integrated and unified tertiary education systems which have highly equitable procedures for ensuring access for learners (Gallacher, 2005; Bonham, 2005), while on the other end are countries' systems with less integrated provisions of HE (Walls & Pardy, 2010; Parry, 2005). The Australian and the English examples represent the latter case.

The tertiary education system in PNG is much smaller than these examples and should generically exhibit features of a unified system. However, this is not the case due to the highly autonomous feature of university sector in comparison to the publicly funded non-university sector. Issues of access and participation are magnified due to structural and institutional barriers. As a response Osborne

(2003) outlines three structural interventions with flexible strategies that are significant to this discussion.

#### **Shifting targets**

A report by Davies et al. (2002) showed a shift in policy focus on adult access to tertiary education in the UK since the 1970s. The findings illustrated past efforts focused on improving participation by adults, but recent changes included concerns for a diverse group of learners. Osborne (2003) reported that the UK government sought 50% participation in HE, based on the fact that participation by adults alone would have had limited impact. He emphasised that the availability of extensive information on HE provided the basis for directing resources toward a greater range of demonstrable inequities. He adds that there are strong arguments to support the fact that a range of early interventions would best combat "the inheritance of inter-generational inequality for young people at school or college level" (p.48).

In Australia, a report by Suri and Beckett (2012) documented a dramatic rise in student participation in HE. Evidence showed increase in participation by females, non-English speaking learners and participants from ethnic communities. They reported that despite this growth there has been mixed success with regard to overall participation by other sub-groups, including indigenous people from low socio-economic backgrounds. They also observed that to address this issue regional universities have taken up e-learning, including more diverse forms of course delivery, but, even so, "the 'knowledge economy' version of lifelong learning acknowledges that livelihoods need to be paid for" (ibid, p.207) a reality that is prevalent in rural Australia. This imbalance shows that there remains significant social stratification in HE participation in Australia (ibid). As reported by James (2007) this sub-group of learners are underrepresented in high prestige institutions (i.e. people from rural areas, majority from low socio-economic backgrounds). These cases provide examples of "the potential fragility of initiatives that are specific to particular groups" within these country settings (Osborne, 2003, p.49).

#### Access as flexibility

The countries report by Slowey and Schuetze (2012) identified varying forms of strategies in creating access and flexibility to higher levels of learning. One of these was the potential of distance education through e-learning. Most countries reported a significant increase in the use of ICT as a flexible route for widening access to higher level studies as well as specific areas such as professional development. For example, in Australia, emphasis has been placed on ICT and distance education. Osborne (2003) also noted that in Finland this approach is linked to the social goal of persuading people to remain in rural areas as a means to limiting urban drifts by citizens. Osborne reports that a range of flexible structures such as local libraries, ICT and adult learning facilities have been initiated by the Finnish Government to engage citizens in learning.

The need to personalise distance education was also noted by Slowey and Schuetze (2012) as linked to key barriers around the design and pedagogy of online programmes, access to IT from rural areas and lack of familiarity with IT of lifelong learners from different socio-demographic and economic back grounds. They further argued that this explains why the potential of online learning is yet to be realised. Osborne (2003) also noted that sometimes the main problem associated with such change may be less pedagogical or technical, but associated more with administrative decisions. The case for Australia as reported by Suri and Beckett (2012) demonstrates potential ways in which e-learning has sought to create flexibility in its provisions through multiple entry points to lifelong learning programmes.

#### Retention

Another major imperative at the institutional level is the focus on student retention (Thomas, 2002). Thus as an exemplar the report by Davies et al. (2002) outlines how in England greater emphasis is placed on negotiating of learning pathways within established institutional practice and issues of access. The report noted that this concern has led to a variety of structural changes in the curriculum to improve both flexibility and the outreach of programmes. It was also reported that with the expansion of HE and the creation of more heterogeneous student groups,

structural changes have shifted to include various access initiatives such as learning support, advice and counselling services.

Osborne (2003) also reported in his article that in France, it is easy to enter the HE system but it is one in which it is relatively difficult to succeed. He noted that "selection occurs by failure with some 50% of entrants not receiving a diploma for the first cycle of two years" (p.52). However, new initiatives were introduced to widen and increase participation by adults which focused more specifically on provisions that addressed "pre- and post-entry guidance and support" (ibid, p.52) for non-traditional learners.

Similarly in New Zealand, the study by Benseman et al. (2006) on issues of participation in tertiary education for Pasifika students identified a range of recurring themes with regard to retention. The negative factors identified included student motivation and attitudes, pressures from family groups, peer groups and finances, lack of support services and language issues. Positive factors included availability of Pasifika staff, promoting Pasifika presence in institutions and positive role models, together with appropriate pedagogy and wide access to information. The study concluded that "the capacity of educational facilities to retain students is a function of the interface between student and institution and the institution and the community" (p.161). It also recommended that there is a need for a revitalised tertiary education sector that is "better able to provide the underpinnings of both a knowledge economy and a more equitable and inclusive society" (p.161). A potential solution to revitalising the structure of tertiary education lies with the provisions of providing short-cycle tertiary training.

#### Short-cycle tertiary education

The traditional role of short-cycle tertiary training is in providing vocationally relevant education and training. This function has become increasingly important, as it increases the number of participants who are interested in pursuing higher level learning. Furthermore, as structural differentiation within the sector continues and access issues become more prevalent, the role of short-cycle tertiary training becomes more significant in providing access for non-traditional learners.

In addition, it provides a potential route for learners to access higher level learning. These functions are discussed separately below.

#### **Provision of VET training**

It has been observed that in many contemporary societies, traditional functions of short-cycle tertiary education are directed towards vocationally relevant education and training. For example, Germany has the most clearly differentiated VET sector (Dessinger, 2005). The report by Dessinger identifies a clear binary divide between universities and more vocationally oriented training providers such as the polytechnics. It also identifies a VET system that is built around a dual system of work-based apprentice training and part-time vocational schools. In similar contexts Weelahan and Moodie (2005) described the Australian case as having a formally divided system consisting of a unified university sector alongside a VET system that allocates training to TAEF colleges.

Even in societies such as New Zealand where the boundaries between vocational and academic training have converged, the report by Anderson (2005) showed that the vocational imperatives of skill training were evident. It was noted that the National Certificates and Diplomas on which short-cycle tertiary education are based have specific vocational origins. This is also evident in programmes offered in PTEs and *Wānanga* institutions. Similarly, in reporting on England, Parry (2005) noted that the introduction of the foundational degrees in FE has served to close the skills-gap between associate professional and higher technical levels.

#### Increase the number of participants in tertiary education

As discussed above, this function has become increasingly important for increasing number of participants in the tertiary education sector. The issues identified in the report by Weelahan and Moodie (2005) on Australia point to the advantage of VET diplomas and advanced diplomas as an important access mechanism for disadvantaged students to short-cycle tertiary education. Parry noted that the advantage of short-cycle training creates an alternative pathway for learners between VET and higher level learning in universities. Gallacher and Osborne (2005) also observe that the distinctive characteristics of short cycle tertiary training are attractive for adult learners. They stress that an area that is of significance is the employment-related aspect of short-cycle training.

In Australia, Weelahan and Moodie (2005) noted that the competency-based training packages delivered in TAFEs and other similar institutions increased participation rates of learners. In England, Parry (2005) links this increase to the impact of collaboration between FE colleges and universities in offering foundational degrees. It was noted that a key aspect of this development was the focus on work-based learning. Another determining factor is the emphasis on the quantity of learning experiences of learners. Gallacher and Osborne (2005) note that the further education tradition of "student centeredness and personal pedagogy along with the smaller scale and greater intimacy of teaching groups" is more attractive to non-traditional learners. However, they also noted that this can lead to problems for those who transfer from short-cycle to degree level programmes.

#### Widen participation by non-traditional learners

This function leads to the widening participation of non-traditional students who have been traditionally under-represented in tertiary education (Osborne, 2003). Examples include the changing roles of community colleges in the USA and Canada, and the changing roles of FE in Scotland (Bonham, 2005, Burtch, 2005, Gallacher 2005). These studies identify varying ways in which short-cycle tertiary education and training is fulfilling this function. Of particular interest is what Gallacher and Osborne (2005) identify as heterogeneity of student groups who participate in short-cycle tertiary programmes. They found that the relative success of this type of provision in widening access to tertiary education is beneficial to those learners who originate from areas of social and economic deprivation. In contrast, the Weelahan and Moodie's (2005) report on Australia illustrated that elite universities in Australia are more likely to be dominated by the upper middle class group than the less privileged.

Bonham (2005) also noted the important role of American community colleges in making lifelong learning a reality for many Americans. In New Zealand Anderson (2005) reports that this issue is associated with the geographical spread of polytechnics and *Wãnanga*, which helps to overcome problems of access which can be of particular significance for adult learners. Anderson explains that this type of provision has seen increased participation by Maori and Pasifika people in sub-degree level education. The report also indicated that Maori people participate

above the proportion of their population composition. Benseman et al. (2006) note that the attrition rate for Maori is much higher than for Asians and Pakeha (European New Zealanders).

In Australia, Weelahan and Moodie (2005) reported a complex pattern of participation in short-cycle tertiary programmes. They asserted that while the composition of VET students is more broadly representative of the whole population than for students in the university sector, the representation of VET students in higher level programmes (e.g. Diploma and advanced Diploma) is similar to that for students at universities. They are more representative of the privileged urban population than those from lower socio-economic backgrounds (e.g. Aboriginal or Torres Strait islanders).

To summarise, this review does indicate that short-cycle tertiary education has demonstrated success in accommodating students from under-represented groups in many societies. However, Gallacher and Osborne (2005) explain that these success stories would appear to link closely with "community-oriented flexible provisions, or other initiatives that which recognises the special needs of non-traditional students" (p.200). They also maintain that further research is needed to identify factors that can most effectively contribute the agenda of widening participation in tertiary education.

## Part C: Tertiary Education in PNG (A case for a polytechnic)

#### **Brief history**

The educational system in Papua New Guinea (PNG) was largely influenced by neo-colonial ideologies and practices. As an Australian protectorate, the now independent state of PNG was administered by Australia until self-government in 1973 and independence in 1975. In view of Australia's link to Britain before colonisation, a number of principles identified by Whitehead (2005) in his work on the historiography of British Imperial education policy, in relation to England's colonial system of education in Africa since the 1930s, also existed in PNG (O'Donoghue, 1994). In particular, the business of education was left entirely to the Christian missions, who had minimal support from the state.

Whitehead (2005) reported that the educational philosophy of the missions was basically associated with religious and moral instruction with less emphasis on other aspects of training. In all, O'Donoghue and Austin (1994) noted that only 5% of the population was literate in 1939. Megarrity (2005) argues that the Australian administration in the 1920s and the 1930s viewed the "expansive presence of PNG above the Australian mainland as a convenient protection against northern invasion of the continent" (p.2). O'Donoghue (1994) observed that the priority of this arrangement was to establish and maintain basic military control over the area rather than investing in indigenous education.

The Post World War II period brought dramatic changes. Megarrity (2005) reports that the deeply felt appreciation for the indigenous population towards the Allied war effort as carriers and stretcher bearers, plus the celebrated halting of the Japanese advance along PNG's Kokoda Trail influenced a new policy direction towards PNG. He commented that in recognition of this contribution plus the geographic proximity of PNG to Asia, the Federal Government of Australia saw education as a key area for "promoting economic and social development, as well as being central in regaining colonial authority" (Megarrity, 2005, p.3). Smyth (1977) reported that selective government schools were established during this period but most responsibilities of education and training were left entirely to the missions. He maintained that the general outlook by Australia was to develop an educational system that would gradually assist in adapting the local population to meet the changes brought on by the colonisers.

Megarrity (2005) reported that about 25% of the school age population in PNG had experienced some form of primary education by 1960 with less priority given to secondary and tertiary education. It eventually took external international pressure to initiate changes. Solon (1990) reports that the United Nations' Post-War Decolonisation policies for African and Asian territories forced Australian territorial administrators to fast-track educational reforms. Solon argues that during this period the education focus was on training a small number of Papua New Guineans to occupy positions left vacant by the colonisers in the period leading up to the country's independence.

The significant impact was the planning for future expansion of tertiary education which included an administrative college for training indigenous public servants

as well as eight tertiary institutions including the establishment of the University of Papua New Guinea (Lynn Meek, 1982). Consequently, Roe (1968) found that the Commonwealth country's education policy concentrated more on the expansion of the university sector, a main tool by which it consciously created educated elites during the 1960s. Hence, by this time the newly independent state of PNG found itself with an "inherited educational system, transplanted directly from a colonial power in which the emphasis was almost exclusively directed towards satisfying the high-level manpower needs of the country" (Smyth, 1977, p.4).

Moreover, Australia's generous support towards education in PNG should not be overlooked. Since independence, the Australian Federal Government through AUSAID has continued to provide financial support towards the PNG Government's development objectives in education (AUSAID, 2003). However, massive educational achievements through this partnership are not matched by wider social progress (Smyth, 1977). For example, there are limited spaces in tertiary institutions compared to the number of students leaving compulsory schooling, and issues of access, equity and gender are high (Hind et al., 2011). PNG is culturally diverse with 800 plus indigenous languages, and the reality of the diverse character of this population including the influences of Western culture is "played out in policy developments in economics, social and cultural spheres, including education" (Findsen, 2012, p.231).

#### Post-compulsory education

The post-compulsory education sector in PNG is structured on a dual system. On one hand is the university sector which comprises eight universities (including colleges of distance education) and on the other is the non-university sector. The non-university sector constitutes the Technical Vocational Education and Training Division (TVET) which comprises seven technical and business colleges (including the newly established PNG Polytechnic); a number of recently established community colleges; seven teachers' colleges; nursing schools; over 100 vocational schools; technical secondary schools; and other private providers of vocationally oriented programmes. The university sector dominates in higher

level learning (i.e. degree and post graduate qualifications) and the non-university sector is characterised by what Kyvik (2004) described as short-cycle "paraprofessional institutions with distinct cultures" (p.394) and subjected to different public regulations. Education for students is considered complete after the specific two years with few possibilities for transferring to higher level learning at a university.

In a similar context as Australia (see, Weelahan & Moodie, 2005), the post-secondary sector has three different models of institutional arrangements: 1) single sector, stand-alone HE and VET institutions with various links and relationships between the sectors; 2) dual sector universities (containing both HE and VET provisions); 3) and co-located campuses as in the case of the University of Papua New Guinea (UPNG) and Divine Word University (DWU). Each model has policies that support movement of students across sectors. Sometimes some of these arrangements are less visible and this contributes to the many problems of access and equity for participation in tertiary education (e.g. problems of credit transfer). Links between specialised colleges are poorly developed at the regional level; however, at the national level most VET programmes share a common identity under the PNG TVET Division.

#### The PNG Qualifications Framework

The PNG Qualification Framework (PNGQF) was created in 2008, and its main aim was to significantly raise the quality of training in PNG. The PNGQF is the only systemic framework that covers post-compulsory education and training in PNG. Unlike qualification frameworks in England, Australia and New Zealand, the PNGQF has yet to be developed further to include accreditations or quality assurance functions. The PNGQF designates which qualifications are offered in each sector with general descriptors that accompany it.

The PNGQF was established, in part, to facilitate learning pathways within and between different sectors, however, "sectorial differentiations of qualifications" (Weelahan & Moodie, 2005, p.23) have contributed to a deep divide between the sectors, and the added problem of students moving freely between the sectors. This has led to general dissatisfaction that the "learning and certification of

learning in each sector is incommensurable" (ibid, p.23). So rather than promoting articulation and seamlessness of qualifications, it can be argued that until now the PNGQF has contributed to widening the gap between sectors.

Yet the PNGQF has been most effective in underpinning developments in the VET sector. It has been a national achievement since different levels of qualifications between the public and the private sector can now be recognised under one framework.

#### The PNG Polytechnic

The PNG Polytechnic (officially known as the National Institute of PNG or NPIPNG) was established in 2008 by the PNG National Education Board, acting under its authority as provided for by the PNG Education Act 1983 (NPIPNG, 2012). The institution was established as the first of four polytechnics envisioned to be created in each of the four regions in the country. The institution is guided by a mission statement that reads:

We are a government educational institution committed to develop individuals in various life skills through quality and relevant educational programmes that meet business, industrial and community needs for sustainable national progress. (NPIPNG, 2012, p.7)

As a provider of short-cycle VET training, the PNG polytechnic offers Certificate and Diploma programmes, each defined by a two year course cycle. Training is delivered by six departments, Building and Civil; Mechanical Engineering; Applied Science; Electrical Engineering; Business Studies; and Tourism and Hospitality. The institution basically provides skill training at post-secondary level as well as providing opportunities for others in the workforce. Education and training is designed to develop broad-based analytical and creative skills and involves industry input for programme design, planning and course delivery. The institution plans to offer advanced diploma programmes in the near future.

#### **Conclusion of chapter**

This chapter has discussed and justified major themes associated with tertiary education and lifelong learning. Most authors agree that while the concept of lifelong learning featured prominently in national and international policy discourse, the implications of this concept on tertiary education remains underdeveloped. The notion of lifelong learning has been advocated as a potential solution to address many complex issues and is associated with the idea of providing equitable access to education and training for all individuals in a society.

It was argued in this literature review that the changing context of the tertiary education landscape in many countries has had both positive and negative impacts on opportunities available to individuals to readily access education as lifelong learners. Factors discussed in the chapter include the advance of the learning society; the focus of education and training on employability rather than lifeworlds of individuals; greater accountability by learning institutions to accommodate lifelong learners; and the widening participation agenda in tertiary education.

Based on the above conclusions, it can be argued that the PNG tertiary education sector displays similar features. There is high demand for tertiary level learning, however, the system does not have structural mechanisms (e.g. course links or pathways) that could provide opportunities for diverse groups of learners to access different modes of learning. The participation rate in tertiary level education in PNG has increased, but this does not necessarily mean that every potential learner has the opportunity, particularly those traditionally under-represented (e.g. second chance learners and those from low socio-economic backgrounds).

The issue of who is responsible for lifelong learning, and how tertiary institutions can cope to accommodate multiple types of students is also discussed. The literature highlights the importance for governments and learning organisations to be aware of potential barriers to systemic progress of lifelong learning and to ensure that these are minimised where possible. The next chapter reviews the methodology that was employed in this study.

## **Chapter Three: The Methodology**

As previously stated, the purpose of this study is to investigate the extent to which polytechnic education developments can be situated within a lifelong learning framework in PNG. In examining international literature concerning tertiary education developments and the concept of lifelong learning, it is clear that to successfully fulfil their educational roles in vocational education and training, tertiary institutions such as the PNG Polytechnic need to be able to respond effectively to changing education and training needs; adapt to a rapidly shifting tertiary education landscape, and adopt more flexible modes of organisation and operation. In particular, polytechnics must respond to this multi-faceted demand placed on them, including the need for a model of lifelong education.

This chapter provides a rationale for the methodology chosen for this research. It begins by providing a justification of the interpretative paradigm that was chosen to guide the study. Then the rationale for using a qualitative case study is explained with reference to the research context. Following this, an explanation is given on the choice of methods employed in the study which includes the justification of why the interview was chosen as the main method for data collection. Data analysis is also discussed to explain how major themes in the interview data were identified. Next, ethical considerations for the study are discussed. Finally, the strengths and limitations of the study are discussed.

### The choice of methodology

As the purpose of this study is to investigate the potential for lifelong learning at a polytechnic institution from the perspective of academic staff members, an interpretive paradigm was chosen to guide this research (Deetz, 1982). The goal of an interpretive paradigm is characterised by the concern to arrive at the "understanding and interpretations of how people create and maintain their social worlds" (Neuman, 1994, p.64). However, this study goes slightly beyond this understanding to accommodate Deetze's (1982) description of a critical

interpretive research. Deetz argues that the emphasis on "describing the meaning that exists and is shared in the organisations is insufficient and that research should perform a critical function by demonstrating where false consensus exists and the means by which it is constructed" (p.132). In adopting this position, this study analyses the organisational reality (i.e. at the polytechnic and the national level) that is presumed as real, as well as the social reality and its consensually shared interpretations. As Rubin (2003) asserts, reality is a "social construction and that our social world is best understood as one dimension of inequality." (p.540). Important here is not the observable social action but the subjective meanings that shape and describe the interactions of individuals within the broader organisational framework that governs the institution (i.e. the polytechnic). Bassey (1999) asserts that the interpretivist approach acknowledges that, "reality is seen as a construct of the human mind...people perceive and so construe the world in ways which are often similar but not the same" (p.43). This view differs from the positivist approach which acknowledges that reality exists whether it is observed or not, irrespective of the individual who is responsible for observing it (ibid).

The interpretive paradigm used in this study is consistent with the principles of qualitative research which assume that "reality is constructed, multidimensional, and ever changing; there is no such thing as a single immutable reality waiting to be observed and measured...thus there are interpretations of reality; in a sense the researcher offers his or her interpretations of someone else's reality" (Merriam, 1995. p.54). In this context, Crotty (1998) suggests that within the interpretive paradigm individuals are actively constructing meanings in different ways, which are influenced by the context, experiences and the frames of reference of the worlds they are trying to interpret. This study acknowledges that the research participants are human beings and are incapable of total objectivity because their reality is constructed by subjective experiences within different situations (ibid). Additionally, the "value held by the researcher, the questions asked of the participants and the generated and interpreted findings all allow the research to be value bound" (van Esch & van Esch, 2013, p.218). Therefore, to understand the complex phenomenon in this study, it is important to consider the "multiple realities experienced by the participants because natural environments are favoured for discovering how participants construct their own meaning of events or situations" (Miles & Huberman, 1994, p.344).

#### The case study approach

A single case study of PNG Polytechnic is utilised in this research project to examine the extent of vocational education and training, and the potential for developing a culture for lifelong learning in the tertiary education sector in PNG. According to Yin (2003), a case study is "an empirical inquiry that investigates a contemporary phenomenon within its real-life context, especially when the boundaries between phenomenon and context are not clearly evident" (p.13). Since the case study was conducted within its natural setting (i.e. within PNG Polytechnic), it allowed the researcher to comprehend the nature of the structures and processes of education and skill training in an area that had not been previously studied. As maintained by Cavaye (1996), a case study approach investigates predefined phenomena and does not involve explicit control or manipulation of variables, but rather the focus is on in-depth understanding of a phenomenon and its social context. Merriam (1998, p.19) also outlines, attributes of a case study that were significant to this research project.

- It is particularistic, it relates to a particular "situation, event, programme, or phenomenon". In this case, the extent of vocational educational education and training and the potential for developing a culture of lifelong learning in the PNG polytechnic.
- It provides rich descriptive data, which in this case is drawn from individual beliefs and assumptions of participants in the study.
- It is heuristic, in that "it illuminates the readers understanding of the phenomenon under study", a central goal of this study.
- It is inductive because qualitative case studies in most cases, usually "rely on inductive reasoning for the formulation of concepts, generalisations or tentative hypothesis".

As for any research strategies, case studies have limitations. Cavaye (1996) points out that, during a case study, the researcher has "no control over independent variables and this may limit the internal validity of any conclusions" (p.229). Often the researcher is faced with the challenge of not fully representing the complexities of social or educational situations. Another weakness as identified by Guba and Lincoln (1981) is that researcher or reader bias can affect the possibility of how the research is portrayed. Therefore, caution should be taken in making generalisations about the research findings.

This study is consistent with the description of the case study approach because it specifically investigates a phenomenon (i.e. the potential for lifelong learning) within a bounded system (i.e. the polytechnic). In applying this approach it was possible to gain an in-depth understanding of participants' beliefs and assumptions on the extent of vocational education and training and the potential for lifelong learning at the PNG Polytechnic.

#### The Research Method

As a single interpretive case study, this research employed a qualitative approach in data collection. Interviews were used as the primary method for data collection apart from observations and collection of official documents (e.g. project plans and policy documents from the polytechnic). Mathison (1988) asserts that "good research practice obligates the researcher to triangulate that is, to use multiple methods, data sources, and researchers to enhance the validity of research findings" (p.13). Related to Mathison's observations, this study was designed to collect pertinent documents as well as eliciting the perspectives of participants in the study. The advantage of this approach follows Patton's (1982) suggestion that in-depth data can be collected from some persons or settings depending on particular things that can be learned from those cases while gathering less information from other people and places" (p.206).

Moreover, Eisner (1979) maintains that the process of establishing different structural corroboration for data collection and using it to establish links that eventually create a whole can be greatly enhanced by using triangulation (cited in

Mathison, 1988). However, Patton (1980) emphasises that triangulation can be problematic, in that, multiple methods will not automatically guarantee that findings generated from these procedures will eventually form a nicely integrated whole. He further suggests that the point of triangulation is "to study and understand when and why there are differences" (p.331). Denzin and Lincoln (1994) further explain that while the use of multiple strategies in data collection reflects an attempt to secure an in-depth understanding of the phenomenon under study; "objective reality can never be captured" (p.2). On this issue Miles and Huberman (1994) point out that it would not be uncommon, for example, to analyse transcribed interviews along with observational field notes and documents authored by the respondents themselves to satisfy the principle of triangulation.

To increase the validity of the findings, this study analysed the transcribed interviews together with documents authored by some of the respondents plus other institutional documents collected from the study. As the researcher for this investigation I acknowledge that the purposeful sample selected for this study includes different cases (i.e. individuals with varying depth of knowledge and experience that is specific to the research question) and their contributions can be treated as complementary sources of information. The main source of data for this study was from the semi-structured interviews, and the various documents from Government and the PNG polytechnic supplemented this source and potentially increased the trust in the findings.

#### Interview design

The reason for choosing to use the interview as the principal mode of data collection is that it enabled the researcher to gain a deeper understanding of how the concept of lifelong learning is understood by participants, and how this educational concept can be applied to the broader context of education and training within the polytechnic. The interviews allowed the researcher to have access to each individual's reality and interpretation of his or her own experience of the concept under study (Fontana & Frey, 2000). The interviews were also prearranged, in that the respondents were informed of the time and place that was convenient for both the interviewee and the researcher. Locations included quiet

office spaces away from other institutional activities to ensure an uninterrupted response rate by the participants.

A semi-structured interview was chosen to ensure that the researcher was prepared to be flexible in terms of the order in which the research topic was considered, and most importantly to let the interviewees develop ideas and speak more widely on the issues raised by the researcher (Denscombe, 2010). The use of an interview guide (Appendix 1) provided a set of questions that was explored with each respondent. This process allowed the researcher the flexibility to modify the order of the questions based upon his perception of what seemed appropriate in the context of the conversation (Robson, 1993). This approach enabled the researcher to clarify statements; ask probing questions, and explore new issues that emerged during the interview process (Mutch, 2013; Menter et al., 2011). The main purpose of the interview was to gain each interviewee's perceptions about the context of education and training at the polytechnic and its implications on the potential for creating a lifelong learning culture.

The interview guide provided a list of questions that were used in the interview process. The guide was developed after consulting the literature to identify areas which would be useful to cover the scope of issues that were to be addressed and were related to the research question. The main purpose of an interview guide is to allow flexibility by ensuring that "the guide helps make interviewing across a number of people more systematic and comprehensive by delimiting in advance issues to be explored" (Patton, 1990, p.283). Interviewees were only provided with the information sheet containing general aims of the research without the interview guide. This approach was taken to ensure that the narrative that was audio recorded captured the in-depth reality of the conversations and not responses that were prepared in advance. Each interview began with summarising the purpose of the research and explaining that as the researcher, I was interested in finding out about their beliefs and assumptions on the potential for lifelong learning at the polytechnic.

#### Interview selection

Interviews were conducted between the months of June and July 2014 with twelve academic staff, five of whom were heads of departments. A "purposeful random

sample" (Patton, 1990, p.17) was used in an attempt to select "information rich cases" that constituted the local context of the research (ibid, p.169). The purposeful selection included a balance of academic and administrative staff (including both males and females) based on their experience/background and time spent at the institution. Academic staff members were selected from the six departments (or disciplines) that made up the institution.

A pilot interview was conducted to assess the effectiveness of the interview guide. The aim of this process was to determine the appropriateness and format of the questions, and assess the areas of my interview techniques that could be improved. To conduct the pilot interview, I deliberately selected an academic staff member who had past experience as an interviewer in a research project. This process helped to identify how the interview guide could be used more effectively to help make the issues to be discussed, clearer to the interviewees. These minor changes included suggestions for improving the order in which the questions were presented in the interviews.

Participants selected for the sample were individually approached and were asked if they were interested to take part in the study. Each was presented with an information sheet (Appendix 2) that contained the goal and purpose of the study. A list of selected participants and the description of their position within the institution is shown in Appendix 3. Each interview was audio-recorded with consent from the interviewees. A full transcription of the interview scripts were given to the interviewees and they were given time to amend, where necessary.

#### **Data from documents**

The reason for choosing to use data from documents is that it provided concrete evidence of information that describes the contextual environment of the study. Institutional (i.e. the polytechnic) project plans and government policy documents were useful to collect because they gave insights into existing macro structures (e.g. educational policy frameworks) that govern the provision of education and training within the research setting. There is sometimes a disjunction between what people say and what people do. This approach is based on the assumption that it would be unwise to rely solely on interview data to provide insights into patterns of and motives for understanding the current nature and future plans for

educational developments in this study. This study used data from documents to help inform the development of concepts and theories in the study. Documents included institutional documents that consisted of policy documents and project plans, while government documents included the PNG Government's *Vision 2050 Plan*, the *PNG-TVET Policy* framework and the PNG *Education Act 1983*. Permission was sought and granted by the institution to use these documents solely for the purpose of the research.

#### Analysis of data

Thematic analysis was used as the primary tool in this study to analyse the interview data. Through its theoretical freedom, thematic analysis provides a flexible and useful research tool for data analysis that can potentially provide rich and detailed, yet complex account of the data (Braun & Clarke, 2006). Unlike other forms of thematic analysis that approach data analysis in a theoretical or deductive manner (e.g. Boyatzis, 1998; Hayes, 1997), this study employed an inductive or 'bottom up approach' (e.g. Frith & Gleeson, 2004). The advantage of using the inductive approach is that themes identified will emerge from the data themselves (Patton, 1990).

The thematic approach resembles grounded theory in that it is not driven by a predetermined theoretical framework (or set of guidelines to identify themes). Within this context, explicit theories are not imposed on the data, but rather to allow the emergence of conceptual categories and descriptive themes from within the data (Miles & Huberman, 1994). Hence, the method applied in this study is data driven (Braun & Clarke, 2006). However, it is also important to note that "researchers cannot free themselves of their theoretical and epistemological commitments and data are not coded in an epistemological vacuum (ibid, p.84). Indeed, the method of analysis used in this study is driven by the research question and the researcher's broader theoretical assumptions on the topic.

#### **Interviews**

Each interview was transcribed soon after the actual interview. Interviewees were given the opportunity to make changes to the initial interview transcript. This

offer was taken up by all the interviewees who generally accepted the individual contents of the interview transcripts. The data were analysed using the thematic analysis model described by Braun and Clarke (2006). Themes and patterns within the interview data-sets were analysed using the inductive process. The following steps were taken.

- 1) Familiarisation with interview data. As the researcher, I used this initial phase to familiarise myself with the depth and breadth of the data content. Data was repeatedly read and reread at this stage, as a way of identifying the meanings and patterns that emerged. It is important to note that this process contemplated the research question by allowing the goal of the study to theoretically guide this initial phase.
- 2) Generation of initial codes. I developed an initial coding framework based on the meanings and patterns identified in phase 1 and grouped the entire interview data in a systemic way into manageable text segments. Initial codes were identified based on how they captured the qualitative richness of the phenomenon being studied. At this stage it was important to ensure that equal attention was given to each data item to identify interesting aspects of the data that formed the basis for repeated patterns (or themes) across the entire data set. I then grouped similar data extracts and used these data extracts to compare within and between the larger groupings. This process required me to continuously engage in back and forth refinement of data extracts until major concepts emerged from the data.
- 3) Selection of potential themes. This phase involved examining the codes and collating the data to identify potential themes. I organised all the individual codes that were relevant to each potential theme and grouped them accordingly. This approach enabled me to work progressively with the data and at the same time review the viability of each potential theme. I developed an initial thematic map to refocus the analysis at the broader level of themes.

- 4) Conducting of theme review. The initial thematic map containing potential themes was further refined to isolate themes that had less support across the interview data set. With the aid of the initial thematic map, I returned to the original text and started the process of interpreting the data in knowledge of the networks within the thematic map. This process involved two review stages.
  - a) Description of the network. The contents of each network were individually reviewed and described accordingly with text segments. All collated extracts from each theme were re-read to ascertain if they formed a coherent pattern. This step was undertaken for two reasons: Firstly, to establish the relevant connections of the themes to the entire data set and secondly to recode any additional data within themes that were missed in the earlier coding process. Potential themes that emerged were included; those that did not fit were excluded while others were collapsed and reorganised to form potential themes.
  - b) Exploring the network. This phase required me to explore the individual networks in the thematic map and identify the underlying patterns that began to emerge. In this process, the validity of the individual themes was considered in relation to the entire data set to confirm whether the thematic map accurately reflected the meaning evident in the data set as a whole. After this phase a satisfactory thematic map of the entire data set was finalised.
- 5) Selection of final themes. Themes identified from the final thematic map were defined and further refined to identify the essence of the respective theme and what aspects of the data each theme captured. The collated data extracts were then organised into a coherent and internally consistent

account with accompanying narratives from individual interview accounts under these themes.

6) The final stage presented a report of the findings. A reasonable number of data extracts were used in the report to provide sufficient evidence of the themes within the interview data. Data extracts were then embedded within the data analysis report to illustrate the story told by the data. The data analysis report was then used to make a justifiable argument in relation to the research question.

A full report of the findings is discussed under each theme in Chapter Four.

#### **Ethical considerations**

As this research was conducted for a Master's degree thesis at the University of Waikato, Hamilton, New Zealand, ethics approval was gained from the University of Waikato, Faculty of Education Human Subjects Ethics Committee. Informed consent was obtained from all participants involved in the study (Appendix 4). This process ensured that this study met the standards of ethical acceptability and was conducted in a manner that minimised unintentional harm to the participants. Participants were reminded of the risks and benefits of the study and they gave consent to participate without being coerced in any way.

A major concern in this study was to ensure that sufficient confidentiality was maintained to enable participants to supply information freely. While participants were assured that the information gathered in the research would not be used in any way to identify the individual, the fact that the researcher is known to these individuals as a co-worker made them easily identifiable. Complete anonymity was not an option in the interviews for this reason. This issue could have been avoided with the use of an independent interviewer but due to other issues such as financial constraints and the possibility of identifying a candidate who had substantial knowledge about the research topic, made it unfeasible. While this may be the case in some forms of research, literature on research methodology

indicates that the use of an intermediary is not necessarily an advantage as the "interpretivist paradigm differs from the positivist paradigm in that the researcher is not positioned as a disinterested scientist" (Hope, 1998, p.64).

On the issue of bias, Patton (1986) asserts that "closeness does not make bias and loss of perspective inevitable" (p.200). As the researcher and an insider, I was equipped with the background knowledge of the research topic and this enabled me to identify possible omissions or misunderstanding on the topic and probe accordingly during the interview process. It was also important that in attempting to minimise bias in both the collection and interpretation of the data, I received help through supervision and independent checks by a different individual. Another advantage of the interview is that I was able to explain to the interviewees at the beginning of each procedure about how the information would be used by taking time to give assurance of confidentiality and answering questions, where necessary.

Merriam (1998) asserts that the researcher must always be conscious of personal biases and how these can impact on the outcome of the study. On this issue, Patton (1990) observes that subjectivity in any research is inevitable as no researcher is value free, since all researchers usually bring with them personal beliefs and interpretations into the research setting. In my role as a teaching staff member of the institution it was inevitable that I brought with me personal bias into the research; however, my depth of knowledge of the institution heightened the validity of the findings. It is important to understand that the process of explaining biases does not try to make a qualitative research more objective but to "understand how one's subjectivity shapes the investigation and its finding" (Merriam & Simpson, 1995, p.98). In attempting to minimise bias in the study I undertook steps to inform the participants that the purpose of the study was to understand their beliefs and assumptions of the potential for lifelong learning at the polytechnic. I made clear to them that I was there as a researcher and not as a staff member. I also conveyed to them that the information gained would be used to consolidate efforts that attempt to raise the standards of education and training at the polytechnic.

Moreover, it is also important to accommodate the possible consequences of this study. Merriam (1988) points out that "research does not begin in a value-free vacuum, nor does the results of the research get used in a value-free way" (p.148). The findings of this study will be disseminated for the purpose of consolidating efforts within the polytechnic to create a lifelong learning culture that will help to raise the standard of vocational education and training at the institution.

#### Strengths and limitations of the research

In any qualitative research, issues of validity, reliability and generalisability are important matters for consideration. In a qualitative study, Merriam (1998) observes that readers must be able to trust the overall findings of the study. There are many strategies that can be used to improve the trustworthiness of the study, part of which includes ethical issues that were considered as part of the study. This was discussed earlier to emphasis its importance. Another consideration for trustworthiness in the findings depends on the appropriateness and consistency of the methods used in data collection. Miles and Huberman (1994) suggest that ".qualitative analysis of text is often supplemented with other sources of information to satisfy the principle of triangulation and increase trust in the validity of the study's conclusions" (p.350). In this study transcribed interview data were analysed alongside documents authored by respondents (those collected from the polytechnic) plus others (government documents), as part of increasing trust and validity of the findings. In addition, the returning of interview transcripts to participants for confirmation of content helped to ensure that an accurate account of the conversation in the interview process was maintained.

Other strategies as recommended by Greenhalgh and Taylor (1997) were used as quality control. For this study, the interview data were analysed independently by the researcher with guidance from a supervisor. Limitations occur for all studies, and because of the nature of a Master's study, those data were coded and themes identified by one person and the analysis discussed with a supervisor. This process allowed for consistency in the method, but failed to provide multiple perspectives from a variety of people with different expertise. Another limitation

of the study concerns my own expertise as a novice researcher. Given this limitation, I had to more earnestly listen carefully after each audio-recorded interview, review my techniques, and work on the improvements.

Interviews usually entail the advantage of the researcher checking accuracy and relevance as an ongoing process, while the collection of documents (e.g. official documents from the institution and government policy) can provide more objective evidence of existing data on issues under investigation. However, the interpretive paradigm guiding this research recognises that any inquiry will be value laden. It is important to emphasise that participants who took part in this study are those who represent a selective sample from the polytechnic institution. The study initially planned to include a purposeful sample of officials from the Ministry of Education in PNG, including those from the institution, but this was not feasible due mostly to financial constraints and accessibility issues (e.g. geographic location). Despite the encouragingly high response rate of participants from the polytechnic site, there were other potential issues which may have been covered more extensively by individuals in the top hierarchy of tertiary education. An opportunity was lost to sensitize top officials to the need to think about tertiary education and training from a lifelong learning framework.

#### Summary of the research process

This chapter has discussed the justification for the choice of using the interpretive paradigm in this study. A description of the research methods included the design and use of interviews and documentary data. The ethical issues and the strengths and limitations of the research process were also discussed to justify how the study was conducted. A description of the data analysis process is also included to demonstrate the importance of the process.

In the next chapter, I will discuss major themes that were identified from the data analysis process. These themes will be examined based on how they connected with research question.

## **Chapter Four: The Findings**

#### Introduction

In this section, the key themes and sub-themes that emerge from the individual interviews are presented. These themes represent the integration of ideas that were reiterated in the course of the interviews. This chapter highlights the dominant ideas that emerge in relation to these themes and sub-themes, but also indicates those views that differed from the norm. While many of the comments that are grouped under these themes do not constitute direct or explicit answers to the research question, together they provide a sample of some of the prevalent thinking about the concept of polytechnic education in PNG. Consequently, both the comments themselves, and the thinking and sentiments that cluster around the themes, can help to elucidate the research question and the consideration of the potential for a lifelong learning culture in the PNG Polytechnic. The interviews collectively offer a picture of the thinking that preoccupied the interviewees in the sample, all of whom are academics at the polytechnic. The findings are grouped into three main categories each with distinctive sub-categories. These categories are:

- 1) The purpose of polytechnic education within the PNG tertiary education sector:
  - a) Participants' views about the purpose of polytechnic education.
  - b) Participants' views about the changing context of polytechnic education.
- 2) Perceptions on existing barriers and proposals for improvement:
  - a) Existing barriers.
  - b) Proposals for improvement.
- 3) Lifelong learning:
  - a) Interviewees' explicit views about the potential for lifelong learning at polytechnic.
  - b) Other views that link to specific functions of lifelong learning.

Direct quotations from interviews will have pseudonyms in brackets to represent participants' comments after each quotation.

# Category One: The purpose of vocational education and Training (VET) within the PNG tertiary education sector

## Participants' views about the purpose of VET within the tertiary education sector

In order to contextualise participants' views about the potential for implementing lifelong learning at the PNG Polytechnic, it was important to ascertain a sense of the prevalent thinking about the type of education and training the polytechnic should offer. A dominant theme that emerged from the interviews concerns the purpose of vocational, educational and training (VET) in the polytechnic. This view was expressed by eight out of the twelve interviewees. In sharing this view, Kevin, the director of the institute said:

Polytechnic has a primary objective and that is to provide technical skills training that is required by the industry, stakeholders and the society. [Kevin]

This response is not surprising, given the recognition that public polytechnic institutions have a mandated role in providing VET to the population. The explicit reference to direct beneficiaries of VET illustrates a strong focus of why VET is provided at the tertiary level. The economic perspective of VET is clearly a strong focus in this comment.

A comment by Hellen also illustrates the common perception of the skill development role of a polytechnic but has a different nuance. As a head of department, Hellen has served the institution for more than twelve years. She said:

[In polytechnic] we train students to gain technical skills, that is the basic training as well as we prepare students to understand the principles of the training they are receiving so that they can go out and apply these principles. [Hellen]

In this response, she provides an explicit view about the role of the polytechnic in terms of VET. In incorporating the phrase 'understand the principles of training' in her comment, the interviewee specifically places priority on the broader purpose of providing VET and the longer lasting impact this can have on the individual learner. This is a more sophisticated view of VET and links well with ideas on lifelong learning. It suggests a notion of the role of polytechnic in providing vocational specific skills that engage the learner and how these skills are applied outside of this institution.

The economic perspective of VET is again evident in the next quote; however, it also introduces social perspectives about education and training. Susie is a senior lecturer and has been teaching for more than ten years. She identifies in her comment the dual purpose of providing VET. She said:

We basically train people to gain knowledge and skills that will help them in their lives. Because our society is changing, people want to get a good tertiary education so that they are able to get employed or help themselves or their communities. [Susie]

The language in this response shows a broader view of VET. The social aspect of education and training is evident in the use of the words, society, people and communities in that the interviewee basically reiterates views on why people choose to get educated. Implicit within this language are thoughts on why people choose to engage in learning and the wider benefits this very act of gaining knowledge has to offer for the wider community. This view reflects well with ideas on lifelong learning, in that it hints at the development of a knowledge society, and social and community dimensions of the community.

To summarise, each of these interviewees focus on VET, but within these comments the emphasis is different and there are terms and values that indicate potential for developing a lifelong learning culture.

#### The dual purpose of VET

Other interviewees' comments also supported this theme. The idea behind VET is further expanded, but there are slight variations as to how the individual responses are constructed. A few interviewees offered views that had some more explicit

links to the research question. The first comment by Frank reiterates the skill development perspective, but goes further to offer a different feature of polytechnic education. Frank is a senior lecturer with over ten years of service and is an acting head of department.

The training provided [within polytechnic] is focussed towards meeting industry requirements. Meaning that, the training provided in this sector is geared towards meeting the requirement of formal employment. There is minimum focus on training that is geared towards self-employment. [Frank]

In this response the interviewee explicitly makes evident his views that the primary role of polytechnic is to provide VET that is related to industry needs. The dual perspective of VET is again visible in this comment. The idea of 'meeting industry requirements' suggests a strong view of the employment related focus of VET. However, the narrative in the second sentence suggests a different view. It implies that certain considerations need to be given on how VET is visualised, developed and implemented. Such a view places priority on how knowledge and skills are generated and the benefits this may have on the individual and the wider society. This slightly broader view of the potential role of polytechnic education may hint at possibilities for a broader lifelong learning approach. It suggests a long-term vision for the polytechnic.

Another commentator suggests the need to go beyond the current focus of VET:

The programmes offered in [polytechnic] are fixed and structured towards high academic achievement and qualification. Students are expected to study hard to gain good marks to successfully complete their programmes. Specific individual needs for personal development are not catered for since the programmes or courses offered are standardized and benchmarked ... to meet demands for labour market in the industry in trades and skilled manpower. [Sarah]

The language in this response explicitly critiques a narrow approach to VET. In the first sentence, it reflects a strong instrumentalist view of education and training, however, there is a second dimension within this comment that opposes this accepted norm. The mention of 'individual needs' and 'personal development' suggests broader view of skills training not often associated with VET. These views link to the idea of personal fulfilment, a key function of lifelong learning.

Like Sarah, Hellen suggests the importance of a broader understanding of what VET should offer. Her view on widening aspects of VET is representative of five other interviewees who offered similar sentiments.

I think that the course we are giving for the technical training certificate courses should be able to equip the trainees with the knowledge and skills they can apply when they leave here, be it in whatever settings they find themselves in. It's just that I feel that sometimes we tend to narrow the field of application for the students to just laboratory practicals and it can be widened so that we can also include other aspects of training. [Hellen]

The phrase, 'be it in whatever settings' suggests a wider understanding of the potential role of polytechnic education, beyond the conventional view (i.e. the employment-related perspective). It proposes a more holistic approach about the extent of VET and connects well with 'life-wide' aspects of learning. This slightly broader view of polytechnic education is suggestive of a broader lifelong learning approach.

To summarise, each of these comments provides variations in replies that focused on the notion of 'widening aspects' of VET. Generically, these views relate to ideas that seek understanding on the dual purpose of providing VET. The underlying assumptions within this comment challenges the scope of current focus on VET and include aspects compatible to lifelong learning.

#### The employment-related perspective

In the interviews there are other instances (i.e. in more than half of the interview data), where limited views are offered about the current purpose of VET. These views represent a more direct and conventional way of thinking about VET with less emphasis given to ideas that may promote discussions on lifelong learning.

Such a view is illustrated in the first quote and is prevalent in most of the interview data.

Training at polytechnic is basically offered for tradespersons who eventually become supervisors and mid-level managers in the industry. We provide basic education and training between the basic skill levels, the apprentice level, the tradesperson and the technician level. [Tony]

The compartmentalised view of education and training is evident in this data extract. VET is categorised as a priority to develop vocation-specific skills. Moreover, the role of polytechnic is contextualised explicitly in terms of training that facilitates job-entry requirements. This way of thinking may not be helpful in developing a more holistic lifelong learning culture but reinforces the prevalent notion of VET solely associated with specific workplace learning.

Even more explicitly, the skill-employment perspective is given more priority by Rex. He is a head of department but has spent fewer years of service in comparison to other interviewees.

What polytechnic is trying to do is teach the students in such a way that they are able to graduate and find jobs in the industry. Not to train students here to go to other higher learning institutions then to the industries but straight after studies to find employment in the industries. [Rex]

A more direct pathway of VET towards immediate employment is illustrated in this response. The language again indicates a very strong view about the role of polytechnic education in facilitating job entry requirements for graduates. This remark represents a strong functionalist view of education and training and holds little promise for an integrated culture of lifelong learning.

The last comment in this sub-section further promotes a similar way of thinking but offers a slightly different focus.

Technically we started off with 'hands-on training' but with increased demands from the industry we were required to offer management programmes to equip our graduates with management skills. It is actually the industries that influenced us to offer these programmes.

[Steven]

This interviewee categorically identifies the role of polytechnic as meeting industry expectations in VET. Implicit within this language is an education and training system that pursues close relation to employment and career opportunities for learners.

#### Summary

The findings under this sub-section indicate a tendency by interviewees to construct their educational concerns around a strong focus on the economic functions of tertiary education. The predominant perspective is that the role of polytechnic is to prepare students for VET that facilitates job entry requirements. However, it was also noted within this dominant paradigm that there were suggestions of other beliefs about broader values of tertiary education. These views suggest a potential for developing a climate for lifelong learning, though they were far less evident than the dominant paradigm of vocational training for employment.

#### Participants' views about the changing context of the polytechnic

This section examines some of the values and assumptions that are expressed explicitly or implicitly in comments made by interviewees. As seen in the previous section, diverse views and beliefs about the present and potential roles of a polytechnic were identified. They also help to illuminate understanding of the teaching and learning climate and can also assist in answering the research question about the potential for lifelong learning at the PNG polytechnic.

Moreover, in looking at the broader values and beliefs about education that emerged from the interviews, the belief that the primary purpose of VET for employment related opportunities is still dominant. The majority of the data in this group of extracts include terminology that reinforced the notion of a strong instrumentalist strand in the thinking of polytechnic staff. Examples include interviewees' tendency to frame educational concerns in terms of widening

aspects of VET and in improvement in academic programme structures. Another prevalent theme that emerged was diverted towards existing programme structures. This concern was dominant and was expressed by ten out of the twelve interviewees. Three quotes are given of which the first speaks strongly to this idea.

We have not really introduced new programmes but in terms of the plans for producing new programmes have not been addressed too seriously until now that we are looking into establishing links with the industry to address this gap. Yes there will be new programmes but will be linked to industry needs, outcomes and expectations. This is the current focus of the institution that is to acquire new skill-sets from the industry to drive our programmes. [Kevin]

As the head of the institution, Kevin stresses strongly that more effort should be invested in plans for developing new programmes. He sees the partnership between the polytechnic and the industries as crucial, in that polytechnics should accommodate industry VET requirements. His comments are relevant because polytechnics usually have strong working relationships with industries to facilitate training and potential employment routes for graduates. However, in placing emphasis on one pathway of defining VET while overlooking other potential options may have implications for wider returns of education to individuals. It must also be noted here that the employment perspective of viewing VET is prevalent in all the interviews and often presented unproblematically. The impression is of a very bounded, understanding of VET that would not be conducive to full range of possibilities within lifelong learning.

The second example given by Greg is broadly similar in perception (i.e. meeting industry standards in VET) but is somewhat different in emphasis. Greg is a former deputy director at the polytechnic and has been instrumental in contributing towards the current status of the institution.

The aim should be on quantifying what specialised training that should be conducted to meet the requirements of the industry ... so now [polytechnic] should tap into this opportunity of training. This also gives the importance of training to the institution. The tertiary

level institutions can now partner with the industry to provide those training. [Greg]

Greg strongly suggests in this quote that certain consideration should be given to identify broader aims of VET. He sees the relationship between the polytechnic and the industry as very important. His suggestion basically implies a broader view of the role by polytechnic on how it develops and implements VET opportunities (i.e. beyond the bounded view of employment related perspective). Such a view does raise the potential of VET provisions; however, it signifies a limited understanding of the notion of lifelong learning.

The third quote also illustrates the employment related perspective but is more specific to the role of a polytechnic. The interviewee is a head of department, has over ten years of service and locates his comments according to his discipline of practice.

The industry is playing a big role, and they send potential graduates to [polytechnic], but [polytechnic] must identify the appropriate skills and training for that particular sector. What if the industry wants a certain type of skill training? That is where they will step in and push [polytechnic] to develop these programmes to meet their demands. [Polytechnic] needs to create more new programmes but it again depends on how well they can communicate with the industry to develop these programmes. [Steven]

The interviewee makes clear in this statement, the significance of the 'in-service' role of polytechnic in providing VET. He assumes that partnerships with industries are crucial, and that the polytechnic should accommodate industry skill requirements to promote aspects of VET. Such a suggestion has the possibility of raising standards of VET. In particular, the view that sees VET as a medium to facilitate, vocational-specific skills over a lifetime seems of less importance.

The very detailed suggestions offered by these interviewees indicate a view of education as a set of systems and products and does not touch on the less utilitarian components of learning values implicit within the conception of lifelong learning.

#### Other views of VET

Also evident within the data were opposing views, concerning the extent of VET within the tertiary education sector, including a polytechnic. These comments were made by a few of the interviewees. Martin, a deputy director at the institution made this comment. He said:

In my point of view the training to date is being limited in a sense that it does not allow for other skills areas to be covered because of policy issues [i.e. governmental level]. With the current trend in development that the country has come through there are some areas where the skills are not provided. [Martin]

This response represents the strongest critique among the twelve interviews. It directly challenges existing views on the prevailing skills focus of polytechnic education within the PNG tertiary education sector. Hints of these limitations are suggested by other interviewees, but the above response specifically challenges a normative perspective prevalent within the tertiary education framework and does have policy implications on the role of polytechnic in promoting this agenda. These policy implications may have a certain bearing on the role of the PNG TVET sector in coordinating and implementing all aspects of VET. Implicit within this language is a strong suggestion that this polytechnic needs to widen aspects of VET.

Another comment relates to the emphasis on VET:

The extent to which training is directed towards formal employment is well established but it does not necessarily mean there are employment opportunities for every graduate. [Frank]

This response literally questions the extent and purpose of offering VET in an environment of structured unemployment. Frank is hinting at the gap between institutions and VET and the needs for job markets. This issue is not only pertinent to PNG Polytechnic but is a general concern worldwide. He has raised a valid point, in that he questions the role of the industry to potentially accommodate all graduates. Consequently, this way of thinking also questions the

role of polytechnic, in continuing to produce graduates for whom employment is not assured.

A third quote, however, questions the limitations underpinning the focus of VET. It states:

Learning to me is not simply about providing the basic knowledge and skills that is needed but to really offer a type of training that meets industry requirements as well as giving the opportunity to the learner that they get satisfaction out of the learning they pay for. [Mona]

The suggestion made by this interviewee about providing VET offers a different view from the accepted norm (i.e. the skill-employment perspective). The use of the word 'satisfaction' within the quote redirects attention to the individual learning needs of the learner. In fact, a diverse group of learners may access learning at one particular time and this remark hints at a broader view about the purpose of VET at the polytechnic.

For some interviewees, their belief about the role of polytechnic was centred more on possibilities for widening aspects of VET. Tony, a section head and senior lecturer in the metal trades, had this to say:

I believe there are specific areas of training that can be made available at the institution to benefit new categories of learners. [Tony]

In making this comment Tony explicitly relates to specific areas of VET that could be expanded in his discipline of practice. He sees the role of this polytechnic as one that should accommodate wider aspects of VET. He also uses the phrase 'benefit new categories of learners'. In here he is relating to those learners who may want to access basic life-skills training (e.g. small engines repair). The second point implies a role by a polytechnic to accommodate learner diversity within its VET model. Combined together, this view suggests a broader role for the polytechnic in providing VET to a more diversified student body.

Another perspective on widening aspects of VET is given by Susie. She is a senior lecturer in engineering and is one of four interviewees who demonstrate a wider understanding about issues concerning VET within polytechnic. She states:

...we need to accredit and affiliate our programmes with universities and other tertiary institutions. This would improve the quality of the programmes we offer plus provide access and pathways for students to enter and exit the educational programmes they desire. [Susie]

In this response, the interviewee explicitly identifies a pathway that provides options for the polytechnic to facilitate processes that would contribute towards improving the quality of its training programmes. The specific use of terminologies such as 'access and pathways' suggests thinking that links well with alternatives that emerge within the concept of lifelong learning, namely the issue of social inclusion. Other alternatives such as open entry and exit points is what most institutions (including polytechnics) desire to achieve but is most often not achieved in practice. The quote indicates the articulation of polytechnic programmes with other providers, primarily universities. It links with discussions on trusties of learning.

The next quote by Tracy also illustrates views on widening aspects of VET but offers a slightly different perspective. She is senior lecturer in business studies.

We need a new way of thinking about how to provide quality education...to address learning needs of all groups of learners and we also need our institution to change to accommodate that fact. [Tracy]

Evident in this comment is a suggestion for the polytechnic to rethink its role in VET. It suggests a pathway for the polytechnic to change and adapt to changing learning demands of new categories of learners. This language again links well with discussions on lifelong learning which focus on the diversification of adult learners.

#### Summary

This sub-section presented interviewees' beliefs on the role of polytechnic in providing VET within the tertiary education sector. The comments ranged from those perspectives that have few links to the idea of lifelong to those beliefs that connected more explicitly. For example, views on 'open entry and exit points' relate to widening access for adult learners. It links well with social perspectives

of lifelong learning. It can also be seen that many of the interviewees tended to reconstruct their educational concerns around a strong instrumentalist view of education and training. Although most of these comments did not connect overtly with the research question, other comments included those views where different domains of lifelong learning were contemplated.

# Category Two: Perceptions on existing barriers and proposals for change at the polytechnic

# **Existing barriers**

This section focusses on interviewees' perception of the current state of VET within the PNG Polytechnic and what they see as important changes that would potentially contribute towards an improved teaching and learning environment. The basis of thinking uncovered here can help to enhance a general understanding of contextual factors (i.e. situations impinging on polytechnic) and the institution's potential for enabling a culture of lifelong learning.

In the interview data, numerous comments about resource discrepancies and management issues were noted. This contextual understanding again draws attention to a learning environment where people by necessity focussed more on the procedural needs of VET and the concept of lifelong learning may seem remote. This section is split into subsections to develop further understanding of this theme.

Of particular interest under this theme is the view that the prevalence of power structures within the PNG tertiary education sector impinges on developmental progress of the polytechnic. In his capacity as the deputy director, Martin sees bureaucratic processes as a major barrier to progress at the polytechnic. He said:

We need new policy documents to define the polytechnic status the institution has. There is not much progress in the institution as a result of the name change because there is not much development in terms of physical infrastructure, the buildings, the training equipment, staff qualification upgrade and financial support to push our plans through.

I think the responsibility of coming up with policy documents should be a shared responsibility between [polytechnic], the TVET division of education and the Office of Higher Education in the country. [Martin]

This interviewee specifically identifies in part, the policy concern as detrimental to the mandated role of polytechnics in providing VET. The policy narrative is important to document because it contextualises other related factors such as resourcing (e.g. infrastructure development, staff development and funding issues). In identifying this issue, he challenges the policy gap and the need for policy development that would possibly redefine the mandated role of the polytechnic. Implicit within this comment is a reference to the complex relationship of key players within the PNG tertiary education sector. Their influence on policy and practice has wider implications for the role of a polytechnic.

Similarly, the director of the institution expands on the policy confusion by saying:

...there has to be a decision at the top level to amend the existing education act to recognise the polytechnic educational concept. I have been looking at the education act and it is alarming to me to realise that the act only covers technical and business colleges and no mention of polytechnics. So my question; is the polytechnic legally operating as an education provider? [Kevin]

The narrative suggests a major problem of policy development that is potentially important to accommodate; he justifies lack of developmental progress in VET within the polytechnic as an outcome of policy ineffectiveness. The presence of this macro-level barrier has serious implications for development and implementation of VET at the polytechnic. This view is important to document because it is pointing to a perceived lack of mission for PNG Polytechnic.

# **Management issues**

Another sub-section that is of interest concerns management issues. Interviewees' comments identify a common area of dissatisfaction for a number of these

interviewees. The recurrent use of the term 'not enough' illustrates a climate of dissatisfaction, connected to broader educational issues that are thought to hinder the progress of VET within PNG Polytechnic. It is also noted that the interviewees were preoccupied with basic needs of providing VET. There was not enough space for thinking on other kinds of visions for VET that applied to other functions of the institution.

In some cases, interviewees questioned the diplomacy and concessions extended within the management practice. For example, in terms of development plans, Steven said:

I have not seen any initiative shown by the institution to involve local industries in its development plans. I think the administration is not doing enough. The individual department can initiate dialogue with industries but I think the administration should take the lead, I think they are not doing enough to realise the importance of what this can have on the many challenges the institution is facing. [Steven]

In this response, considerations are given to the nature of working partnership polytechnics can foster with relevant stakeholders (e.g. the industries). However, implicit within this language is a compartmentalised view of how management responsibilities operate. The use of the phrase 'not doing enough' suggests liability on the part of management and governance. Even so, this interviewee constructed his belief on what he sees as lacking in terms of management practice.

Those who found the management process as static specifically mentioned their desire to see more effort invested in this process. For example, Sarah said:

We are basically aware of what needs to be done but we are not doing enough to achieve these goals in making our educational programmes more accessible to more people who want to get the type of training they need. [Sarah]

The phrase 'not doing enough' is explicitly used to describe the lack of progress to make pathways of VET more favourable to a wider selection of people. It implies a lack of vision by the management to expand options of VET beyond traditional norms.

## The teaching and learning environment

Other comments were made in relation to this sub-theme. The individual responses by interviewees were usually focussed on how to broaden aspects of teaching and learning practices. Rex, a recently appointed head of department said:

If we are going to meet the requirements of the PNGNQF then we need ... skills oriented training. We cannot say a student is competent in a particular area unless we able to measure the particular skills set that individual can demonstrate by engaging with the given task. That person can be competent in theory but what about the practical aspects of their training. Where is the balance? ...we are not doing enough of that at the moment ... more attention should be given to promoting practical aspects of VET. [Rex]

The language in this response is more specific to the extent of knowledge and skills that is delivered through different modes of teaching and learning practices. The phrase 'not doing enough' is clearly used to express dissatisfaction over the scope of practical experience learners are exposed to within different modes of learning. The underlying assumption points to the 'theory practice divide' that entails different notions of pedagogy. This comment is rather surprising given the usual focus of polytechnic training on the direct application of experience.

In following a similar line of thinking Mona said:

We need to diversify our teaching programmes to cater for students who need to upgrade their skills to continue or to cater for those in the industry or the community who need specific skills or training. I think we are not doing enough. [Mona]

This interviewee precisely identifies a core element of thinking that extends the view expressed by Rex. The explicit use of the phrase "not doing enough' links back to the word 'diversify' which in this quote reinforced the need to diversify the curriculum in accord with wider range of students.

In expanding this view, Susie found the existing education structure within the polytechnic to be satisfactory but said:

...we have a good structure and foundation for the different disciplines we have in the institution but we are not doing enough to create more learning opportunities for our learners...we need to take a holistic approach and be proactive in addressing these issues. [Susie]

In this quote, the phrase 'not doing enough' is linked to this interviewee's dissatisfaction over barriers that impact on wider aspects of VET. Her selective uses of the phrase 'create more learning opportunities' suggests limitations concerning existing structures of professional training inside polytechnic. She also acknowledges that greater proactivity is required by the polytechnic in terms of innovation.

# **Professional development of students**

Other interviewees focussed their concern on professional development of students. They saw this aspect of VET as lacking in practice. This view was presented by some of the interviewees. On this idea, Martin said:

I think professional development [of students] should be promoted but we are not doing enough in our teaching and learning practices. It should be a core component of our curriculum-practice...the industry expects professional conduct from its employees so graduates must be equipped with such skills. [Martin]

Martin thinks 'professional development' should be a core component of teaching and learning and for it to be readily implemented through the curriculum. He sees professional development as specific to certain trades and stresses the need for it to be taught professionally, so that students as well as teachers can remain relevant to their discipline of practice (i.e. meeting industry expectation). A key aspect in thinking about the employment related features of VET.

# A similar view is raised by Sarah:

I don't think professional development within polytechnic is enforced. The rigid programmes and assessment regulations have been set, learners have to comply with this requirement...learners have to meet these standards or they are out of the system. There is no room for

developing individual skills for learners that would sustain them in their lives after they graduate. [Sarah]

Sarah expresses a strong level of dissatisfaction about the structure of training and its inflexibility. She sees lack of professional development of students as linked to rigid structures of subject knowledge and less emphasis placed on developing generic skills in individuals that would help them negotiate life after school. This view is more about self-directedness in learning among graduates. Underlying this comment is a strong functionalist view of education and training that overlooks life-wide benefits of VET.

# Summary

It can be seen from these examples that interviewees expressed concerns that were primarily related to poor performance of the polytechnic. Their concerns on bureaucratic processes and management shortcomings is worthy of note because of implications this may have on cultivating a culture of lifelong learning within polytechnic and the wider tertiary education sector. Also relevant were their views on resource limitations and barriers imping upon a lack of progress in addressing concerns relating to academic programmes structures and pedagogical practices. Their views may be reflective of a strong mechanistic view of education and training. However, this view can help us to contextualise a general understanding of the nature of VET within the polytechnic and the potential barriers to lifelong learning.

#### **Proposals for improvement**

As with the previous section which outlines interviewees' dissatisfaction over the general performance of the polytechnic, the comments within this segment are presented to shed light on other contextual factors related to the potential of the polytechnic in establishing a lifelong learning culture. It will be seen that interviewees' perceptions of a polytechnic and the ideas they proposed for improvement diverged widely based on their personal experiences and beliefs. All of those interviewed believed that certain aspects of education and training at the polytechnic should change. Dominant within this theme were suggestions and

proposals relating to the structure of the existing curriculum. Interviewees' comments are presented from those who prescribe a strong instrumentalist view of VET to those who have alternative ideas of polytechnic education and its relationship to lifelong learning.

Most of the comments indicate certain levels of discontent by interviewees about the overall performance and direction of the polytechnic in responding to changing stakeholders' demands of education and skill training. Steven, a tradesman and senior academic by profession, proposed that the polytechnic should reassess the nature of its programme delivery according to specific demands. He said:

Some individuals have lower qualification levels and would like to take up study to further their careers. The question is what type of programmes can [polytechnic] create...that is tailored toward meeting specific academic needs of that particular person or group. Where does this start? We need to sit down and assess our programmes and have them tailored in certain ways to meet specific needs of learners. [Steven]

The use of a question in the third sentence suggests dissatisfaction by this interviewee. He sees the polytechnic as being non-responsive to the changing landscape of education and skills training. The underlying assumption here is that learners need be equipped to meet the changing demands of the labour market, meaning that traditional approaches to education and training need to be transformed to accommodate different aspects of lifelong learning.

Another comment by Tracy reiterates a similar view but she expands her comments to include wider proposals on how a polytechnic should respond to change. Tracy is a section head of the language and communication discipline. She said:

...we can have bridging programmes to help upgrade qualifications for drop-outs and second chance learners...we can have specific programmes that are tailored to industry needs...because we have a good structural foundation for our academic programmes. But in order

to achieve that we need to include other stakeholders like the government through TVET & OHE, the industry and the wider community in close consultations to come up with new innovative ideas to address this issue. [Tracy]

Tracy's proposal for using network links to develop better learning pathways is important. She suggests a different approach to addressing the need for restructuring, linked to different modes of VET. Implicit within the quote are suggestions for diversification of academic programmes to meet educational needs of diverse individuals and communities. Her justification for raising particular standards of VET provisions may have some bearing on the provision of learning pathways, possibly through greater accreditation of academic programmes within the polytechnic.

Another comment by Mona indicated potential benefits for fostering networks. She is a senior lecturer in the engineering field. She said:

We need to link with other stakeholders like lower and higher tertiary institutions, the industry, government organisations and the community to find ways on how we can really improve the structure of our programmes. We want to provide quality education but how can we do that? [Mona]

It seems her concern is directed towards the lack of vision and urgency by the polytechnic to address deficiencies in critical aspects of VET. Her proposal for change is beneficial to the polytechnic and involves greater community engagement by the institution with current and potential stakeholders.

#### **Curriculum development**

Other perspectives were also offered by interviewees. Their concerns were more specific to a curriculum narrative. Five out of the twelve interviewees did made comments that related to this area. For example, Susie said:

Revising our existing curriculum will be a key factor. We need more input from our stakeholders like the government through TVET, the industry...other tertiary institutions and also the wider community to address this problem. [Susie]

Again, as for Mona, the importance of stakeholder involvement in curriculum development is emphasised. The need to revise the curriculum is also prevalent in other interview data and represents a key feature of thinking about change with respect to the current profiles of VET programmes. Susie's proposal for including wider groups for consultation processes is quite promising, in that it widens the scope in which this particular issue (revising curriculum) can be addressed and recognises options (e.g. networking) that are significant from a lifelong learning perspective.

The curriculum narrative is also expanded in the next quote:

...we must create through the curriculum equal opportunities for informal employment. For example, in the Applied Science field we are not providing some options for management training which I think it is an important for VET. [Frank]

In this response, the interviewee is more specific about components of skill training that are delivered through the curriculum. Implicit within this statement is an emphasis to maintain a balance as to how aspects of skills training are expanded and delivered through practice. While this thinking does have some significance in improving aspects of VET, it is still tied to the instrumentalist view of education and training.

Also noted, is another suggestion by Tony. He said:

I think the main problem is lack of vision to really revise or develop a new curriculum structure for the polytechnic. Our curriculum is outdated and needs to be restructured to meet current demands in education and training as well as meeting the requirements of the industry. [Tony]

Tony's proposal is specific to the polytechnic case. In stressing the need for revising the curriculum, he particularly identifies wider benefits of this process. That is, the changing demands of society and its implications on curriculum development.

While still within the curriculum domain, the next interviewee links back to the

dual purpose of providing VET. He said:

The obvious result of getting training is for paid employment ... but

again the syllabus must be looked at properly so that it caters for paid

employment at the same time it also gives learners the skills that they

can go back to their communities and apply. [Martin]

This comment suggests the need to revise aspects of the curriculum. This

particular view on personal development by the student and its wider benefits to

community is prominent and offers a positive step forward for polytechnic in

addressing critical issues surrounding the nature of academic programmes which

have most implication for lifelong learning. The possibility of implementing such

a strategy for curriculum review, as emphasised by these interviewees, to improve

the quality of skills training is potentially useful in the enhancement of lifelong

learning opportunities in the VET context.

Summary

It can be seen in this section that interviewees' concerns were very much focussed

on the changing nature of VET and its implications for a dynamic polytechnic

education. There were variations in how interviewees constructed their comments,

and it was also quite evident that the instrumentalist view of education and

training was still dominant. However, there were other instances where

interviewees proposed suggestions that had some possibilities for developing sub-

themes of personal and community development and active citizenship related to

the notion of lifelong learning.

**Category Three: Lifelong Learning** 

Interviewees' perceptions about the potential for lifelong learning at the

polytechnic

In this section, interviewees' direct responses to the questions about lifelong

learning are presented. It highlights the dominant ideas that emerge in relation to

this theme, but also includes those views that differed from the norm. While many

79

of these comments do not necessarily constitute direct or explicit answers to understanding the concept of lifelong learning, together they constitute a complex picture of interviewees' current thinking about the concept.

Interviewees' perceptions will be presented from those responses that had least bearing on the concept of lifelong learning, to other responses that had strong links to the research question. This approach is taken to ascertain participants' understanding of the notion of lifelong learning and its implications for developing a lifelong learning culture that can be successfully used to redefine the direction of education and skill training within PNG Polytechnic.

The interview data revealed that the notion of lifelong learning is largely seen as a foreign concept in this research setting. Most of the interviewees' beliefs and assumptions were constructed more on educational concerns that connected with the primary focus of providing VET rather than on other elements of lifelong learning. Only four out of the twelve interviewees made comments that resonated well with the idea of lifelong learning. The dominant theme related to the 'lifelong aspect' of the idea of lifelong learning. The first quote illustrates this way of thinking:

Lifelong learning to me is that I will still be learning whenever I get the chance to learn. I feel that all of us in the tertiary education sector or the mainstream education sector should grasp this idea and grow with it. [Rex]

This interviewee's idea of lifelong learning is literally connected to notions of continuous learning. While his view of the definition of the word 'lifelong' holds true, he still falls short of describing other commonly accepted themes that connect well with the notion of lifelong learning. This may suggest a restricted understanding of the concept. A second quote displays a similar level of understanding:

In my opinion [polytechnic] is not actively encouraging lifelong learning but at the same time it has no discrimination between different categories of learners. [Frank]

This interviewee's understanding is centred more on one particular aspect of the notion of lifelong learning. He connects the idea of lifelong learning with the notion of maximising equal learning opportunities for all learners. This view links well with the widening participation agenda.

A final example is given to demonstrate this way of thinking:

My understanding of lifelong learning is some skills or knowledge that a person gains that will help him/her continuously in his/her life as long as they live. [Hellen]

In this response the interviewee explicitly links her understanding of lifelong learning to the 'lifelong aspect' of education and training. The use of the word 'continuously' with the phrase 'as long as they live' draws attention to the importance of learning throughout life. It can also be seen from these quotes that there were variations in emphasis and understanding on how these interviewees constructed their views. It strongly suggests that current thinking on the concept of lifelong learning is quite limited.

Other comments were also noted to illustrate this theme. For example, Sarah said:

I don't think many people in PNG understand the concept of lifelong learning and its importance to the development and economy of the country. I strongly believe that people (i.e. students', parents', and education providers') way of thinking will change if they are aware of the importance of lifelong learning, and how it contributes to the country's development and individual self-reliance. [Sarah]

The underlying assumption in the first sentence refers to the economy while the second sentence suggests connections with the notion of 'active citizenship', a key function of lifelong learning. This idea is further illustrated in the second sentence where the interviewee uses the phrase 'country's development and individual self-reliance' to identify learners as agents of their own life histories. The underlying assumption in this quote indicates that lifelong learning can simultaneously benefit both individuals and the nation's development, that is, if it operates at multiple levels.

The next quote differs in perspective but it identifies some aspects of VET within the lifelong learning framework:

So as far as lifelong learning is concerned we have tried to create those opportunities for learners who come here for training. For example, we have 'Trade-Testing' where potential candidates from the industry may come here and do practical block release courses to qualify for their national trade testing qualifications. So yes the idea of lifelong learning is embraced in our mission/vision statement. [Kevin]

This interviewee links the idea of lifelong learning to assessments, standards and accredited learning. He specifically identifies the skill-training aspect of 'tradetesting' to justify his views. Even though the expected skill-employment perspective is evident in this narrative, the idea of certifying or confirming previous and current skills and knowledge base of an individual through tradetesting programmes illuminates possibilities for aspects of lifelong learning.

The last quote differs slightly from the other two but sheds light on aspects of a climate of lifelong learning:

I think lifelong learning is a good concept because when people change their preference about what they choose to study they still can have that opportunity to select something that fits their interest. Through this process they can acquire skills and knowledge they want and can still move on in life and do other things in life that is of interest to them. [Martin]

The language within this comment illustrates the importance of individual choices in learning and learner autonomy. This line of thinking suggests a more humanistic approach to education and training by allowing for self-realisation in the individual. It has some links to the idea of 'personal fulfilment', a key component within lifelong learning.

Another response pattern is also present from the interview data. Ideas on lifelong learning are expanded to include considerations for who is responsible for its provisions. Mona states:

I think education is important because it provides new knowledge and skills ... this is what society needs. There are many changes in society, the industry and information technology and people need to learn to cope with these changes. It is the responsibility of institutions like [polytechnic] and the government to make this happen. [Mona]

The interviewee places emphasis on the need for new knowledge and skills. She suggests that individuals may change their attitude on how they construct their beliefs about the values of education and training. It is also implied that it is important to re-examine the benefits of education and training in response to the changing nature of society and its structures. The use of the word 'responsibility' in the last sentence refers to a key issue of provision and questions the polytechnic's role in VET.

The next quote identifies diverse learners in the institution but raises further questions about whose learning needs are being addressed:

I believe there are specific areas of training that can be made available at the institution to benefit new categories of learners. We have the usual groups coming in for training like school leavers and second chance learners and people from the industries who need to upgrade their qualifications but what about those groups of people who may need basic life-skills training. [Tony]

Implicit within this comment is an unmistakable reference to barriers that restrict learners from accessing educational opportunities (e.g. adult basic education). Barriers manifest themselves in many ways and it is important for the polytechnic to rethink its strategy in promoting VET.

In forwarding a similar type of response to lifelong learning Susie said:

...we need to create different learning pathways and options that are suitable to different individuals so that it gives them the opportunities to get the type of education they want. Learning never stops so we must create a learning culture that reflects the need for knowledge and skills that our modern society needs. [Susie]

In this response the use of the terms 'learning pathways' and 'learning culture' suggests a more robust way of thinking about education and training. It implies creating a learning system that centres on the learner as part of a wider social process of interactions between the learner and the institution throughout life.

# Summary

Interviewees presented varying degree of understanding on the concept of lifelong learning. For some, their suggestions indicate restricted understanding on the concept. Similar views are prevalent throughout most of the interview data. Observed data suggest a lack of a nuanced understanding on the notion of lifelong learning. For others, views on lifelong learning were more transparent.

# Other views that link to specific function of lifelong learning

This section presents other views by interviewees on related aspects of lifelong learning. This section is presented to identify other issues that are relevant to PNG Polytechnic in achieving a lifelong learning culture. It also includes pathways of thinking that are further developed in the discussion chapter.

The strongest general perception is that of interviewees' beliefs and assumptions surrounding the 'lifelong aspect' of lifelong learning. Examples include interviewees' perceptions on ideas of social inclusion and active citizenship. These comments do not provide extended descriptions of these concepts but they do represent possible pathways of thinking that are essential in reconstructing ideas for lifelong learning at the polytechnic. The next three quotes demonstrate interviewees' views on the idea of social inclusion:

I generally think [social inclusion] is not a problem here at this institution because we give equal opportunities to all groups of learners irrespective of where they come from. We allow second chance learners to get a chance to learn, people with disabilities, working class people irrespective of their age. We give more priority to females and encourage equal participation in all our curricular activities. [Mona]

In this response the interviewee literally links the idea of social inclusion to learning opportunities for all learners irrespective of class, gender or disability. Interestingly, the narrative also indicates purported nonexistence of issues of social inclusion. However this way of thinking may be problematic due to unavailability of substantive research data within the local setting to ascertain that fact. Measures to improve social exclusion usually extend beyond this limited view to include the changing context of social and economic realities of education.

The next quote is more specific to the inclusion of females in male dominated trade programmes. Tony states:

...we are doing a good job in promoting gender equality in our programme because we give priority to females to take up study because of the unbalanced ratio of males to females in our programmes [i.e. metal trades]. However, I would say that our society also influences the way we think about females in jobs dominated by males and this has an effect on the number of female students who are actually interested in taking metal trade studies. [Tony]

This interviewee specifically links the notion of social inclusion to the importance of promoting gender equality in male dominated trades. However, the narrative in the second sentence illustrates the existence of barriers that will be discussed further in the discussion chapter.

The last quote identifies another challenge that can be used to collate ideas on the notion of social inclusion. The quote states:

I also think that sometimes we give more enrolment privileges to certain regions of the country and we block out the others. [Susie]

This way of thinking singles out an important aspect of thinking about the changing nature of social culture within learning institutions like the polytechnic. The underlying language implies that as a consequence of this reality, the polytechnic should adopt strategies that increase participation rates of different categories of learners.

#### Views on active citizenship

Another aspect relates to interviewees' perceptions on active citizenship. In trying to relate to this aspect of lifelong learning, interviewees based their comments on basic human qualities and how these human challenges are reflected in their workplace and the community. Three examples are used to demonstrate this idea. The first comment addresses this view:

The qualities of being a good role model in the community always reflects the family background of that person, the community that person lives in, and most importantly the type of work experience and education exposure that person has gained. All these factors help create a responsible and active person in the workplace or a community that person lives in. [Susie]

In this response, the use of the term 'role model' locates the individual learner within a framework that includes the individual, the learning organisation and wider society. This aspect of thinking about lifelong learning may be crucial for a polytechnic. It provides more alternatives for discussion on the function of a polytechnic.

The importance of recognising both internal and external dynamics of viewing education and training is further mentioned in the next quote:

We would like to see our students successfully graduate and become able citizens in their respective communities so we need to have internal and external programmes to really promote this. Our internal programmes may include both academic and social activities that promote this concept and we need links with the outside community to provide support and advice on skills and trades that are needed. [Tracy]

The use of the phrase 'internal and external programmes' within this quote suggests links to the notion of interconnectedness of learning structures within the tertiary education sector and community engagement. This may include the wider community. Such a framework for lifelong learning implies that institutions such as polytechnic could rethink their role in expanding its learning structures and

relationships. Additionally, Tracy identifies that learning within the polytechnic continue into varied communities.

The last quote is like a summary of the previous two comments:

What is needed is for the institution to come up with an active strategy to address this issue [active citizens] plus others that are badly needed to really address everything that relates to how we provide education and training in the institution. [Mona]

This interviewee specifically calls for the polytechnic to reorganise its training focus. Implicit within this language is an indication for the polytechnic to develop an active strategy for addressing implications for the idea of 'active citizenship' within its educational commitments.

## Views on community engagement

Community engagement is an important element for most functions of lifelong learning. The following quotes represent interviewees' views on the idea of community engagement by students and how this aspect of teaching and learning is beneficial to learners. For example, Martin said:

I would like to see more community engagement by students within the community. It can be done as part of the students' training. For example students can complete an applied science practical in producing soap from common ingredients that is available and this idea can be extended to the community by the students as part of their learning. The end result is we create good network and understanding with the community. [Martin]

This way of thinking about VET can be extended to equip learners with experience and knowledge that is productive and meaningful to their individual careers and to communities simultaneously. This assumption of VET may make education more assessable; usually an important ingredient to motivate learners in terms of education and training. It also suggests a mechanism by which education and training within the polytechnic can become more visible to the wider community.

The next interviewee promotes a similar view but extends his comments to include ideas that block this process:

The Tourism & Hospitality Department is the only department that actively promotes community engagement by students. For other departments we are not encouraging or advocating for community engagement by students. But I think we should encourage this process because community engagement is good in many ways for the institution. The community has expectations on the institution as a [learning] community. [Steven]

In this response, Steven recognises the lack of focus by the polytechnic in promoting a community engagement perspective within VET. However, he goes further to identify an element related to social aspects of education and training. This way of thinking may promote learning as a means to crossing different sectors within the community.

The last comment endorses the same view:

I do not think there is much engagement by students with the community. I have dreams for such training for our students. That is to engage this department to go and do things in the community. While teaching or providing a service within the community the students in turn learn from that engagement in the community. [Hellen]

Hellen strongly endorses polytechnic and community collaboration as win-win solution for both parties. It implies a genuine concern by this interviewee to see community engagement promoted within teaching and learning practices at polytechnic.

# **Conclusion of chapter**

The findings in this chapter show that fewer than half of the interviewees displayed a certain degree of understanding that connected explicitly with different aspects of lifelong learning. The inability of the interviewees to frame educational concerns around facets of lifelong learning was a significant factor in

this section. Yet there were some illuminating comments on different aspects of lifelong learning.

While the interview process was seen by the respondents as an opportunity to voice their education concerns, only a handful had contemplated ideas that directly addressed the research question. Most comments related to skills and career development of adult learners. In addition the way in which respondents conceptualised their views on the general performance of the polytechnic also influenced the outcome. There was little evidence of a profound understanding by interviewees of the notion of lifelong learning. The main features of the findings will be discussed in the next chapter.

# Introduction

This chapter analyses the findings with regard to participants' beliefs and assumptions on the purpose of education and training within the polytechnic. The aim of this discussion is to synthesise, analyse and compare these findings with the main themes from the literature review to determine the extent to which the polytechnic can achieve a lifelong learning culture. It is important to note that the aim of this study is to gain understanding and insight of the potential for a lifelong learning culture at the polytechnic from the perspective of participants concerned. Moreover, the themes that emerged from the findings are discussed alongside themes from documentary data plus major theoretical insights which have arisen in the literature. This chapter will begin by analysing views on the purpose for providing polytechnic education and training plus others that follow.

# The purposes of the polytechnic education within the tertiary education sector

...[although] early moves in the direction of the lifelong learning scenario were driven by concerns with upgrading skills and meeting qualification targets, the wider agenda of enhancing quality of life both personally and in the community suggests the need for a broader set of learning options. These need to build on the best traditions of [vocational] education emphasising accessibility and learner-centeredness. (Feinstein & Hammond, 2004, p. 218)

The need for identifying 'best practices' for the knowledge-based economy has become a focal point for governmental intervention in learning institutions (ibid). Of the ideas that emerged under this theme, the predominant perspective is that the purpose of polytechnic education is to primarily serve economic ends. Hence, the strong emphasis on training for work, vocational skills and employability,

rather than a broader view of adult education for social and or individual development. Studies concerning the role of post-compulsory education (Schuetze & Casey, 2006; Schuetze & Slowey, 2012; Gallacher & Osborne, 2005) have also revealed a tendency by nation states to concentrate exclusively upon work-related aspects of education and training, rather than life-worlds of a society; at least in their approaches within policy domains. This focus is clearly the case for the polytechnic, because the existing learning culture is held responsive to the PNG Government's policy for investing in VET to create a high-wage/high skilled labour market (NDOE, 2005).

This study has demonstrated that the distinctive features of education and training at the polytechnic have the potential to promote its ability to support broader aims of lifelong learning as well as meeting the government's education policy for upgrading skills and meeting qualification targets. However, Field (2002) argues that policy makers often seem uncertain over the best means of achieving this desirable goal. This view is in part described by the deputy director of the institution in this comment.

In my point of view the training [i.e. VET] to date is being limited in a sense that it does not allow for other skills areas to be covered because of policy issues [i.e. at the governmental level]. With the current trend in development that the country has come through there are some areas where the skills are not provided.

This critique directly challenges the normative perspective of skill training that is prevalent within the PNG tertiary education framework. It explicitly identifies the policy-gap that continuously undermines future developments in VET. Given the growing importance of knowledge and skills in the production of goods and services, education policy makers need to monitor as accurately as possible the development trends pertaining to industry and technology developments (OECD, 1999). In this context, the polytechnic needs to rethink the purpose of VET and the institution's changing status in the knowledge economy. The potential for developing both horizontal and vertical learning pathways that advance career mobility and drive social change is a feasible option for the polytechnic (see Schuetze & Casey, 2006). Such a model has the potential to deliver skills

development in ways that are efficient and fit for purpose to meet the needs of both individuals and the economy.

Tuschling and Engemann (2006) report that tertiary institutions such as the polytechnic who offer short-cycle VET programmes should consider adapting their learning culture to the demands of more open, flexible and democratic learning systems. The new learning culture needs to build on the best traditions of vocational education that emphasises accessibility and learner centeredness (Feinstein & Hammond, 2004). As the UNESCO (1996) report states:

Not only must it adapt to changes in the nature of work, but it must also constitute a continuous process of forming whole human beings their knowledge and aptitudes, as well as the critical faculty and the ability to act. It should enable people to develop awareness of themselves and their environment and encourage them to play their social role at work and in the community. (p.20)

The UNESCO report points to valid responses to the problems of the mismatch between the supply and demand of education provisions that come from a more flexible system that allows greater curriculum diversity and builds bridges between different types of education (e.g. formal, non-formal or informal) or between work life and lifelong learning. As reported in this study, such flexibility will reduce system wide failure to accommodate learner diversity and tremendous wastage of human potential resulting from it. For all these reasons, it seems that the concept of tertiary education that is pursued throughout life, with all its advantages in terms of flexibility, diversity and availability at different times and in different places, should command wide support (ibid). Based on this understanding it can be argued that there is a need for the polytechnic to broaden the purpose of VET under a framework of lifelong learning. A potential way to expand this understanding is to analyse the dual perspective of skill training that emerged from the findings.

# The dual purpose of VET

The dual perspective of VET emerged in part as a response by interviewees to differentiate between the accepted standard for preparing graduates for formal employment opportunities as compared to other provisions that can potentially improve the wellbeing of the individual in the non-formal sector (e.g. self-employment opportunities). A few commentators held views that expanded beyond the strong instrumentalist view of VET. The following example is given by a senior lecturer in science who had strong views about this idea:

The training provided [i.e. within the polytechnic] is focussed towards meeting industry requirements. Meaning that, the training provided in this sector is geared towards meeting the requirement of formal employment. There is minimum focus on training that is geared towards self-employment.

This dual perspective that differentiates between VET as a pathway to formal employment and the other that promotes non-formal employment opportunities implies a broader view about the role of polytechnic education and hints at possibilities for a broader lifelong learning approach. This broader view of skills training accommodates both the economic imperative and social aspects of education and training, both, equally important in a learning society. This approach has a strong focus on the centrality of the learner and shifts the attention from institutional arrangements for providing VET to the demand side of meeting the learner's needs. The need to satisfy individual learning needs of learners becomes a priority and the institution is required to harness its resources to satisfy this course. On this issue, Wyn (2007) asserts that learners are now more aware that the gaining of educational credentials does not guarantee them a secure pathway through life, and that they must actively construct education and employment biographies that are both attractive and satisfactory to their individual needs and to the labour market. A senior lecturer in arts made a comment that emphasises this view:

The programmes offered in [polytechnic] are fixed and structured towards high academic achievement and qualification. Students are expected to study hard to gain good marks to successfully complete their programmes. Specific individual needs for personal development are not catered for since the programmes or courses offered are standardized and benchmarked ... to meet demands for labour market in the industry in trades and skilled manpower.

The mention of 'individual needs' and 'personal development' suggests a more comprehensive way of thinking about the purpose of providing VET. It strongly suggests a view that promotes learner centeredness. However, Leader (2003) argues that "the social and economic consequence of this trend underpins a progressive and extensive change in the development of learning societies and access to lifelong learning opportunities" (p.366). Leader's argument is consistent with educational practices that promote the centrality of the learner. This argument has serious implications on how the polytechnic accommodates this dual perspective within its training plans. Most government policies on this issue are based in part on the premises that education and training can solve society's problems, but the consequence of this political arrangement with higher learning institutions like the polytehnic will continue to impact on wider returns of tertiary education to individuals and to society.

Moreover, the reality that exists within the polytechnic is in part a reflection of the broader political arrangement that defines its purpose as a public institution. The PNG Government's *Vision 2050* and the *Development Strategic Plan* (DSP) along with the *National Higher Education Plan* and the *Human Resources Development Strategy 2020* all emphasise the importance of developing the overall skill capacity of the PNG work force (NDOE, 2005). These policy frameworks underpin a strong view of the industry-skill perspective of tertiary education and training in PNG.

# The employment related perspective

The employment related perspective of VET (e.g. facilitating VET for formal employment) is a dominant theme in the findings (i.e. more than half of all interviewees' data). These views represent a more direct way of thinking about VET with less emphasis given to ideas that promote discussions on lifelong learning. An example of this view is given by a recently appointed head of department:

What polytechnic is trying to do is teach the students in such a way that they are able to graduate and find jobs in the industry. Not to train students here to go to other higher learning institutions then to the industries, but straight after studies to find employment in the industries.

The comment indicates a strong view about the role of polytechnic education in facilitating job entry requirements for graduates. This remark represents a strong functionalist view of education and training and holds little promise for an integrated culture of lifelong learning. The dominance of this economic rationale underpins the focus of VET within the polytechnic, based largely, on the PNG Technical and Vocational Training (TVET) Division policy agenda that drives VET provisions. The TVET policy is guided by the PNG Government's *Medium Term Development Strategy 2005-2010*, which states:

The Medium Term Development Strategy (MTDS) articulates an overarching development strategy which provides a framework for prioritising the Government's expenditure programme. It is based on the Government's Programme for Recovery and Development, which comprises good governance; export-driven economic growth; and rural development, poverty reduction and empowerment through human resource development. (NDOE, 2005, p.3)

This policy framework identifies economic and government priorities and highlights the key role of TVET in human resource development within the tertiary education sector. The "dominance of this economic rationale presents a stark contrast" to strategies of lifelong learning that are defined by a democratic

rationale for reforming the front-end based education system (Schuetze & Casey, 2006, p.282). Whilst the TVET policy framework recognises the need for human resource development it is driven on the other hand by the government's economic agenda to promote a strong employment related perspective in terms of VET provisions within the tertiary education sector. It can be argued that the policy drive is to generally recognise the need for adult learners (i.e. students and workers alike) to acquire training for career development in response to the government's agenda for promoting economic growth. This model of skills training advocates for 'human capital development' which has "strong links to work related training and skills development to meet the needs of economy and the industry for a qualified, flexible and adaptable work force" (Schuetze & Casey, 2006, p.283)

This model of VET largely contrasts with the "emancipatory or social justice model which pushes the notion of equality of opportunity and life chances through education in a democratic society" that promotes lifelong learning for all (ibid, p.282). The polytechnic needs to redefine its purpose in providing VET if it is committed to its mission statement to promote the "development of individuals in various life skills through quality and relevant educational programmes" (NPIPNG, 2012, p.7). However, the dramatic increase in admission rates and the changing context of education and training at the polytechnic in terms of its structure, purpose, social and economic roles, have resulted in diversity in student population who now attend training. This has placed greater strain on the function of the polytechnic in providing skills training.

# The changing context of polytechnic education

The findings under this theme generally relate to the changing context of education and training at the polytechnic. They include suggestions for changing the structure and nature of the training programmes offered at the institution. The findings indicate that changes experienced at the institution are a response to the change of status of the polytechnic (i.e. from a technical college to a polytechnic) plus the increase in admission rates at the institution. An example of this view is given by a senior lecturer in arts:

We need a new way of thinking about how to provide quality education...to address learning needs of all groups of learners and we also need our institution to change to accommodate that fact.

The comment identifies the need to change the nature of education and training at the polytechnic. It also suggests a pathway for the polytechnic to change and adapt to the changing demands of new categories of learners.

A report in the polytechnic's *Five Year Infrastructure Development Plan* also indicates that the admission rate has doubled over the last ten years. Around half of the student population are mainstream school leavers and are sponsored by the Government's Tertiary Education Assistance Scholarship (TESAS); the majority of the other half are self-sponsored, and about a tenth of the student population are corporate sponsored students (i.e. students sponsored by big firms).Part time students make up a very small percentage (NPIPNG, 2012). The changing context of the polytechnic is also illustrated in the PNG TVET Needs Analysis Study:

NPIPNG is the only Polytechnic Institute formally established at this stage. It has the largest enrolment and has the most diverse range of courses (20 in total). ...community expectations in terms of the polytechnic status are already quite high. Specifically there is an expectation of new courses at diploma and degree levels and an upgrade of facilities, curriculum and staff qualifications. The management and council of the College feels it is not adequately prepared to respond to these stakeholder expectations. (Hind et al., 2011, p.134)

Based on these facts, it can be argued that the growth in student numbers associated with the shift in status from a technical to a polytechnic institution is a response to the changing structure, purpose, social and economic roles of the tertiary education sector in PNG. On this issue, Schuetze and Slowey (2002) argue that "as part of this expansion and heterogenisation, new groups of students who, for a complex range of social, economic and cultural reasons were traditionally excluded from or underrepresented in [tertiary education], might be expected to participate in increasing numbers" (p.312). This argument suggests that the polytechnic should adapt quickly to this change and put in place mechanisms that

would cater for the learning needs of these diverse groups of learners. For example, student learning support can be of great help to slow learners.

Moreover, Osborne (2003) reasons that international studies concerning the expansion of higher education indicate that expansion does not necessarily result in widening access to all groups of learners. Osborne's view should be valued because in the process of trying to accommodate the diverse learning needs of new groups of learners it is also possible to overlook others who were traditionally under-represented in the first place. For example, these groups include adult learners with no entry qualifications, people from working class backgrounds, those from rural areas, and those from lower socioeconomic backgrounds. The same can be said for the polytechnic, since the changing context of its learning environment has greatly increased community expectations for various students to access learning opportunities. These changing conditions of education and training demand a radical departure from traditional forms of providing VET to others that can potentially address this problem.

There are other factors that need to be considered under this perspective of change. Schuetze and Slowey (2002) point out that higher participation rates do not automatically imply that functions of tertiary education "in social selection and social reproduction are obsolete, or issues of inequality or access are features of the past" (p.314). Evidence from the study by Schuetze and Slowey also suggests that diversification in the tertiary education sector has not been sufficient to eliminate unequal rates of participation by different social groups. This differentiated pattern of participation in tertiary education is a big issue internationally and must therefore be of policy concerns in the case of PNG if the country is to commit to opportunities for lifelong learning for all (OECD, 1996b). PNG has a lot of social issues and the demand for education is high with limited opportunities for those are traditionally under-represented in higher levels of learning (e.g. those who do not have formal qualifications).

As indicated in the study by the OECD (1996b), the concept of non-traditional students in many countries differs in contexts but mostly the need for participation of such students in tertiary education is a response to the changing demands of society (e.g. socioeconomic issues). On the other hand, successful entry, retention

and completion of studies depend on other factors. There exist barriers at different levels in transitions from school to work, or from work to school, or to higher levels of learning.

# Existing barriers and proposals for change

# **Existing barriers**

The findings highlighted major barriers that impinged on the changing context of skill training at the polytechnic. These barriers are endemic to the PNG-TVET sector. The existing barriers identified from the findings include policy issues, management practices and issues relating to the teaching and learning environment. These barriers will be analysed separately to point to the implications they may have on the potential of polytechnic in achieving a lifelong learning culture.

## **Policy Issues**

The study identified that the implications of government policy on education and training within the tertiary education sector directly impacts on the purpose of providing VET within the polytechnic. The study found that there is no government policy that distinctively defines the role of polytechnic education within the PNG tertiary education sector. On this issue a senior official at the institution made the following comment:

...there has to be a decision at the top level to amend the existing education act to recognise the polytechnic educational concept. I have been looking at the education act and it is alarming to me to realise that the act only covers technical and business colleges and no mention of polytechnics. So my question; is the polytechnic legally operating as an education provider?

This macro-level barrier has serious implications for policy directions concerning the development and implementation of skills training at the polytechnic. Official documents from the polytechnic reveal that the polytechnic concept was officially recognised under the *PNG Education Act 1983* as a provider of VET training in

2009 (NPIPNG, 2012). There is no clause under the education act that explicitly defines the role of the polytechnic. As noted from the needs analysis study of TVET colleges in PNG, a major policy gap exists in terms of a polytechnic model in relation to student intake, governance, course offerings and resource provisions (Hind et al., 2011). The report further notes that the policy implications on the roles of the polytechnic as:

...significantly altered and raised stakeholder expectations regarding the type and level of training to be provided in these institutions. This has placed the management and Councils in a very difficult position as the resources at their disposal cannot meet these new expectations. (ibid, p.32)

Consistent with the findings from this study, the needs analysis study of TVET colleges also found that TVET in PNG suffers from fragmentation, low capacity in terms of policy development, and research, evaluation and strategic planning for the sector. The presence of this structural barrier places less emphasis on educational and training provisions that target educationally or socially disadvantaged groups (Parnham, 2001). Building effective learning pathways for learners to transfer from and between education sectors and qualifications has been the focus of extensive research, policy development and practice internationally, but is lacking in the tertiary education sector in PNG (Mills et al., 2013; Phillips, 2006). Mills et al. (2013) argue that "improved learning pathways constitute an essential feature in a more flexible and integrated tertiary education system" (p.10). The polytechnic is now challenged by these policy structures to redefine its purpose in providing VET. The suggestion of adopting a lifelong learning framework as part of its policy goal is a potentially viable solution for the polytechnic. This would largely depend on how it aligns its administrative functions with this goal.

# **Management issues**

Management issues were identified as a common area of dissatisfaction in the study. These concerns were connected to broader educational issues that are thought to hinder the progress of skill training within the polytechnic. The findings indicate that interviewees were generally preoccupied with views that

linked to basic needs of providing skill training. There was not enough space for thinking on other kinds of visions for skill training. An example of this view is given by a section head in communication arts.

We are basically aware of what needs to be done, but we are not doing enough to achieve these goals in making our educational programmes more accessible to more people who want to get the type of training they need.

The comment implies a general lack of vision by the management to expand options of skill training beyond traditional norms. Management issues in this context refer to the systemic approach employed by the polytechnic to address educational concerns.

Mathews and Candy (1999) report that the advance of the knowledge economy has brought about "significant changes in organisational structure, strategies, culture and patterns of interactions" (p.49). They further assert that more flexible forms of management structures are now being developed to maximise knowledge development and practice. These developments have replaced bureaucratic structures and relationships, and the shift from the practice of command and control to a more participative or collaborative approach, often through team work. However, Findsen and Formosa (2011) argue that "within organisations there are hierarchies which operate to preserve the privilege of status and power" (p.39). It can be argued that learning organisations like the polytechnic are not neutral places where idealistic policies and practices are implemented without contestations. In considering this argument it will be viable for the polytechnic to adopt a more democratic approach that serves its purpose in developing as a learning organisation. In partly addressing this concern a senior lecturer made this comment:

I have not seen any initiative shown by the institution to involve local industries in its development plans. I think the administration is not doing enough. The individual department can initiate dialogue with industries but I think the administration should take the lead, I think they are not doing enough to realise the importance of what this can have on the many challenges the institution is facing.

This comment questions the level of diplomacy and concessions extended within the management practice. Implicit within this statement is a compartmentalised view of how management responsibilities operate. It clearly supports the argument given above and requires a shift from rigid structures of management practices to a more participative or collaborative approach.

# The teaching and learning environment

The constrained nature of the teaching and learning environment was identified as an issue that impacted negatively on the success and progression of students through their learning. The majority of the interviewees reported that teaching resources and classroom facilities were not conducive to the standard of teaching and learning practices. The needs analysis report on technical vocational and education training (TVET) colleges also confirmed the poor nature of the extremely improvised learning environment that pervaded all the learning institutions (Hind et al., 2011).

The findings and documents from the institution also show that the student population in the polytechnic is diverse and display a wide range of needs. This is partly because the polytechnic usually provides both 'pre-service' and 'in-service' programmes as part of its curricula. Learners are drawn from different cohorts (i.e. young to older adults) and they represent different layers in society that include diverse family and cultural backgrounds. Some members of these groups may not be strongly motivated to learn when they enter the programmes, and correspondingly, some academic staff may not possess the necessary skills to deal with some of these participants who may have specific learning difficulties. Within this context the OECD approach to lifelong learning strongly advocates for the "centrality of the learner" (OECD, 2007, p.10). This approach requires a systemic shift of attention from a "supply side focus, for example on institutional arrangements for learning to the demand side of meeting learner needs" (ibid, p.10).

Motivation to learn is paramount to student success for continuous learning throughout life (Knowles, 1980). The sources of motivation are complex, individualistic and come from within the individual, but can be influenced by external factors such as less formal learning environments. Educators are

recommended to keep the principles of motivation at the forefront of all instructional design. Findings from the study suggest that the polytechnic is not fulfilling this purpose. A new approach should be considered to enhance the educational, employment and social attributes of adult learners within the system (Beddie et al., 2013). Institutional barriers that limit students' success rates should be addressed accordingly.

The findings point to the fact that a holistic change to all aspects of the delivery of VET in the polytechnic is needed if its role is to be strengthened. This view is reiterated by a section head in the engineering field:

We need a new way of thinking about how to provide quality education...to address the learning needs of all groups of learners and we also need our institution to change to accommodate that fact.

Hence, the individual's ability to adapt to the idea of "learning to learn" and to remain abreast of constantly changing work conditions is necessary when the idea of knowledge production becomes the main economic drive (Kessels, 2001, p.498). The study by Simons and Smith (2006) on understanding learners and learning provides useful insight. They report that adult learners bring with them to any learning situation "a complex array of characteristics which have the potential to influence and be influenced by the learning process" (p.19). They note that while it is not possible to fully understand the impact of these characteristics on the learner, the ability to identify potential ways in which learners are differentiated from each other is critical to building a solid foundation in the development of 'good' teaching and learning environments. This study of PNG polytechnic has provided evidence that there is general dissatisfaction among staff over institutional barriers that block this progress. Issues of resourcing and a general lack of mission by the polytechnic administration seem to be key contributing factors. For example, a senior lecturer made the following comment:

...we have a good structure and foundation for the different disciplines we have in the institution but we are not doing enough to create more learning opportunities for our learners...we need to take a holistic approach and be proactive in addressing these issues.

Her selective use of the phrase 'create more learning opportunities' suggests limitations concerning existing structures of professional training inside the polytechnic. She also acknowledges that greater proactivity is required by the polytechnic in terms of innovation. Her ideas are consistent with the views discussed above in the literature.

Another important factor that contributes to a strong learning environment is work-based learning. As part of the VET curriculum, this practice relates to the attachment of students to job related training in formal work environments. Workbased learning offers realistic experience to participants and can makes it easier for learners to acquire up-to-date knowledge as well as practical skills. Findings from the study indicate that only students who study at the certificate level undertake work-based learning as part of their curricula, while those who engage in diploma level programmes miss out. It can be argued that this inequality of learning opportunities impacts negatively on the second group of learners. As a social as well as an individualistic process, work-based learning has the potential to promote improved learner outcomes and professional development of learners. The study conducted by the OECD (2001a and other 2001 studies) confirms that skills development and knowledge acquisition are central to professional development. Hence, the opportunity to engage in work-based learning usually increases the ability of the learner to acquire, develop and use knowledge effectively within the work context, but this learning may also transfer to other domains of life. The extent to which the polytechnic engages in developing a culture of continuing education of students is reflected in the quality of the academic programmes (e.g. both theory and work-based learning) and the support services it offers. This would require a change of perspective on how it pursues broader aims of education and training.

#### **Proposals for change**

The main thematic proposal for change relates to the need for the polytechnic to develop a new curriculum structure. Curriculum development was viewed as a significant step forward for the polytechnic as a means to define the main features of its academic programmes. This view is illustrated in the comment by a section head in the engineering field:

I think the main problem is lack of vision to really revise or develop a new curriculum structure for the polytechnic. Our curriculum is outdated and needs to be restructured to meet current demands in education and training as well as meeting the requirements of the industry.

The comment specifically identifies the changing demands of society and its implications for curriculum development. A similar concern is outlined for the polytechnic in the PNG-TVET needs analysis report. The report noted in part that "over 80% of students are enrolled in courses in which the curriculum has not been reviewed for at least 15 years" (Hind et al., 2011, p.19). These challenges identify the need for developing a new curriculum structure, but there are many overarching questions that underpin the development of a curriculum. Carpenter (2001) identified six categories:

- 1) Who should be responsible for controlling the selection of knowledge?
- 2) Should learners from different social background (e.g. different social class or ethnicity) experience a different curriculum?
- 3) Should aspects of curriculum be compulsory?
- 4) To what extent should learners experience the real world as part of their learning?
- 5) How should the curriculum be organised?
- 6) What is the role of assessment and evaluation in the curriculum?

The reality of these questions indicates that the question of curriculum development is highly contested because it generally "embodies the values, norms, objectives, interests, priorities, and directions of the state and other powerful sectors of society" (Jansen, 1991, p.79). Based on these views, it can be argued that the polytechnic approach to developing a new curriculum should aim to equally answer all these questions.

Many writers (Rowley, 2000; Findsen & Formosa, 2011; Bloom, 2006) acknowledge that knowledge has become a key driver for productivity and

economic growth. Policy makers often seem uncertain over the best means of achieving this desirable goal (Field, 2002). Within this context, lifelong learning can be viewed as an essential policy strategy for the development of individual fulfilment and self-realisation. Based on these arguments, it can be suggested that the polytechnic should identify emerging issues, problems and possibilities that extend beyond the discipline based curriculum and standardised forms of assessment. The challenge is to create a curriculum-policy that advocates for development of people and not for engineering of employees (Schostak, 2000).

A few interviewees also commented that the syllabus material that was covered through the general course of learning had a strong skills focus and lacked other knowledge attributes that were significant for higher level skills in the workplace. The following statement by a senior official of the institution illustrates this fact:

In the Applied Science field we are not providing some options for management training which I think is important for a learner. The graduate will have applied and technical skills training but will miss out on other aspects of training that would give more opportunities to the learner after leaving school.

This comment identifies the need for continuing education of students for professional development. The study by Prebble et al. (2004, p.xi) suggests that there is a need for tertiary institutions such as polytechnics to provide more comprehensive evidence for the "efficacy of the various forms of academic development in place" both in terms of their effect on pedagogy and students' learning outcomes.

The findings also suggest that the general curriculum (e.g. mathematics and literacy) was considered to be an important component of the curriculum practice at the polytechnic. A few interviewees commented that only students in the certificate programmes were exposed to technical communication studies and it should be extended to the diploma programmes. In support of this argument, a report by the OECD (2010) emphasised that sound generic skills are important as personal attributes in current work environments. The OECD report states that advances in technology, and in the information technology sector has made problem solving and complex communication skills more important in the labour

market. This example demonstrates that the development of these skills is underpinned by effective literacy and numeracy skills. Hence, it can be argued that learning in both VET and lifelong learning is difficult without strong basic skills.

# Lifelong learning

The study found that while the interview process was seen by the respondents as an opportunity to voice their education concerns, only a handful had contemplated ideas that directly addressed the research question. Most comments related to skills and career development of adult learners. In addition, the way in which respondents viewed the general performance of the polytechnic also influenced their interpretation of lifelong learning. The main themes that emerged under this category will be analysed to ascertain the potential of lifelong learning at the polytechnic.

### The potential for lifelong learning

The findings under this theme show that fewer than half of the interviewees displayed varying degrees of understanding of different aspects of lifelong learning. The notion that education should be a lifelong and life-wide process seemed foreign to most of the interviewees. In trying to conceptualise this issue a senior academic in the business study stream said:

I don't think many people in PNG understand the concept of lifelong learning and its importance to the development and economy of the country. I strongly believe that people (i.e. students', parents', and education providers') way of thinking will change if they are aware of the importance of lifelong learning, and how it contributes to the country's development and individual self-reliance.

This statement points to the general lack of understanding of the concept of lifelong learning, however, the underlying statement in the second sentence advocates links to the notion of active citizenship. This comment indicates that

there is a potential for advancing the idea of lifelong learning. It can be argued that explicit understanding of the concept is not there, but general education concerns by the interviewees are expressed in a way that promotes the advance of the knowledge based economy as well as promoting social mobility and increased opportunities for learners to access education and training.

As discussed earlier in the chapter, the findings do illustrate the changing context of VET training within the PNG Polytechnic, but this progress is characterised by many factors that make the idea of lifelong learning seem unattainable. Many of the challenges PNG faces as a learning society are in part related to improving the quality of tertiary education so that learners can acquire a solid foundation as lifelong learners. Unfortunately, tertiary institutions such as the PNG Polytechnic (one of the largest VET providers) perform well below the expected standard and individuals are not given the opportunity to acquire the basic knowledge and skills to live meaningful lives in their communities (Hind, et al., 2011).

Indeed, as the findings indicate, broader aims of skills training are not appropriately addressed, and there are major structural barriers (e.g. policy issues) within the PNG tertiary education system that limit participation by adult learners. Additionally, those who are given the opportunity to study are representative of the traditional pool of learners (main-stream school leavers) but what about the non-traditional groups (second chance learners, workers, individuals from low socioeconomic class) who seek similar opportunities? The report by OECD (1996a) suggests that this difference appears to be centred on the strong link between the notion of lifelong learning and its institutional context. It requires a shift of attention from a supply side focus; for example on formal institutional arrangements for learning, to the demand side of meeting learners' needs (ibid). This means that the polytechnic should focus more on broadening the existing structure of its programmes to target those who are under-represented within the system.

In the PNG context, the real or potential demand for and support of lifelong learning stems from a still large population of people who lack the minimal qualifications needed for qualified work and for participation in civic and cultural life (Schuetze & Slowey, 2006). This problem is further magnified by the

dominance of an economic rationale for tertiary education that pursues an agenda of skill training that is focused on meeting the demands of the labour markets. Within this context it is important to ask, whose responsibility is it to promote the idea of lifelong learning? This view is illustrated in the comment made by a section head in communication arts:

I think education is important because it provides new knowledge and skills ... this is what society needs. There are many changes in society, the industry and information technology and people need to learn to cope with these changes. It is the responsibility of institutions like [the polytechnic] and the government to make this happen.

The responsibility for lifelong learning is usually distributed between the individual, the government and the institution. Firstly, "individuals have not only more choice but also greater personal agency for taking action and making meaningful choices among the various options open to them" (Schuetze & Slowey, 2006, p.281). The burden of making an informed choice depends on how much information is available for the individual to choose from. A determining factor in exercising such choice is the individuals' motivation and ability to engage in learning beyond compulsory schooling. Their motivation and capacity to learn will also depend on other factors including the individuals' socioeconomic background, links to family and culture, social capital and the quality of their compulsory education experience (ibid).

Secondly, the government has a much bigger role in developing sound educational policies. The UNESCO (2007) report on benchmarking knowledge economies outlined that for policy design and evaluation purposes, governments need to monitor as accurately as possible the development trends and structural shifts pertaining to education, work, industry and technology, not only in their own countries but also in comparison to other nation states. As noted in the report by Field (2002), policy-makers must target the importance of knowledge and skills production in tertiary institutions by mapping the existing patterns of participation; evaluating measures being developed to promote lifelong learning; and assessing the prospects of achieving a viable learning society. As indicated by Candy and Crebert (1991) it is important to present the idea of lifelong learning as

an "identifiable and achievable goal if certain politically expedient policies are adopted, rather than to offer it as a philosophically desirable alternative to an educational policy currently based on rationalism and utilitarianism" (p.3).

The Technical Vocational and Education Training (TVET) division of education in PNG is recognised as having a high profile in the PNG Government's *Vision 2050* and twenty-year *Development Strategic Plan* (DSP) 2010-2030; with human capital development being one of the Vision's seven key pillars (see Hind et al., 2011). There is an emphasis on development of a knowledge-based economy and wealth creation as key components of the strategic direction for PNG's growth and development. The strengthening of the capacity and quality of educational provisions at the polytechnic is central to the achievement of the Visions 2050 goals through the DSP (NPIPN, 2012).

Thirdly, Tuschling & Engemann (2006) observed that tertiary education needs to adapt its learning culture to the demands for more open, flexible and democratic learning systems. Furthermore, Schuetze and Slowey (2002) reported that the shift in perception of participation by students from privilege to right has however led to massive changes, for which the structures and functions of tertiary education in many countries have had to, and continued to change. A fundamental issue that is posed to the polytechnic is to what extent can different learning needs of learners be addressed? This view is illustrated in the comment by a section head in the engineering discipline.:

I believe there are specific areas of training that can be made available at the institution to benefit new categories of learners. We have the usual groups coming in for training like school leavers and second chance learners and people from the industries who need to upgrade their qualifications but what about those groups of people who may need basic life-skills training.

This quote identifies multiple types of students; how then, can the polytechnic cope to address the learning needs of these different groups of learners? Crucial to this task is for the polytechnic to identify the barriers that restrict learners from accessing equal learning opportunities. This relates to the structural, institutional, situational and dispositional barriers that impinge on recruitment, retention,

progression and completion rates of learning. Another important mission for the polytechnic is to properly define itself and its existing programmes against the PNGQF. As a technical tool for improving consistency and coherence, the PNGQF can be used broadly to identify missing links; create new qualifications or new routes to existing ones; or it can be used to bridge qualifications (see Werquin, 2007).

Moreover, the polytechnic has the opportunity to expand the scope of its programmes to cater for a more diverse group of learners. For example, the 'trade testing' programme in the metal trades is the only recognised pathway for external students under the PNGQF, but what about the other departments who can achieve similar success in their programmes? As a newly established institution, the polytechnic can use the PNGQF to modernise its education and training system. The PNGQF was designed to allow credit transfer for learning requirements in other qualifications and can be used to promote procedures for access, transfer and progression in learning (see Coles, 2006). On this issue the OECD (2007) report outlined that this process provides a fundamental step in developing lifelong learning; such that the overarching structure of the NQF would provide the basis for learners to access learning more frequently and carry forward some credits for achievement to new jobs and studies. Given this opportunity, more learners from the underrepresented groups can have the opportunity to participate, whereby their social capital increases and in the process there is reduction in social stratification within the system (ibid).

Potential approaches to lifelong learning can best be viewed through international perspectives. Schuetze and Casey (2006, p.282) maintained that the demand for and support of lifelong can be generalised based on three sources:

- An increasing number of better educated adults who require continuous learning opportunities
- A still large population of people who lack minimal qualifications needed for qualified work and for participation in civic and cultural life, and
- The contemporary economy that operates in an environment where markets, technology, work organisation and skill requirements are frequently changing.

Based on the findings and the local context of the study, it can be argued that the demand for and the support for a lifelong learning culture at PNG Polytechnic stems from the last two sources described above. According to general understanding of lifelong learning (see, Schuetze and Casey, 2006), individuals learn at various times throughout their lives and actively participate in society and in their working lives. Their ability to learn allows them to promote social cohesion and increased productivity through adaptation and innovation. Hence, society and the knowledge based economy are at the same time both the foundation of lifelong learning and its beneficiaries" (Álvarez-Mendiola, 2012, p.158).

However, the reality of education in PNG (e.g. within the polytechnic) as expressed above does not correspond to the notion of a learning society. This is largely due to the country's high level of poverty and socioeconomic inequality. Massive educational achievements are not matched by wider social progress, and there are limited spaces in tertiary institutions compared to the number of students leaving compulsory schooling, and issues of access, equity and gender are high (Hind et al., 2011).

As discussed earlier in this chapter, the changing context of the tertiary education sector has also lead to a differentiated structure of the polytechnic that is inaccessible to students who were initially under-represented in the system. This includes working class adults, students in rural areas and those from low socioeconomic backgrounds. Therefore, the challenge is how to accommodate the learning needs of these different groups of learners. Similar challenges and potential solutions can be observed from country studies in New Zealand, the USA and England (Anderson, 2005, Osborne, 2003, Parry, 2005). For example, Weelahan and Moodie (2005) reported that in Australia social association is closely linked to social class, and the impact of tertiary education on adult learners disadvantaged those who were less likely to come from families with privileged socioeconomic backgrounds.

The issue of inequality is widespread in PNG and directly threatens the livelihoods of potential learners. It can be argued that the potential solution for the polytechnic is to create a more robust system that centres on the learner as part of

a wider social process of interactions between the learner and the institution throughout life. As reported by Parry (2005), different modes of delivery need to be identified to specifically address the needs of these groups of learners. Short-term programmes, bridging programmes and distance learning are some potential options. The recognition of prior learning and credit transfer processes are an integral part of this objective.

#### Other views

The study also found that community engagement activities were integral for skills development for students. However, it was noted that the rate of community-based learning was far less than the expected levels at the institution. This view is illustrated in the comment made by a head of department.

I do not think there is much engagement by students with the community. I have dreams for such training for our students. That is to engage this department to go and do things in the community. While teaching or providing a service within the community the students in turn learn from that engagement in the community.

The comment strongly endorses the polytechnic and community collaboration as win-win solution for both parties. It implies a genuine concern to see community engagement promoted within teaching and learning practices at the polytechnic. On this issue, some writers observe that the pedagogy of community-based learning has the potential to promote active citizenship (Beddie et al., 2013; Billet & Seddon, 2004). As reported by Beddie et al. (2013), tertiary institutions have the potential to act as mechanisms for ensuring that local communities become "integral parts of the knowledge economy by offering technology and expertise to both community and businesses to increase competitiveness and expertise" (p.48). These utilities also serve to raise expectations and aspirations of the community (ibid). Through this process, the learning environments of learners are extended to include social experiences and training for professional development that is normally not experienced in traditional learning areas (i.e. the classrooms).

It was also reported by other writers (Kezar, 2004; Gumport, 2000) that potential networks between tertiary institutions and society can generally be referred to as a "reciprocal relationship" (p.463). Kezar asserts that society provides resources, political support and guiding influence, and in return tertiary institutions such as universities, colleges and polytechnics "educate students, serve as developers and repositories of knowledge, provide social critique and contribute to community" (p.463). Hence, the articulation of skills and knowledge developed in classrooms with expanded student experience in the community also ensures a better-skilled community, and links to the promotion of wellbeing and community cohesion, a key ingredient of a learning society (Beddie et al., 2013).

# **Conclusion of chapter**

The analysis of major themes intended to identify the potential for lifelong learning at the PNG polytechnic reinforces the notion that a dichotomised approach exists to lifelong learning in PNG. If the idea does exist at all, it is usually identified with a notion of older adults, or working class people who seek opportunities for further learning, and not one that can be used to improve standards of education systems that provide learning opportunities to individuals of all age groups irrespective of where they are or wherever they come from.

In light of this understanding, the main argument that underpins this study is that lifelong is simply not recognised as a visible learning system; that is, it is not counted as part of the formal education system nor broadly taken into account for public policy purposes in terms of education and training. Thus, if a lifelong learning system does exist, it is not usually registered in common language that is used to describe education and training in the PNG context.

Whereas the findings do not explicitly mention a lifelong learning model, a lifelong learning framework could potentially create awareness on equity-oriented perspectives in education that focus on learners and their ability for success as lifelong learners. In order to meet this requirement, an integrated approach is needed at the national level and within the polytechnic to assess and consolidate

educational goals to be better equipped to develop the potential for lifelong learning in a broader framework.

# **Chapter 6: Conclusions and recommendations**

This chapter discusses the conclusions and recommendations of the study. In considering the scope of this qualitative study, it would be unwise to offer too many generalisations, particularly with reference to the small sample size used in the study. However, a number of important issues will be discussed in relation to the implications of the findings that primarily relate to the extent to which the PNG Polytechnic can achieve a lifelong culture and includes broader applications to the tertiary education system. Recommendations are made to stakeholders in relation to the implementation of a lifelong learning framework and a possible new model for the PNG Polytechnic.

# **Concluding remarks**

The study consisted of an enquiry into the potential for lifelong learning in the tertiary education system, particularly the extent to which lifelong learning can be achieved within a polytechnic (see Chapter Two). It is important to note that international perspectives were included to highlight issues that were relevant to this study because of the social, political and historical significance of past and current developments in tertiary education within these country settings and consequent comparative trends in PNG.

The primary aim of lifelong learning is centred on the notion of continuing learning throughout life and the life-wide learning opportunities which can be made accessible to individuals. The study focused on how well a tertiary education system (i.e. the case of PNG Polytechnic) can adapt, to effectively contribute towards a lifelong learning culture. Within global perspectives, literature and research in the areas of tertiary education and lifelong learning have extensively covered issues pertinent to this topic. However, this study found that there is a profound lack of understanding of the concept of lifelong learning and its implications for the wider context of education and training in PNG. This study is unique in that it focuses on promoting discussion on an educational model that

is potentially useful in addressing wider societal concerns such as unemployment, poverty reduction and inequality of access to higher levels of learning in the context of PNG.

Tertiary education and lifelong learning are building blocks of a learning society. The main agent in the process of lifelong learning is the individual or, in the context of neoliberal policies, the 'consumer' (Slowey & Schuetze, 2012). The principal agent of a 'learning society' is the society itself which constitutes the collective arrangement of individuals at different levels of society, and is usually coordinated by governments at the national level (ibid). This common understanding of a learning society is largely missing in terms of government policies and practices in PNG. This study found that there needs to be an intervention at national level by the government and policy makers to redefine the purpose of tertiary education and its wider benefits to this society. In particular, this redefinition would include the need of a policy direction that would characteristically define the individual roles of tertiary institutions such as the polytechnic within the tertiary education system.

The mission and profile of individual institutions (e.g. the polytechnic) would need to be clearly defined in accordance with viable educational models. This study concurs with other research (Schuetze, 2012; Slowey &, OECD, 2008; Schuetze & Casey, 2006; Gallacher & Osborne, 2005) in finding that lifelong learning as a concept for redefining established systems of education and nonformal learning is fundamental for a learning society. It also found that the current model that defines the tertiary education system in PNG concentrates too exclusively upon work-related aspects of education and training, rather than the life-worlds of the society. The PNG Government's commitment to an educational policy framework that centres on lifelong learning is essential to the mission and profile of tertiary education institutions. The government and policy makers should be seen to value the principles of lifelong learning by accommodating it within policy domains.

In the PNG context, the real or potential demand for and support of lifelong learning stems from a still large population of people who lack minimal qualifications needed for qualified work and for participation in civic and cultural life (Schuetze & Slowey, 2006). From this perspective, the opportunities for individuals to engage in continuing learning processes has become increasingly critical for PNG to compete effectively as a learning economy. This study examined this perspective of education and training and found that while the vision for the development of a knowledge-based economy is embedded in the PNG Government's major policy frameworks (e.g. *DSP 2010-2030* and *Vision 2050 Plan*), the strengthening of the capacity and quality of tertiary education provision is well below expected standards. The Government and major stakeholders must make the necessary effort to make lifelong learning become a reality within the tertiary education system.

# Recommendations: Using a lifelong learning framework

A lifelong learning framework should consider key links between and pathways through a wide range of learning activities that exists at all levels of the education system. This approach is based on the argument that the wider agenda of enhancing quality of life both personally and in the community is directly related to the need for a broader set of lifelong learning options for learners to access education and training opportunities when needed. This would require tertiary institutions, in particular, the polytechnic, to build on the best traditions of vocational education and training that emphasises accessibility and learner-centeredness so that learners can acquire a solid foundation as lifelong learners. The polytechnic should be encouraged to value this process of change by ensuring that its learning culture is transformed into one that embraces the basic principles of lifelong learning.

The purpose of education and training at the polytechnic should be aimed at developing a lifelong learning culture that encompasses broader aims of vocational education and training. Different modes of delivery of educational opportunities should be identified to address specific needs of different groups of learners. These may include in part, short term programmes, bridging programmes and more distance learning. The recognition of prior learning and credit transfer is an integral part of this objective. This study examined each of these options for

widening access to education and training and found that while they have been beneficial in other country settings, there is considerable room for adopting these educational features within the existing educational structure of the polytechnic. This opportunity would provide the necessary foundation for the polytechnic to redefine its purpose in terms of lifelong learning opportunities for a diverse group of learners.

The polytechnic should adapt its learning culture to the demands for more open, flexible and democratic learning systems. It should attempt to discover educational opportunities that make lifelong learning more visible by ensuring that there is improved access to tertiary education, in terms of a polytechnic curriculum reform that focusses on diversity in learning opportunities and on continuing education. Consideration should be given to promoting the *lifelong* and *life-wide* aspects of vocational education and skill training. Respondents in this study generally agreed that the polytechnic should place emphasis on improving the overall structure of its training system. To some extent, the fact that some of these structural concerns were identified in the study indicates a systemic challenge for the polytechnic in its role as a provider for short-cycle vocational education and training.

On a systemic level (i.e. within the tertiary education sector), the polytechnic should ensure that the demand for, and the supply of, learning opportunities become more visible as part of a connected system within the PNG tertiary education sector. This learning pathway should cover all forms of formal learning, non-formal, and informal learning opportunities. This approach to learning requires a shift from institutional arrangements for learning to the demand side of meeting learners' needs (OECD, 2007). This study found that the polytechnic has the basic foundation that can potentially accommodate this broad perspective of purposeful learning activities, but consideration should be given to how alternative learning structures can be developed to complement and integrate with existing traditional structures of vocational education and training. If we begin to view vocational education and training as a continuous pathway of offerings through distinctive forms of qualifications, requiring distinctive pedagogical practices and assessment, then a more optimistic view about the future of VET, which is grounded in a contemporary definition of democratic learning

opportunities and personal fulfilment of learners, may emerge. This may create the necessary foundation that is conducive to lifelong learning for all individuals who are determined to learn.

Lifelong learning has emerged globally as a viable concept for rethinking and remodelling established systems of education and training and differs from ideas that overlook multiple goals of education. It has proven to be a resilient and influential concept in OECD countries and other parts of the world based on two fundamental reasons, as identified in the OECD (2008) report. Firstly, it has adapted to a new political, socio-economic and cultural environment, in which it has emerged as a viable concept for re-modelling educational and social reforms. Secondly, governments and industry are seeing it as a useful instrument for generating a well-trained, flexible and productive workforce that is important to the country's development and its competitiveness in the world market. Papua New Guinea, and in particular the polytechnic, should learn from this reality and adapt to this changing global perspective of education and training.

#### Recommendations for a new educational model for the PNG polytechnics

As stated in Chapter One and Chapter Two, the place of tertiary education within a lifelong learning framework depends on two fundamental qualities of lifelong learning. Firstly, the *lifelong aspect* which seeks to identify crucial prerequisites for continuing education and training over a lifetime; a system that provides flexible learning opportunities and navigational routes for all learners irrespective of where they are and wherever they come from. Secondly, the *life-wide* aspect recognises the fact that education does not occur only in formal settings, but in a variety of forms and in different settings, and it sets precedence to a vision of a learning society. The major finding in this study is that there is a profound lack of understanding on this important educational concept and it is critical that major changes need to occur if the PNG polytechnic is serious about becoming a prime mover for promoting educational growth and individual prosperity for potential learners. For this to happen, certain considerations should be given to the following options suggested by this study.

### The need for a new training model

While the specific focus of education and training at the polytechnic is at the tertiary level, the importance of both the horizontal and vertical linkages between different components of the broader education and training system must not be overlooked in any discussion concerning the notion of lifelong learning. The motivation and the ability of an individual to freely engage in any form of learning are fundamentally linked to earlier learning stages in the life of that individual. Based on this fact, the importance of building connections across the different layers of the education system becomes an absolute necessity. The polytechnic should consider reviewing the extent to which its current model of vocational education and training can contribute effectively to lifelong learning and assess the flexibility of its system and relevance of provisions, and evaluate whether its funding arrangements are suited to lifelong learners (OECD, 2008). This study suggests that the polytechnic would benefit from shifting its focus on systemic dimensions of promoting education and training (i.e. those activities that concentrate solely on mass production of graduates) to the potential effect of an educational practice that focuses on lifelong learners and their opportunities to gain access to work, or from work to school, or to higher levels of learning when needed. This approach would require certain mechanisms to be put in place to facilitate students' successful transition of lifelong learners to enter and exit different learning programmes. One such mechanism is the accreditation pathways for different learning programmes.

#### **Accreditation of academic programmes**

The polytechnic should consider accrediting its programmes to ensure their quality as well as providing transition links for learners to enter and exit these programmes or vice versa from work to education and training. This process might best follow curricula change and other measures (e.g. student support services) to improve the learning environment and to support students. As a tertiary education provider, it should develop a new educational model that would distinctively characterise the nature of its short-cycle VET provisions, which from a pedagogical standpoint should align with the theoretical notions of lifelong

learning. Such a model should include admission requirements, pastoral care services, curriculum flexibility to diversify potential for learning, teaching resources and facilities, recognition for prior learning, staff development, community engagement initiatives and links to the labour market (Álvaerez-Mendiola, 2005). It is recommended that the new model be used to resolve educational deficiencies prevalent in the existing traditional model. The traditional model is characterised by an instrumentalist view of education and training which is not favourable to a culture of lifelong learning. It is imperative that the polytechnic recognise students' socioeconomic and cultural diversity in order to design an educational platform that is directed at improving student recruitment, retention and progression to jobs or higher level learning. Furthermore, it is necessary that the polytechnic reinvent the traditional educational structure that exists. As the largest public provider of VET in the non-university sector in PNG, its advocacy for a pathway to institutional autonomy is potentially a viable option for the PNG Polytechnic.

## **Course links: Pathways**

PNG's separation of the vocational education and training from lower levels of learning (e.g. in vocational schools) as well as university education has not resulted in a coherent framework to support student transition from one sector to another. A nationwide system for articulation of credits and recognition of qualification between tertiary institutions is needed. This system can create clearly defined links between two programmes so that successful completion of one may be used as the basis to enter another with credit transfer. Alternatively, this system can also provide credit transfer between different levels of the tertiary education system. Standardised pathways can be approved by the institution to ensure that all students meeting the specified conditions are granted the same benefits, usually credit transfer, or customised pathways can be developed to where no formal arrangements exist, or to meet specific needs of different groups of learners (Weelahan & Moodie, 2005).

This study suggests that the polytechnic value the role of the PNGQF within this ongoing discourse. As a potential policy tool the PNGQF can be utilised to allow

credit transfer for students. It can also provide a foundation for improving the quality, linkages and social recognition of qualifications within a country (Werquin, 2007). It is hoped that this system will support student mobility among programmes. The PNG Polytechnic is in need of developing policy guidelines that are closely aligned with the PNGQF, to allow learners to access training in and between the components of the tertiary systems more frequently, as well as access to employment related training in the industries (e.g. as part of work-based learning). In this process the recognition of prior learning becomes an important tool.

If lifelong learning is to develop further, this study suggests that the polytechnic should value the extent of its relationship with the industries and the wider community. VET serves the interest of individuals and industries as well as communities, and has an economic and social justice dimension (Beddie et al., 2013). It is important for the polytechnic to realise that the pedagogy of community-based learning (e.g. work-based learning as part of curricula) has the potential for promoting active citizenship for students (ibid). It should be part of all academic programmes (i.e. both the certificate and diploma programmes) offered at the institution. The polytechnic has the potential to act as a mechanism for ensuring that the wider community (e.g. local communities and businesses) benefit from the knowledge and skill base it has on offer. This study recommends that the articulation of skills and knowledge developed in classrooms be expanded to include student experience in the community. This action would help promote the idea of active citizenship, and community cohesion, a key ingredient of a learning society.

#### Alternative access programmes

The polytechnic should value the promotion of alternative access programmes to provide more opportunities for diverse groups of learners. These programmes may include in part, bridging programmes for those learners who need to upgrade their qualifications; more in-service programmes (e.g. the trade-testing programmes in the metal trades) which extends to other departments; extended study programmes with the potential for the use of online technology, and existing and new types of

active engagements with communities. It should value an approach that systematically integrates these programmes into its main framework of education provision. It should not view these programmes as a temporary substitution to its established programmes, but value them as part of its social responsibility to the wider community.

# **Conclusion of chapter**

This thesis has reported on the extent to which the PNG polytechnic can achieve a lifelong learning culture, with particular regard to how well a lifelong learning system can benefit individuals and the wider society. The research involved a qualitative case study consisting of interviews in an attempt to gain participants' beliefs and understanding on the potential for lifelong learning in the PNG tertiary education system, particularly the polytechnic. While there was a general lack of understanding on the concept of lifelong learning within the research setting this study attempted to show that there would be more to gain if the notion of lifelong learning is accommodated within educational policy domains.

The role of the polytechnic as a tertiary level learning institution is critical to addressing the social and economic needs of PNG society. The study argues for a paradigm shift in thinking about the role of tertiary education in PNG. There needs to be an intervention at government level in terms of viable policy frameworks to make the idea of lifelong learning a reality. Finally, the study suggests that there is a great potential for the polytechnic to achieve a lifelong learning culture if only it values what this educational concept has to offer.

# References

- Abbott, M. (2006). Competition and reform of the New Zealand tertiary education sector. *Journal of Education Policy*, 21(3), 367-387. doi:10.1080/02680930600600663
- Ahl, H. (2006). Motivation in adult education: A problem solver or a euphemism for direction and control? *International Journal of Lifelong Education*, 25(4), 385-405. doi:10.1080/02601370600772384
- Allais, S., Raffe, D., Strathdee, R., Wheelahan, L., & Young, M. (2009). *Learning from the first qualifications frameworks*. Geneva, Switzerland: ILO
- Álvaerez-Mendiola, G. (2005). Great expectations, scattered approaches, disjointed results: The rocky road to lifelong learning in Mexican higher education *Global perspectives on higher education and lifelong learning* (pp. 157-172). Third Avenue, NY: Routledge.
- Anderson, H. (2005). New Zealand tertiary education: Patterns and pathways. In J. Gallacher & M. Osborne (Eds.), *A contested landscape: International perspectives on diversity in mass higher education* (pp. 141-152). Leicester, England: NIACE.
- AUSAID. (2003). The contributions of Australian aid to Papua New Guinea's Development 1975-200: Provincial conclusions from a rapid assessment. Canberra, Australia: AUSAID
- Bagnall, R. G. (2010). Citizenship and belonging as a moral imperative for lifelong learning. *International Journal of Lifelong Education*, 29(4), 449-460. doi:10.1080/02601370.2010.488812
- Barton, L., & Slee, R. (1999). Competition, selection and inclusive education: Some observations. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, *3*(1), 3-12. doi:10.1080/136031199285147
- Bassey, M. (2001). A solution to the problem of generalisation in educational research: Fuzzy prediction. *Oxford Review of Education*, 27(1), 5-22. doi:10.1080/03054980123773
- Bassey, M. (1999). *Case study research in educational setting*. London, England: Open University Press.
- Beddie, F., O'Connor, L., & Penelope, C. (2013). Structures in tertiary education and training: A kaleidoscope or merely fragments? Research readings. Adelaide, Australia: NCVER
- Benseman, J., Coxon, E., Anderson, H., & Anae, M. (2006). Retaining non-traditional students: Lessons learnt from Pasifika students in New Zealand. Higher Education Research & Development, 25(2), 147-162. doi:10.1080/07294360600610388
- Billett, S., & Seddon, T. (2004). Building community through social partnerships around vocational education and training. *Journal of Vocational Education & Training*, 56(1), 51-68. doi:10.1080/13636820400200245

- Blom, K., & Meyers, D. (2003). *Quality indicators in vocational education and training* Adelaide, Australia: NCVER
- Bloom, D. E. (2006). Measuring global educational progress. Retrieved from http://www.amacad.org/publications/bloom.pdf
- Bonham, B., S. (2005). Education mobility in the USA through the community transfer function. In J. Gallacher & M. Osborne (Eds.), *A contested landscape: International perspectives on diversity in mass higher education* (pp. 178-194). Leicester, England: NIACE.
- Bowl, M. (2001). Experiencing the barriers: Non-traditional students entering higher education. *Research Papers in Education*, 16(2), 141-160. doi:10.1080/02671520110037410
- Boyatzis, R. E. (1998). Transforming qualitative information: Thematic analysis and code development. London, England: Sage.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *3*(2), 77-101. doi:10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Braxton, M. J. (2000). *Reworking the student departure puzzle*. Nasshville, TN: Vanberbilt.
- Brennan, J., & Osborne, M. (2008). Higher education's many diversities: of students, institutions and experiences; and outcomes? *Research Papers in Education*, 23(2), 179-190. doi:10.1080/02671520802048711
- Brooks, R. (2006). Young graduates and lifelong learning: The impact of institutional stratification. *Sociology*, 40(6), 1019-1037. doi:10.1177/0038038506069842
- Burtch, B. (2005). Review of further education/higher education links in Canada. In J. Gallacher & M. Osborne (Eds.), *A contested landscape: International perspectives on diversity in mass higher education* (pp. 47-62). Leicester, England: NIACE.
- Candy, P. C., & Crebert, R.G. (1991). Lifelong learning: An enduring mandate for higher education. *Higher Education Research and Development*, 10(1), 3-17. doi:10.1080/0729436910100102
- Carpenter, V. (2001). Curriculum and the reproduction of education. In V. Carpenter, M. Dixon, E. Rata & Rawlinson (Eds.), *Theory practice for education* (pp. 89-108). Palmerstone North, New Zealand: The Dunmore Press.
- Castels, M. (1998). *End of millennium: The information age-economy, society and culture.* Oxford, England: Blackwell.
- Cavaye, A. L. M. (1996). Case study research: A multi-faceted research approach for IS. *Information Systems Journal*, 6(3), 227-242. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2575.1996.tb00015.x
- Chakroun, B. (2010). National qualification frameworks: From policy borrowing to policy learning. *European Journal of Education*, 45(2), 199-216. doi:10.1111/j.1465-3435.2010.01425.x

- Coffield, F. (1999). Breaking the consensus: Lifelong learning as social control. *British Educational Research Journal*, 25(4), 479-499. doi:10.1080/0141192990250405
- Coles, M. (2006). A review of international and national developments in the use of qualifications frameworks. Retrieved from http://www.etf.europa.eu/pubmgmt.nsf/%28getAttachment%29/4B4A908 0175821D1C12571540054B4AF/\$File/SCAO6NYL38.pdf
- Coles, M., & Foundation, E. T. (2006). A review of international and national developments in the use of qualifications frameworks. Luxembourg, Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities.
- Connor, H., Dewson, S., Tyers, C., Eccles, J., Regan, J., & Aston, J. (2001). Social class and higher education: Issues affecting decisions on participation by lower social class groups. Norwich, England: Crown Copyright. Retrieved from http://dera.ioe.ac.uk/4621/1/RR267.pdf
- Crick, B. (1999). The presuppositions of citizenship education. *Journal of Philosophy of Education*, 33(3), 337-352. doi:10.1111/1467-9752.00141
- Crotty, M. (1998). *The foundations of social research: Meaning and perspective in the research process.* Sydney, Australia: Allen and Unwin.
- Curtis, D. (2009). Student Transfer: At a Glance. Adelaide, Australia: NCVER
- Davies, P., Osborne, M., & Williams, J. (2002). For me or not me? That is the question: A study of mature students decision making and higher education. Norwich, England: Queen's Printer
- de Lourdes Machado, M., Ferreira, J. B., Santiago, R., & Taylor, J. S. (2008). Reframing the non-university sector in Europe: Convergence or diversity? *Non-university higher education in Europe* (pp. 245-260): Springer.
- Deetz, S. A. (1982). Critical interpretive research in organizational communication. *Western Journal of Speech Communication: WJSC*, 46(2), 131-149.
- Denzin, N., & Lincoln, Y. (1994). *Handbook of qualitative research* London, England: Sage.
- Drucker, P. F. (1993). *Post-capitalist society*. Oxford, England: Butterworth Heinemann.
- Drummond, I., Nixon, I., & Wiltshire, J. (1998). Personal transferable skills in higher education: The problems of implementing good practice. *Quality Assurance in Education*, 6(1), 19-27. doi:10.1108/09684889810200359
- Edwards, R., & Nicoll, K. (2001). Researching the rhetoric of lifelong learning. *Journal of Education Policy*, 16(2), 103-112. doi:10.1080/02680930010025310
- Edwards, R., Ranson, S., & Strain, M. (2002). Reflexivity: Towards a theory of lifelong learning. *International Journal of Lifelong Education*, 21(6), 525-536. doi:10.1080/0260137022000016749
- Fasih, T., Kingdon, G., & Patrinos, H. (2012). Heterogeneous returns to education in the labour market. Retrieved from

- http://dide.minedu.gob.pe/xmlui/bitstream/handle/123456789/1745/Heterogeneous%20Returns%20to%20Education%20in%20the%20Labor%20Market.pdf?sequence=1
- Feinstein, L., & Hammond, C. (2004). The contribution of adult learning to health and social capital. *Oxford Review of Education*, 30(2), 199-221. doi:10.1080/0305498042000215520
- Field, J. (2002). *Lifelong learning and the new educational order*. London, England: Trentham Books.
- Findsen, B. (2012). Lifelong learning and higher education in Aotearoa New Zealand. In M. Slowey & H. G. Schuetze (Eds.), *Global perspectives on higher education and lifelong learning* (pp. 230-247). Third Avenue, NY: Routledge.
- Findsen, B., & Formosa, M. (2011). *Lifelong learning in later life*. Rotterdam, Netherlands: Sense Publishers.
- Fontana, A., & Frey, J. H. (2000). The Interview: From structured questions to negotiated text. In N. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *Handbook of qualitative research*. Thousand Oaks, CA.
- Freedman, K., & Stuhr, P. (2004). *Curriculum change for the 21st century: Visual culture in art education. Handbook of research and policy in art education* (pp. 815-828). Retrieved from http://scholar.google.co.nz/scholar?q=%28Freedman+%26+Stuhr%2C+20 04&btnG=&hl=en&as\_sdt=0%2C5
- Frith, H., & Gleeson, K. (2004). Clothing and embodiment: Men managing body image and appearance. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, *5*(1), 40-48. doi:10.1037/1524-9220.5.1.40
- Gallacher, J. (2005). Complementary or differentiation? The roles of further education colleges and higher education institutions in Scotland's higher education. In J. Gallacher & M. Osborne (Eds.), *A contested landscape:*International perspectives on diversity in mass higher education (pp. 153-177). Leicester, England: NIACE.
- Gallacher, J., Crossan, B., Field, J., & Merrill, B. (2002). Learning careers and the social space: Exploring the fragile identities of adult returners in the new further education. *International Journal of Lifelong Education*, 21(6), 493-509. doi:10.1080/0260137022000016172
- Gallacher, J., & Osborne, M. (2005). A contested landscape: International perspectives on diversity in mass higher education. Leicester, England: NIACE.
- Giddens, A. (1994). Living in a post-traditional society. In U. Beck, A. Giddens & S. Lash (Eds.), *Reflexive modernisation. Politics, tradition and aesthetics in modern social order*. Cambridge, England: Polity Press.
- Gorard, S., & Selwyn, N. (1999). Switching on the learning society? Questioning the role of technology in widening participation in lifelong learning. *Journal of Education Policy*, 14(5), 523-534. doi:10.1080/026809399286198

- Greenhalgh, T., & Taylor, R. (1997). How to read a paper: Papers that go beyond numbers (qualitative research). *BMJ: British Medical Journal*, *315*(7110), 740-743. doi:10.2307/25175748
- Griffin, C. (1999). Lifelong learning and social democracy. *International Journal of Lifelong Education*, 18(5), 329-342. doi:10.1080/026013799293586
- Guba, E., & Lincoln, Y. (1981). Effective evaluation: Improving the usefulness of evaluation results through responsive and naturalistic approaches. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Gumport, P. J. (2000). Academic restructuring: Organizational change and institutional imperatives. *Higher education*, *39*(1), 67-91.
- Hardin, C. J. (2008). Adult students in higher education: A portrait of transitions. *New Directions for Higher Education*, 2008(144), 49-57. doi:10.1002/he.325
- Harris, R., Rainey, L., & Sumner, R. (2006). Crazy Paving or Stepping Stones? Learning Pathways within and between Vocational Education and Training and Higher Education. Adelaide, Australia: NCVER.
- Hayes, N. (1997). Theory-led thematic analysis: Social identification in small companies *Doing qualitative analysis in psychology*. London, England: Psychology Press.
- Hind, I., Larsen, J., Week, D., & Peni, E. (2011). Needs analysis study of PNG TVET colleges. NCD, Papua New Guinea: TVET (A report prepared for Ausaid). Retrieved from http://aid.dfat.gov.au/countries/pacific/png/Documents/png-tvet-final.pdf
- Hope, C. K. (1998). The development review process and its effectiveness in identifying staff development needs at the university of Auckland. University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Jackson, S. (2003). Lifelong learning: Working-class women and lifelong learning. *Gender and Education*, 15(4), 365-376. doi:10.1080/09540250310001610571
- James, R. (2007). Social equity in a mass, globalised higher education environment: The unresolved issue of widening access to university.

  Melbourne, Australia: University of Melbourne, Centre for the Study of Higher Education. Retrieved from http://cshe.unimelb.edu.au/people/james\_docs/Richard%20James,%20Dea n%27s%20Lecture%20Series%20Sept2007.pdf
- Jansen, J. (1991). The state and curriculum in the transition to socialism: The Zimbabwean experience. *Comparative Education Review*, 35(1), 76-91.
- Jansen, T., Chioncel, N., & Dekkers, H. (2006). Social cohesion and integration: Learning active citizenship. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, 27(2), 189-205. doi:10.1080/01425690600556305
- Jarvis, P. (2007). *Globalisation, lifelong learning and the knowledge society*. Madision Ave, NY: Routledge.

- Kearney, A., & Kane, R. (2006). Inclusive education policy in New Zealand: Reality or ruse? *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 10(2-3), 201-219. doi:10.1080/13603110500256145
- Keating, J. (2003). Qualifications Frameworks in Australia. *Journal of Education and Work, 16*(3), 271-288. doi:10.1080/1363908032000099449
- Kessels, J. W. M. (2001). Learning in organisations: A corporate curriculum for knowledge economy. *Futures*, *33*, 497-546. Retrieved from http://www.kessels-smit.com/files/Artikel\_2001\_Kessels\_Learning\_in\_organisations.pdf
- Kezar, A. (2004). Obtaining integrity? Reviewing and examining the charter between higher education and society. *Review of Higher Education*, 27(4), 429-459.
- Knowles, M. S. (1980). The modern practice of adult education: From pedagogy to andragogy. New York: Associated Press.
- Koper, R., & Tattersall, C. (2004). New directions for lifelong learning using network technologies. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, *35*(6), 689-700. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8535.2004.00427.x
- Kyvik, S. (2004). Structural changes in higher education systems in Western Europe. *Higher Education in Europe*, 29(3), 393-409. doi:10.1080/0379772042000331679
- Lamb, R., & Brady, E. M. (2005). Participation in lifelong learning institutes: What turns members on? *Educational Gerontology*, *31*(3), 207-224. doi:10.1080/03601270590900936
- Leader, G. (2003). Lifelong learning: Policy and practice in further education. *Education + Training*, 45(7), 361-370. doi:10.1108/00400910310499938
- Lester, S. (2011). The UK Qualifications and Credit Framework: A critique. Journal of Vocational Education & Training, 63(2), 205-216. doi:10.1080/13636820.2011.560394
- Liuvaie, S. F. (2008). *Investigating barriers to tertiary participation of Niuean students at Massey University and tertiary institutions in New Zealand: A community perspective*. Palmerstone North, New Zealand: Massey University Press.
- Longworth, N. (2003). *Lifelong learning in action: Transforming education in the 21st century*. London, England: Routledge.
- Lyn Meek, V. (1982). *The university of Papua New Guinea: A case study in the sociology of higher education* Brisbane, Australia, : Queensland University Press.
- MacDonald, C., & Stratta, E. (1998). Academic work, gender and subjectivity: Mature non-standard entrants in higher education. *Studies in the Education of Adults*, 30(1), 67-80.
- Macdonald, C., & Stratta, E. (2001). From access to widening participation: Responses to the changing population in higher education in the UK. *Journal of Further and Higher Education*, 25(2), 249-258. doi:10.1080/03098770120050909

- Mansell, R., & Tremblay, G. (2013). Renewing the knowledge societies vision for peace and sustainable development. Paris, France: UNESCO.
- Marginson, S. (1997). Markets in Education. St Leonards, : Allen & Unwin.
- Mathison, S. (1988). Why triangulate? *Educational Researcher*, *17*(2), 13-17. doi:10.2307/1174583
- Matthews, J. H., & Candy, P. C. (1999). *New dimensions in the dynamics of learning and knowledge* (Vol. 4). *Understanding learning at work* (pp. 47-64). Retrieved from https://books.google.co.nz/books?hl=en&lr=&id=YX6kP3l0ilUC&oi=fnd &pg=PA47&dq=New+dimensions+in+the+dynamics+of+learning+and+k nowledge&ots=dzG7tgYrAq&sig=B7uCtf\_GxgVkDMGCqVqQmhN7oV 0#v=onepage&q=New%20dimensions%20in%20the%20dynamics%20of %20learning%20and%20knowledge&f=false
- McGivney, V. (1992). Motivating unemployed adults to undertake education and training: Some British and other European findings. Leicester, England: NIACE.
- McInnis, C., Hartley, R., Polesel, J., & Teese, R. (2000). Non-completion in vocational education and training in higher education: A literature review commissioned by the Department of Education, Training and Youth Affairs. Canberra, Australia. Retrieved from http://www.voced.edu.au/content/ngv19805
- Megarrity, L. (2005). Indigenous education in colonial Papua New Guinea: Australian Government Policy 1945-1975. *History of Education Review* 34(2), 41-58.
- Menter, I., Elliot, D., Hulme, M., Lewin, J., & Lowden, K. (2011). *A guide to practitioner research in education* Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage
- Merriam, S. (1995). What can I tell from an n or 1? Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research *PAACE Journal of lifelong learning 4*, 51-60.
- Merriam, S. (1998). Ethics in adult education research. In R. Brokett (Ed.), *Ethical issues in adult education* (pp. 146-161). New York: Teachers College, Colombia University.
- Merriam, S., & Simpson, E. L. (1995). A guide to research for educators and trainers of adults. Malabar, FL: Kreiger.
- Miles, M. B., & Huberman, A.M. (1994). *Qualitative data analysis: An expanded source book* Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Mills, A., McLaughlin, P., & Carnegie, J. (2013). Hurdling the barriers: Enabling student pathways from VET to higher education in building and construction management. Adelaide, Australia: NCVER
- Murray, J. (2009). The wider social benefits of higher education: What do we know about them? *Australian Journal of Education*, *53*(3), 230-244. doi:10.1177/000494410905300303
- Mutch, C. (2013). *Doing educational research*. Wellington, New Zealand: NZCER Press.

- National Department of Education (NDOE). (2005). *TVET policy*. Waigaini, NCD, Papua New Guinea: TVET Division. Retrieved from http://planipolis.iiep.unesco.org/upload/Papua%20New%20Guinea/Papua\_New\_Guinea\_TVET\_policy.pdf
- National Polytechnic Institute of PNG (NPIPNG). (2012). *Project formulation document: Five-year infrastructure development project*. Morobe, Papua New Guinea: NPIPNG
- Neuman, W. L. (1994). Social research methods: Qualitative and quantitative approaches Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- New Zealand Ministry of Education. (2010). *How does New Zealand's education system compare? OECD's education at a glance*. Wellington, New Zealand: New Zealand Ministry of Education
- O'Mahony, B. G., & Sillitoe, J. F. (2001). Identifying the perceived barriers to participation in tertiary education among hospitality employees. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management, 13*(1), 21-29. doi:10.1108/09596110110365607
- O'Donoghue, T. (1994). Colonialism, education and social change in the British Empire: The case of Australia, Papua New Guinea and Ireland. *Paedeagogica Historica: International Journal of the History of Education*, 45(6), 301-315. doi:10.1080/003092330903335686
- O'Donoghue, T., & Austin, A. (1994). The evolution of a national system of teacher education in the developing world. *23*, *3*(313-342) doi:10.1080/0046760940230305
- OECD. (2010). Learning for jobs. Paris, France: OECD
- OECD. (2008). Tertiary education for the knowledge society. Paris, France: OECD
- OECD. (2007). *Qualifications systems: Bridges to lifelong learning* Paris, France: OECD Publishing
- OECD. (2001a). *Cities and regions in new learning economy*. Paris, France: OECD Publishing
- OECD. (2001b). Education at a glance. Paris, France: OECD Publishing
- OECD. (2001c). *Economics and finance of lifelong learning* Paris, France: OECD Publishing
- OECD. (1999). OECD science, technology and industry scoreboard:

  Benchmarking knowledge-based economies. Paris, France: OECD
  Publishing. Retrieved from http://www.oecdilibrary.org/docserver/download/9299071e.pdf?expires=1422825391&id=i
  d&accname=guest&checksum=995925A33559A35524AE5D6CD3573FD
  3
- OECD. (1998). *Redefining tertiary Education*. Paris, France: OECD Publishing. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264163102-en
- OECD. (1996a). Lifelong learning for all. Paris, France: OECD Publishing
- OECD. (1996b). The knowledge-based economy. Paris, France: OECD Publishing

- Osborne, M. (2003). Increasing or widening participation in higher education? A European overview. *European Journal of Education*, 38(1), 5-24. doi:10.1111/1467-3435.00125
- Osborne, M. (2005). Introduction. In J. Gallacher & M. Osborne (Eds.), *A* contested landscape: International perspectives on diversity in mass higher education. Leicester, England: NIACE.
- Osborne, M., & Houston, M. (2012). Universities and lifelong learning in the UK-adult as losers, but who are the winners? In M. Slowey & H. G. Schuetze (Eds.), *Global perspectives on higher education and lifelong learning* (pp. 112-132). New York, United States of America: Routledge.
- Parnham, J. (2001). Lifelong Learning: A model for increasing the participation of non-traditional adult. *Journal of Further and Higher Education*, 25(1), 57-65. doi:10.1080/03098770020030506
- Parry, G. (2005). Higher education in the learning and skills sector. In J. Gallacher & M. Osborne (Eds.), A contested landscape: International perspectives on diversity in mass higher education (pp. 63-91). Leicester, England: NIACE.
- Pascall, G., & Cox, R. (1993). Women Returning to Higher Education. Bristol, England: Open University Press.
- Pascarella, E. T. (2006). How college affects students: Ten directions for future research. *Journal of College Student Development*, 47(5), 508-520.
- Patton, M. Q. (1990). *Qualitative evaluation and research methods*. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Patton, M. Q. (1986). Utilization focussed evaluation London, England: Sage.
- Patton, M. Q. (1982). Practical evaluation. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Patton, M. Q. (1980). Qualitative evaluation methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Phillips, K. (2006). Giving credit where credit is due. A national study to improve outcomes in credit transfer and articulation from vocational and technical education to higher education. Victoria, Australia: Phillips KPA Retrieved from http://www.curriculum.edu.au/verve/\_resources/National\_Study\_final\_rep ort June 2006 FINAL.pdf.
- Prebble, T., Hargraves, H., Leach, L., Naidoo, K., Suddaby, G., & Zepke, N. (2004). Impact of student support services and academic development programmes on student outcomes in undergraduate tertiary study: A synthesis of the research. Wellington, New Zealand: Ministry of Education
- Preston, J., & Hammond, C. (2003). Practitioner views on the wider benefits of further education. *Journal of Further and Higher Education*, 27(2), 211-222. doi:10.1080/0309877032000065226
- Psacharopoulos, G. (2006). World Bank policy on education: A personal account.

  Retrieved from

  http://www.sciencedirect.com.ezproxy.waikato.ac.nz/science/article/pii/S0
  738059305001057

- Ramsden, P. (1983). Institutional variations in British students' approaches to learning and experiences of teaching. *Higher Education*, 12(6), 691-705. doi:10.2307/3446124
- Robson, C. (1993). Real world research. Oxford, England: Backwell Publishing.
- Roe, E. (1968). The development of tertiary education in the Territory of Papua New Guinea. *Australian Journal of Education*, 12(1), 1-65.
- Ross, A. (2012). Education for active citizenship: Practices, policies, promises. *International Journal of Progressive Education* 8(3), 1-152.
- Rowley, J. (2000). Is higher education ready for knowledge management? *International Journal of Educational Management*, 14(7), 325-333. doi:doi:10.1108/09513540010378978
- Rubenson, K., & Desjardins, R. (2009). The impact of welfare state regimes on barriers to participation in adult education: A bounded agency model. *Adult Education Quarterly*, *59*(3), 187-207. doi:10.1177/0741713609331548
- Rubin, B. C. (2003). Unpacking detracking: When progressive pedagogy meets students' social worlds. *American Educational Research Journal*, 40(2), 539-573. doi:10.3102/00028312040002539
- Salmi, J. (2001). Tertiary education in the 21st century: Challenges and opportunities. *Higher Education Management*, 13(2), 1-186. Retrieved from https://www1.oecd.org/edu/imhe/37446098.pdf#page=102
- Schostak, J. (2000). Developing under developing circumstances: The personal and social development of students and the process of schooling. Images of educational change (pp. 37-52). Retrieved from http://books.google.co.nz/books?hl=en&lr=&id=hU\_lAAAAQBAJ&oi=fn d&pg=PA37&dq=Schostak+%282000%29&ots=monf83dWzH&sig=PsM eGonJ4C60nq4ZmJTDS1HqRng#v=onepage&q=Schostak%20%282000%29&f=false
- Schuetze, H., & Slowey, M. (2002). Participation and exclusion: A comparative analysis of non-traditional students and lifelong learners in higher education. *Higher Education*, *44*(3-4), 309-327. doi:10.1023/A:1019898114335
- Schuetze, H. G., & Casey, C. (2006). Models and meanings of lifelong learning: Progress and barriers on the road to a learning society. *A Journal of Comparative and International Education*, *36*(3), 279-287. doi:10.1080/03057920600872365
- Scott, D. (2005). Retention, completion and progression in tertiary education in New Zealand. *Journal of Higher Education Policy and Management*, 27(1), 3-17. doi:10.1080/13600800500045687
- Senge, P. M. (1990). *The fifth discipline: The art and practice of the learning organization*. Fifth Avenue, NY: Doubleday Currency.
- Simons, M., & Smith, E. (2006). The Certificate IV in assessment and workplace training: Understanding learners and learning Adelaide, Australia NCVER

- Slowey, M., & Schuetze, H. G. (2012). Lifelong learners and higher education revisited. *Global perspectives on higher education and lifelong learners*. Third Avenue, NY: Routledge.
- Smyth, W. J. (1977). Education in Papua New Guinea: Which direction? *Journal of Commonwealth Council for Education Administration*, 10(1), 1-10.
- Solon, M. (1990). *Goals of Universities in Papua New Guinea*. University of Alberta, Alberta, Canada.
- Strathdee, R. (2003). The Qualifications Framework in New Zealand:
  Reproducing existing inequalities or disrupting the positional conflict for credentials. *Journal of Education and Work, 16*(2), 147-164. doi:10.1080/1363908032000070666
- Strathdee, R. (2012). The social composition of VET in New Zealand. Globalisation, Societies and Education, 10(1), 53-76. doi:10.1080/14767724.2012.646882
- Suri, H., & Beckett, D. (2012). Intensifying performance and learner centeredness in Australian higher education In M. Slowey & H. G. Schuetze (Eds.), *Global perspectives on higher education and lifelong learning* (pp. 195-229). Third Avenue, NY: Routledge.
- Tertiary Education Commission. (2012). *Statement of Intent 2012/13-2014/15*. Wellington, New Zealand: Tertiary Education Commission Retrieved from http://www.tec.govt.nz/Documents/Publications/Statement-of-Intent-2012.pdf.
- Thomas, L. (2002). Student retention in higher education: The role of institutional habitus. *Journal of Education Policy*, *17*(4), 423-442. doi:10.1080/02680930210140257
- Thomas, S. (2004). Reconfiguring the public sphere: Implications for analysis of educational policy. *British Journal of Educational Studies*, *52*(3), 228-248. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8527.2004.00265.x
- Thompson, P. (2003). Disconnected capitalism: Or why Employers can't keep their side of the bargain. *Work, Employment & Society, 17*(2), 359-378. doi:10.1177/0950017003017002007
- Tuijnman, A., & Boström, A.-K. (2002). Changing notions of lifelong education and lifelong learning. *International Review of Education*, 48(1-2), 93-110.
- Tuschling, A., & Engemann, C. (2006). From Education to Lifelong Learning: The emerging regime of learning in the European Union. *Educational Philosophy and Theory*, *38*(4), 451-469. doi:10.1111/j.1469-5812.2006.00204.x
- UNESCO. (2007). *Education counts: Benchmarking progress in 19 WEI countries*. Paris, France: UNESCO Institute of Statistics. Retrieved from http://www.uis.unesco.org/Library/Documents/wei2007.pdf
- UNESCO. (1998). World declaration on higher education for the twenty-first century: Vision and action. Paris, France: UNESCO

- UNESCO. (1996). *Learning: The treasure within*. Paris, France: UNESCO. Retrieved from http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0010/001095/109590eo.pdf
- van Esch, P., & van Esch, L. J. (2013). Justification of a qualitative methodology to investigate the emerging concept: The dimensions of religion as underpinning constructs for mass media social marketing campaigns. *Journal of Business Theory and Practice*, 1(2), 214-243.
- Volbrecth, T., & Walters, S. (2000). Re-imagining a picture: Higher education in lifelong learning *Adult Education and Development* 55, 271-291.
- Wagner, A. (1999). Tertiary education and lifelong learning: Perspectives, findings and issues from OECD work. Paris, France:
- Walker, J. (2009). The inclusion and construction of the worthy citizen through lifelong learning: A focus on the OECD. *Journal of Education Policy*, 24(3), 335-351. doi:10.1080/02680930802669276
- Walls, S., & Pardy, J. (2010). Crediting vocational education and training for learner mobility. Adelaide, Australia: NCVER
- Walters, S. (1999). Lifelong learning within higher education in South Africa: Emancipatory potential? *International Review of Education*, 45(5-6), 575-587.
- Walters, S., & Watters, K. (2001). Lifelong learning, higher education and active citizenship: From rhetoric to action. *International Journal of Lifelong Education*, 20(6), 471-478. doi:10.1080/02601370110088445
- Warren, D. (2002). Curriculum design in a context of widening participation in higher education. *Arts and Humanities in Higher Education*, *1*(1), 85-99. doi:10.1177/1474022202001001007
- Weelahan, L., & Moodie, G. (2005). Separate post-compulsory education sectors within a liberal market economy: Interesting models generated by Australian anomaly. In J. Gallacher & M. Osborne (Eds.), A contested landscape: International perspectives on diversity in mass higher education (pp. 18-46). Leicester, England: NIACE.
- Werquin, P. (2007). Moving mountains: Will qualifications systems promote lifelong learning? *European Journal of Education*, 42(4), 459-484. doi:10.1111/j.1465-3435.2007.00327.x
- Wheelahan, L. (2009). The problem with CBT (and why constructivism makes things worse). *Journal of Education and Work*, 22(3), 227-242. doi:10.1080/13639080902957913
- Wheelahan, L., Moodie, G., & Buchanan, J. (2012). *Revitalising the vocational in flows of learning and labour*. Adelaide, Australia: NCVER.
- Whitehead, C. (2005). The historiography of British Imperial education policy, Part II: Africa and the rest of the colonial empire. *History of Education*, 34(4), 441-454. doi:10.1080/00467600500138147
- Wood, J. (2012). The University as a Public Good: Active citizenship and university community engagement. *International Journal of Progressive Education*, 8(3), 15-31.

- World Bank. (2002, April 16). Constructing knowledge societies new challenges for tertiary education: Draft. Washington, DC: World Bank
- Wyn, J. (2007). Learning to become somebody well: Challenges for educational policy. *Australian Educational Researcher (Australian Association for Research in Education)*, 34(3), 35-52.
- Yin, R. K. (2003). Case Study Research: Design and Methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Young, M. (2007). Qualifications frameworks: Some conceptual issues. *European Journal of Education*, 42(4), 445-457. doi:10.1111/j.1465-3435.2007.00323.x
- Young, M. (2003). National qualifications frameworks as a global phenomenon: A comparative perspective. *Journal of Education and Work, 16*(3), 223-237. doi:10.1080/1363908032000099412
- Zepke, N. (2013). Lifelong education for subjective well-being: How do engagement and active citizenship contribute? *International Journal of Lifelong Education*, 32(5), 639-651. doi:10.1080/02601370.2012.753125
- Zepke, N., & Leach, L. (2007). Educational quality, institutional accountability and the retention discourse. *Quality in Higher Education*, 13(3), 237-248. doi:10.1080/13538320701800142

# **Appendix 1:** Interview Guide



### **FACULTY OF EDUCATION**

# **INTERVIEW GUIDE**

# RESEARCH PROJECT

# To what extent is National Polytechnic Institute of PNG (NPIPNG) able to achieve a lifelong learning culture?

Participants	Identification
code:	
Initials of the I	nterviewee:
Date of Intervi	ew:
Location:	

Semi-structured interviews will be used as a tool to collect data. Listed here is an indicative sample of interview questions that are likely to be employed to answer the research question.

# Questions

1. From your perspective, what are some of the main features of tertiary education in PNG?

- 2. From what you have mentioned so far, are there any supportive policy or practice documents that would be useful to me?
- 3. I want to gain an idea on lifelong learning, what is your perspective on that?
- 4. To what extent do you think lifelong learning is promoted in NPIPNG?
- 5. To what extent do you think lifelong learning is influenced by economic factors in PNG?
- 6. Social inclusion is an important feature of a learning society. Based on your understanding how do you think social inclusion is played out in NPIPNG in terms of, (i) curriculum, (ii) professional development, (iii) teaching and learning, (iv) policy or, (v) community engagement?
- 7. In your view, how is active citizenship promoted within NPIPNG?
- 8. In your opinion, what features of NPIPNG promote community engagement?
- 9. From your perspective, how do economic factors influence curriculum development in the polytechnics?
- 10. In your view, how is personal development in the learning undertaken by students at NPIPNG?
- 11. What features of active citizenship are promoted within the curriculum at NPIPNG?

# **Appendix 2:** Information Sheet



#### **FACULTY OF EDUCATION**

### PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET

# **Research Project**

### 1. Study title

Investigating Polytechnic education development within a lifelong learning culture in Papua New Guinea

### 2. Invitation paragraph

You are invited to participate in a research study that aims to make a substantial contribution to current debates and understanding of the importance of polytechnics education and lifelong learning in a PNG context. This research project is conducted by me as part of meeting an academic requirement in completing Master's study at the University of Waikato, New Zealand. Please take time to read the following information carefully. Ask questions if anything is not clear or would like more information.

# 3. What is the purpose of the study?

The main objective of the proposed study is to understand the role of polytechnic education within a lifelong learning framework. In doing so, it seeks to:

c) Understand post-compulsory education in PNG by locating polytechnics education within the overall PNG educational framework.

- d) Investigate the extent to which NPIPNG is able to promote lifelong learning.
- e) Examine the institution's mission/vision statements to identify any elements of lifelong learning in its practices.
- f) Examine reforms and understand whether any of these have enhanced lifelong learning.

# 4. Why have I been invited?

The Ministry of Education has been chosen as a site to recruit participants because the research project concerns directions of tertiary education. Around twelve participants are expected to participate and include senior management staff of National Polytechnic Institute of PNG. You are invited to participate because I believe you can make an important contribution to the research. Your participation is voluntary. You can decide to withdraw from the study at any time. If you decide to take part, you will be asked to sign a consent form. When your consent form has been signed and returned, you will be contacted to discuss your participation in the study.

### 5. What does this study involve?

You will be invited to undertake a one on one interview with me. This may usually take up to 50-60 minutes. The interview will be digitally recorded and notes may be taken. The transcript of the interview will be returned to you for confirmation of accuracy. In addition, you may have to supply any electronic or printed documents that may assist me to understand polytechnic education in PNG.

### 6. What are the possible risks of participation?

Whilst you may be asked to answer questions on polytechnic developments or related matters, all information you provide will be kept confidential at all times. All responses to questions during the interview and any other information provided by you will be anonymised (i.e. no personal details relating to you or where you work will be recorded anywhere). However there is a small risk that you may be identified by your role, despite precautions.

7. What are the benefits of participation?

The completion and publication of the results of the study will contribute to the

collective benefit of tertiary education in PNG. At a personal level, it is

intended that you may have a chance to reflect on aspects of lifelong learning

in this country.

8. Will my participation be kept confidential?

All information you provide will be kept confidential and can only be accessed

by the researcher. All data collection, storage and processing will be the sole

responsibility of the researcher. Under no circumstances will identifiable

responses be provided to any third party. Information generated will only be

made public in a manner that is not attributed to you in anyway or at an

aggregate level in order to optimise that no participant will be identified.

9. What will happen to the results of the research project?

All information that you provide will be anonymously stored on a computer

and additional copies securely stored in a safe place. Analysis of the

information will be carried out by the researcher at the University of Waikato,

New Zealand. The results from this analysis will be made available through the

Waikato University Library, once the written thesis has been completed.

Participants can obtain a copy through this link and can also get direct

feedback by contacting the researcher.

10. What if I require further information?

If you require further information, you can contact me as follows:

Email address: rt149@students.waikato.ac.nz

Phone number (New Zealand): +64 223586873

Phone number (PNG): 722 58929

11. What if I have a complaint or concerns?

This research project has been approved by the Faculty of Education Ethics

Committee of the University of Waikato, New Zealand. If you have concerns

142

or complaints about the conduct of this study please contact either Professor Brian Findsen on <a href="mailto:bfindsen@waikato.ac.nz">bfindsen@waikato.ac.nz</a> or Mrs. Dorothy Spiller on <a href="mailto:dorothy@waikato.ac.nz">dorothy@waikato.ac.nz</a>

Thank you for taking the time to consider this study. If you wish to take part in it, please sign the attached consent form.

# Appendix 3: List of participants

Pseudonyms	Discipline of practice	Position
Kevin	Administrative staff	Senior administrator
Martin	Administrative staff	Administrator
Greg	Trades	Senior lecturer
Hellen	Science	Head of department
Steven	Trades	Head of department
Rex	Engineering	Head of department
Frank	Science	Senior lecturer
Mona	Arts	Senior lecturer
Tony	Engineering	Section head
Sarah	Arts	Section head
Susie	Trades	Senior lecturer
Tracy	Arts	Senior lecturer

# Appendix 4: Ethics Approval

Dean's Office
Faculty of Education
Te Kura Toi Tangata
The University of Waikato
Private Bag 3105
Hamilton, New Zealand

Phone +64 7 838 4500 www.waikato.ac.nz



#### **MEMORANDUM**

To:

Raymond Toli

cc:

Professor Brian Findsen

From:

Associate Professor Garry Falloon

Chairperson, Research Ethics Committee

Date:

14 March 2014

Subject:

Supervised Postgraduate Research – Application for Ethical Approval (EDU015/14)

Thank you for submitting the amendments to your application for ethical approval for the research project:

Investigating Polytechnic education developments within a lifelong learning culture in Papua New Guinea

I am pleased to advise that your application has received ethical approval.

Please note that researchers are asked to consult with the Faculty's Research Ethics Committee in the first instance if any changes to the approved research design are proposed.

The Committee wishes you all the best with your research.

Associate Professor Garry Falloon

Chairperson

Research Ethics Committee

Gany Falloon

# Appendix 5: Consent Form



#### FACULTY OF EDUCATION

# **CONSENT FORM**

# Investigating Polytechnic education developments within a lifelong learning culture in

# Papua New Guinea

I have read the attached Participant Information Sheet. I understand that:

- **1.** Participation in the research project is voluntary.
- **2.** I have the right to withdraw from the study at any time but data collected after commencement of data analysis may be used by the researcher.
- **3.** I may provide archival data as supporting document for the interview based on the endorsement to conduct the research project.
- **4.** I have had the opportunity to ask questions and they have been answered to my satisfaction.
- **5.** All data will be reported anonymously using pseudonyms and confidentiality will be maintained.
- **6.** All data will be securely stored in a locked office for up to five years.
- 7. Data gathered from this study will be used in the writing of a thesis.
- **8.** Presentations and or academic articles may be published as a result of this research.

Name of Participant:	
Signature of Participant:	
Date:	